N0N-CONFIDENTIAL

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
27 May 2022
Dear Councillor

A meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee will be held in Town Hall, Market
Street, Tamworth on Wednesday, 8th June, 2022 at 6.00 pm. Members of the
Committee are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
AGENDA
NON CONFIDENTIAL
1

Apologies for Absence

2

Appointment of Vice-Chair

3

Membership of Audit & Governance Sub-committee

4

Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

5

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and nonpecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting.
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of
such interest. Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.

6

Role of the Audit Committee
To receive a presentation from the external auditors on the role of the Audit
Committee.

7

Audit Plan (Pages 11 - 32)
(Report of the External Auditors)

8

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (Pages 33 - 84)
(Report of the Assistant Director Partnerships)

9

Annual Governance Statement and Code of Corporate Governance (Pages
85 - 166)
(Report of the Chief Executive)

10

Review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum
Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Statement
2022/23 and the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual
Investment Strategy Mid-Year Review Report 2021/22 (Pages 167 - 248)
(Report of the Executive Director, Finance)

11

Risk Management Quarterly Update (Pages 249 - 266)
(Report of the Assistant Director, Finance)

12

Update on the new updated LGA Model Code of Conduct (Pages 267 - 270)
(Report of the Monitoring Officer)

13

Internal Audit Annual Report and Quarterly Update (Pages 271 - 296)
(Report of the Audit Manager)

14

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards/Quality Assurance and Improvement
Programme (Pages 297 - 310)
(Report of the Audit Manager)

15

Update on appointment of Independent Member to the Audit & Governance
Committee
(Verbal update from the Audit Manager)

16

Audit and Governance Committee Timetable (Pages 311 - 316)
(Discussion Item)

17

Exclusion of the Press and Public
To consider excluding the Press and Public from the meeting by passing the
following resolution:“That in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012,
and Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following business on
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information to the public”
At the time this agenda is published no representations have been received that
this part of the meeting should be open to the public.

18

Minutes of the Audit & Governance Sub-Committee meeting (Pages 317 318)
(To receive the minutes of any sub-committee meeting and where relevant
consider any recommendations contained therein)

_____________________________________
Access arrangements
If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for.
Filming of Meetings
The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast. Please refer to the Council’s
Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can
be found here for further information.
If a member of the public is particularly concerned about being filmed, please contact a member
of Democratic Services before selecting a seat
FAQs

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page
here

To Councillors: P Turner, R Ford, D Cook, A Cooper, S Daniels, J Jones and P Thurgood

Agenda Item 4

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
HELD ON 22nd MARCH 2022
PRESENT:

54

Councillor T Clements (Chair), Councillors R Ford (Vice-Chair),
M Cook, M J Greatorex, Dr S Peaple and P Thurgood

Officers

Lynne Pugh (Assistant Director Finance), Andrew Wood
(Audit Manager) and Jo Hutchison (Democratic
Services, Scrutiny and Elections Officer)

Visitors

Laurelin Griffiths (Grant Thornton) and Mark Stocks
(Grant Thornton)

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the meeting held on 10th February 2022 were approved and
signed as a correct record.
(Moved by Councillor Dr S Peaple and seconded by Councillor P Thurgood)

55

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Andrew Cooper.
The Chair welcomed Councillor M Cook as a new member of the Committee.

56

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of Interest.

57

AUDITORS' ANNUAL REPORT
Mr Mark Stocks from Grant Thornton, the Council’s external auditors, summarised
the report.
The Committee sought clarification and commented on the following areas:
1. What work was underway to address those service plans which had not
been fully maintained and kept up to date, and whether there was any
correlation between those service areas where plans were not up to date
1

Page 5

Audit and Governance
Committee

22 March 2022

and either areas where internal audit recommendations remained
outstanding or where there were areas high spend in the local authority
compared to other similar authorities. It was reported that there was a
process underway to review service plans and, whilst there was not a
correlation with outstanding internal audit recommendations, there was
some correlation between some areas of high spend and areas without up
to date service plans.
2. How the Council’s procurement processes differed from other councils’,
where it was reported that the council had significant capital projects
underway and needed to ensure that the monitoring of contracts / suppliers
was adequate.

RESOLVED

That the Committee:
Endorsed the report with the comments made.

(Moved by Councillor Michelle Cook and seconded by Councillor Dr S
Peaple)
58

INFORMING THE AUDIT RISK ASSESSMENT
Ms Laurelin Griffiths of Grant Thornton presented the report.

RESOLVED

That the Committee:
Endorsed the report of the External Auditors informing
the Risk assessment for 2021/22 for the Council

(Moved by Councillor Moira Greatorex and seconded by Councillor Michelle
Cook)
59

FINAL ACCOUNTS PLAN 2021/22 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACTION
PLAN
The report of the Executive Director, Finance, presented by the Assistant
Director, Finance advised Members of the proposed Accounting Policies for
2021/22, and provided an outline of the corporate requirements that will need to
be achieved in order to produce the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts for
2021/22.

RESOLVED

That:
1. the proposed Accounting Policies for 2021/22,
attached as Appendix A be approved;

2

Page 6

Audit and Governance
Committee

22 March 2022

2. the target of 30th June 2022 for closure of the final
accounts and production of the statement for 2021/22
be approved;
3. staffing resources be committed to the provision of
appropriate information and support in order to meet
the published timescales and the Committee receive
progress updates (if required);
4. CMT receive a fortnightly update until completion of
the audit; and
5. the Statement be presented to the Audit &
Governance Committee before the end of September
2022.
(Moved by Councillor Richard Ford and seconded by Councillor Dr Simon
Peaple)
60

RESET & RECOVERY UPDATE
The Assistant Director, Finance provided an update to the Committee on the
Recovery & Reset programme and in particular the risk management and quality
assurance processes in place.
In the absence of the Recovery & Reset Programme Director, it was agreed that a
more detailed written update would be circulated to members, particularly in terms
of the budget impacts and the importance of ensuring that the savings envisaged
by the project would be delivered in years 2 and 3.

61

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2022/2023
The Audit Manager presented the Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022/2023.
RESOLVED

That:

1.

Members commented on and endorsed the 2022/23
proposed internal audit plan (Appendix 1) and charter
(Appendix 2) and

2.

A review be undertaken and reported back to the
Committee on the number of days allocated to
monitoring capital programmes.

(Moved by Councillor Dr Simon Peaple and seconded by Councillor Peter
Thurgood)
Councillor T Clements left the meeting at 7.12pm and the Vice-Chair,
Councillor R Ford chaired the remainder of the meeting.

3

Page 7

Audit and Governance
Committee

62

22 March 2022

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT MEMBER TO AUDIT & GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE - NEXT STEPS
The Audit Manager provided an update to the Committee in relation to the
potential appointment of an Independent Member(s) to Committee.
The Committee commented on and sought clarifications in the following areas:
1. A request had been made to consider whether it was possible to reduce
the period within which a candidate had been a Councillor or Officer from 5
years. The Monitoring Officer had advised on this and it was considered
most appropriate to remain at 5 years. It was agreed that the Monitoring
Officer’s advice would be shared with the Committee.
2. Whether there could be a requirement on any applicants to disclose any
relationships / affiliations with members / officers / groups and the nature of
that relationship which would enable an informed decision to be taken of
any recruitment, as opposed to any affiliation or relationship being an
automatic bar to being an applicant.
3. Whether it would be appropriate for councillors (members of the Audit &
Governance Committee) to be members of any interview panel or not.
4. The duration of the position, and whether a longer term that 3 years were
possible.
RESOLVED

That the Committee:
Considered and, subject to confirmation of the matters
commented on in the meeting, the Committee ratified
the approach to be taken in respect of appointing an
Independent Member to the Committee.

(Moved by Councillor Richard Ford and seconded by Councillor Dr Simon
Peaple)
Councillor Michelle Cook left the meeting at 7.52pm.
63

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2021/22
The report of the Audit Manager presented the proposed Annual Report of the
Audit & Governance Committee 2021/22.

RESOLVED

That the Committee:
the proposed Annual Report of the Audit Committee
2021/22 be endorsed and presented to Council.

(Moved by Councillor Richard Ford and seconded by Councillor Moira
Greatorex)

4

Page 8

Audit and Governance
Committee

22 March 2022

The Committee thanked the Audit Manager for his work during the year.
64

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TIMETABLE
The Committee reviewed the Timetable, and agreed to include an additional item
to provide an Independent Member update be added to the Timetable for the
June meeting, and agreed to explore whether the item on the Timetable for June
regarding an updated Code of Conduct could be deferred to a later meeting.

65

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED: That Members of the press and public be excluded from the
meeting during consideration of the following item on the
grounds that the business involves the likely disclosure of
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.
(Moved by Councillor Richard Ford and seconded by
Councillor Peter Thurgood)

66

UPDATE FROM THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE SUB-COMMITTEE MEETING
The Committee was updated by Councillors Ford and Peaple, who were both
members of the Audit & Governance sub-committee, on the discussions at its
meeting on 27th January 2022, and the recommendations it had made to this
Committee.
It was agreed that Councillor T Clements should become a member of the subcommittee as Councillor M Summers was no longer a member.
Following consideration of the recommendations which the Sub-Committee had
made to this Committee, and the further update from members of the SubCommittee following a visit to key sites associated with the project, the
Committee:
RESOLVED: That it recommend to Cabinet that:
1.

no decision to bridge the gap in college funding be taken
without being considered at full Council

2.

Cabinet to ensure adequate support for strategic
management of the project at all stages was available; and

3.

Over reliance on individual staff was a risk that needed to be
managed going forward and recorded in the risk register.

The Committee thanked the Assistant Director, Finance for her support to the
Committee and wished her the best for the future.
5

Page 9

Audit and Governance
Committee

22 March 2022

Chair

6

Page 10

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

Public

Page 12

Public

Page 13

Public




Page 14

Public

•

•

•

Page 15

•

Public

•
•

Page 16

Public

•
•
•

Page 17

•
•
•

•
•

•
•

Public

•
•
•
•

Page 18

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Public

•

•
•
•
•
•

Page 19

•

Public

•

Page 20

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

•

Public

•
•

Page 21

•
•
•
•
•

•

•

Public

Page 22
•
•

•
•
•
•

Public

•

•

Page 23
•
•

•
–

–
–
–
•

•

Public

Page 24

Public

Page 25

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

15

Public

Page 26

Public

Page 27

Laurelin’s role will be lead to our relationship with you and
be a key contact for the s151 Officer and the Audit and
Governance Committee. Laurelin will take overall
responsibility for the delivery of a high quality audit, meeting
the highest professional standards and adding value to the
Authority as well as ensuring that Grant Thornton’s full
service offering is at your disposal.

William’s role will be to manage the delivery of a high quality
audit, meeting the highest professional standards and
adding value to the Authority.

•

•
Aaron’s role will be the day to day contact for the Authority’s
finance staff, will take responsibility for ensuring there is
effective communication and understanding by finance of
audit arrangements. Aaron will focus on the on the technical
matters raised by you throughout the audit.

•

•
•

17

Public

.

•

Page 28

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised
2019)

Public

Page 29
•

•
•

Public

Function

Benefits for you

Page 30

Data extraction

Providing us with your financial
information is made easier

File sharing

An easy-to-use, ISO 27001 certified,
purpose-built file sharing tool

Project
management

Effective management and oversight of
requests and responsibilities

Data analytics

Enhanced assurance from access to
complete data populations

20

Public

•

•
•

•

•

•
•

•

Page 31
21

Page 32

Agenda Item 8
AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
8 JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR PARTNERSHIPS
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000

Purpose
The Council’s Code of Practice for carrying out surveillance under the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) specifies that annual reports will be taken to
Audit & Governance Committee to demonstrate to elected members that the Council
is complying with its own Code of Practice when using RIPA.
Recommendation
That Audit and Governance Committee endorse the RIPA monitoring report for
2021/22.
Executive Summary
The Council has a number of statutory functions that involve officers investigating the
conduct of others with a view to bringing legal action against them. The Council has
also been given powers under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
(RIPA) which enable it to carry out Directed Surveillance in certain strict
circumstances. RIPA provides a legal framework for the control and regulation of
surveillance and information gathering techniques which public bodies such as
Tamworth Borough Council have to comply with. These powers have been amended
and changed in accordance with various pieces of legislation.
Following the review of the constitution in 2020, any policy updates are now
approved by the Audit and Governance Committee where identified.
The annual review by the Senior Responsible Officer, the Assistant Director
Partnerships, has not identified any material changes at this time. The policy is
attached at Appendix 1.
At the Audit and Governance Committee on 23 July 2020 it was further agreed that,
in accordance with guidance, annual reports on the use of RIPA powers be
submitted to Audit & Governance Committee for verbal update unless applications
have been made during any Council year requiring separate report.
No Directed Surveillance has been carried out by the Council during 2021/22
and there have been no authorisations for the use of Covert Human
Intelligence Sources.
It is not envisaged that there will be any appreciable change in the foreseeable
future.
By adhering to Policy the Council ensure that the acquisition and disclosure of data
is lawful, necessary and proportionate so that the Council will not be held to be in

Page 33

breach of Article 8 (the right to respect for private family life, home and
correspondence ) of the European Convention on Human Rights.

Options Considered
Obligations arsing under RIPA for the authority are statutory therefore there the only
option is compliance.
Resource Implications
Support for the RIPA obligations and functions are met from existing budget and
existing staff resources.
Legal/Statutory and Risk Implications
The recording of applications, authorisations, renewals and cancellations of
investigations using covert surveillance techniques or involving the acquisition of
communications data is covered by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.
The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act was introduced to regulate existing
surveillance and investigation in order to meet the requirements of Article 8 of the
Human Rights Act. Article 8 states: Everyone had the right for his private and family
life, home and correspondence. There shall be no interference by a public authority
with the exercise of this right except such as in accordance with the law and is
necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, public safety
or the economic well-being of the Country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for
the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of
others.
RIPA investigations can only be authorised by a local authority where it is
investigating criminal offences which
(1) attract a maximum custodial sentence of six months or more or
(2) relate to the sale of alcohol or tobacco products to children.
There are no risk management or Health and Safety implications.

Sustainability Implications
The legislation requires the Authority to record and monitor all RIPA applications,
keep the records up to date and report quarterly to a relevant Committee.
Background Information
The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 now requires that local authority authorisations
under RIPA for Directed Surveillance or CHIS can only become effective on the
granting of an order approving the authorisation by a Justice of the Peace. Further a
local authority can now only have an authorisation under RIPA for the use of

Page 34

Directed Surveillance where the local authority is investigating criminal offences
which attract a maximum custodial sentence of six months or more or criminal
offences relating to the underage sale of alcohol or tobacco under the Licensing Act
2003 of the Children and Families Act 2014.
The RIPA Code of Practice produced by the Home Office in April 2010 and updated
in January 2016 and again in August 2018 introduced the requirement to produce at
a minimum annual reports to elected members to demonstrate that the Council is
using its RIPA powers appropriately and complying with its own Code of Practice
when carrying out covert surveillance. This requirement relates to the use of directed
surveillance and covert human intelligence sources (CHIS).
Background papers
None

If Members would like further information or clarification prior to the meetingplease contact Jo Sands, Assistant
Director - Partnerships on Ext.585

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)
POLICY STATEMENT, STRATEGY & GUIDANCE NOTES

Document Status: Final

Originator: J M Hackett
Updated: J Sands
Owner: Assistant Director Partnerships
Version: 01.01.14
Date: 01/05/2022

Approved by Audit & Governance Committee

1

Page 37

Document Location
This document is held by Tamworth Borough Council, and the document owner is
Joanne Sands, Assistant Director Partnerships.
Printed documents may be obsolete. An electronic copy will be available on Tamworth
Borough Councils Intranet. Please check for current version before using.

Revision History
Revision Date
December 2008
September 2010
September 2011
December 2012
November 2014
April 2015
February 2016
January 2017
October 2017
October 2018

Version Control
1.01.01
1.01.02
1.01.03
1.01.04
1.01.05
1.01.06
1.01.07
1.01.08
1.01.09
1.01.10
1.01.11

April 2020

1.01.12

June 2021
June 2022

1.01.13
1.01.14

Summary of changes
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review
OSC recommendation
Scheduled review,
ownership and juvenile
CHIS authorisation
period
Scheduled review and
addition of Social Media
policy
Update of Section L –
Acquisition of
Communications Data
Audit Committee review
Scheduled review
Scheduled review

Approvals
Name
Audit & Governance
Committee
CMT

Title
Committee Approval
Group Approval

2

Page 38

Approved
Yes
Yes

Document Review Plans
This document is subject to a scheduled annual review by Audit and Governance
Committee. Updates shall be made in accordance with business requirements and
changes and will be with agreement with the document owner.

Distribution
The document will be available on the Intranet and the website.

3

Page 39

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL

POLICY & PROCEDURE

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY
POWERS ACT 2000
(RIPA)

Joanne Sands
Assistant Director Partnerships
Tamworth Borough Council

4

Page 40

Table of Contents
Section A Introduction ............................................................................................................... 1
Section B .................................................................................................................................... 3
Section C .................................................................................................................................... 5
Section D .................................................................................................................................... 6
Section E .................................................................................................................................... 7
Section F ................................................................................................................................... 10
Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) ................................................................... 10
Conduct and Use of a Source .......................................................................................... 10
Management of Sources .................................................................................................... 11
Tasking ................................................................................................................................... 11
Management Responsibility ............................................................................................. 12
Security and Welfare .......................................................................................................... 12
Record Management for CHIS ......................................................................................... 12
Section G .................................................................................................................................. 15
Section H .................................................................................................................................. 16
Section I.................................................................................................................................... 18
APPLICATION PROCESS .................................................................................................. 19
Application, Review, Renewal and Cancellation Forms ........................................... 22
Applications .......................................................................................................................... 22
Duration of Applications ................................................................................................... 22
Reviews .................................................................................................................................. 22
Renewal.................................................................................................................................. 23
Cancellation .......................................................................................................................... 24
Section J ................................................................................................................................... 27
Section K .................................................................................................................................. 29
Section L .................................................................................................................................. 31
CONCLUSION ........................................................................................................................ 31
APPENDIX 1 ........................................................................................................................... 32
APPENDIX 2 ........................................................................................................................... 33
Annex A

Local Authority Procedure ................................................................................. 35

Annex B

JP Procedure ....................................................................................................... 36

Annex C

Application for Judicial Approval and Order Form .......................................... 37

APPENDIX 3 ........................................................................................................................... 40

0

Page 41

Section A Introduction
1.

OBJECTIVE: SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES; SAFER AND STRONGER
COMMUNITIES
Tamworth Borough Council is committed to improving the quality of life for the
communities of Tamworth which includes benefiting from an attractive place to
live, meeting the needs of local people and employers with opportunities for all to
engage in community life. It also wishes to maintain its position as a low crime
borough and a safe place to live, work and learn. Although most of the community
comply with the law, it is necessary for Tamworth to carry out enforcement
functions to take full action against those who flout the law. Tamworth Borough
Council will carry out enforcement action in a fair, practical and consistent manner
to help promote a thriving local economy.

2.

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 – ARTICLE 8 – RIGHT TO RESPECT FOR
PRIVATE & FAMILY LIFE, HOME AND CORRESPONDENCE
The Human Rights Act 1998 brought into UK domestic law much of the European
Convention on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 1950. Article 8 of the
European Convention requires the Council to respect the private and family life
of its citizens, their homes and their correspondence. Article 8 does, however,
recognise that there may be circumstances in a democratic society where it is
necessary for the state to interfere with this right.

3.

USE OF COVERT SURVEILLANCE
INTELLIGENCE SOURCES

TECHNIQUES

AND

HUMAN

The Council has various functions which involve observing or investigating the
conduct of others, for example, investigating anti-social behaviour, fly tipping,
noise nuisance control, planning (contraventions),fraud, licensing and food safety
legislation. In most cases, Council officers carry out these functions openly and
in a way which does not interfere with a person’s right to a private life. However,
there are cases where it is necessary for officers to use covert surveillance
techniques to undertake a specific investigation. The use of covert surveillance
techniques is regulated by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
(RIPA), which seeks to ensure that the public interest and human rights of
individuals are appropriately balanced. This document sets out the Council’s
policy and procedures on the use of covert surveillance techniques and the
conduct and use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source. You should also refer to
the two Codes of Practice published by the Government. These Codes are on the
Home Office website and supplement the procedures in this document. The
Codes are admissible as evidence in Criminal and Civil Proceedings. If a
provision of these Codes appear relevant to any court or tribunal, it must be taken
into account.

1

Page 42

The Codes of Practice for both Covert Surveillance and Covert Human
Intelligence Sources can be obtained by following the link below:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-coverthuman-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice

There are also two other guidance documents relating the procedural changes
regarding the authorisation process requiring Justice of the Peace approval from
the 1st November 2012. These have been issued by the Home Office to both
Local Authorities and Magistrates.
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/localauthority-ripa-guidance/
4.

ACQUISITION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA
With effect from 27 May 2019 the acquisition of communications data held by
telecommunications companies and internet service providers is regulated by the
Investigatory Powers Act 2016 for national security services.
Advice is contained with the Bulk Communications Data Code of Practice (COP)
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/715477/Bulk_Communications_Data_Code_of_Practice.pdf

Local Authorities can still obtain limited comms data, via the National Anti Fraud
Network (NAFN), as set out in the Code of Practice below which will be followed
if the Council ever consider such use.
acquisition and disclosure
(publishing.service.gov.uk)

of

communications

2

Page 43

data

code

of

practice

Section B
EFFECTIVE DATE
RESPONSIBILITIES

OF

OPERATION

AND

AUTHORISING

OFFICER

1. The Policy and Procedures in this document have been amended to reflect the
latest Codes of Practice which are in force and the legislative amendments which
require Justice of the Peace (JP) approval for all Local Authority RIPA applications
and renewals, which came in effect on 1 November 2012, changes in website
addresses and application forms, as well as to reflect recommendations arising out
of inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Offices, (the last
inspection was carried out in July 2017) and their guidance documents. It is
essential, therefore, that Authorising Officers, take personal responsibility for the
effective and efficient observance of this document and the Investigatory Powers
Commissioner’s Office (IPCO ) guidance documents. (The IPCO replaced the OSC
on 1 September 2017)
2.

It will be the responsibility of Authorising Officers to ensure that their relevant
members of staff are suitably trained as ‘Applicants’.

3.

Authorising Officers will also ensure that staff who report to them follow this Policy
and Procedures Document and do not undertake or carry out surveillance activity
that meets the criteria as set out by RIPA without first obtaining the relevant
authorisations in compliance with this document.

4.

Authorising Officers must also pay particular attention to health and safety issues
that may be raised by any proposed surveillance activity. Under no
circumstances, should an Authorising Officer approve any RIPA form unless, and
until they are satisfied that
• the health and safety of Council employees/agents are suitably addressed
• risks minimised so far as is possible, and
• risks are proportionate to the surveillance being proposed.
If an Authorising Officer is in any doubt, prior guidance should be obtained from
the Assistant Director Partnerships.

5.

Authorising Officers must also ensure that, when sending copies of any Forms to
the Assistant Director Partnerships (or any other relevant authority), that they are
sent in sealed envelopes and marked ‘Strictly Private & Confidential’.

6.

In Accordance with the Codes of Practice, the Senior Responsible Officer
(SRO) who is the Assistant Director Partnerships is responsible for
•
•
•
•

the integrity of the process in place within the public authority to authorise
directed and intrusive surveillance
compliance with Part II of the 2000 Act, and with this code;
engagement with the Commissioner and inspectors when they conduct
their inspections, and
where necessary, overseeing the implementation of any post inspection
action plans recommended or approved by a Commissioner.
3

Page 44

The Assistant Director Partnerships is also the RIPA Co-ordinator. The key
responsibilities of the RIPA Co-ordinator are set out in Section G of this
document.
7.

The Chief Executive in consultation with Corporate Management Team has
power to appoint Authorising Officers for the purposes of RIPA. Authorising
Officers will only be appointed on the Chief Operating Officer being satisfied that
suitable training on RIPA has been undertaken.

8.

The Assistant Director Partnerships will review the policy annually any updates
and performance issues will be presented to the Audit and Governance
Committee.

9.

Annual reports on the use of RIPA will be considered by the Audit and
Governance Committee.

4

Page 45

Section C
GENERAL INFORMATION ON RIPA
1.

The Human Rights Act 1998 requires the Council, and organisations working on
its behalf, pursuant to Article 8 of the European Convention, to respect the private
and family life of citizens, their homes and their correspondence.

2.

The European Convention did not, however, make this an absolute right, but a
qualified right. Accordingly, in certain circumstances, the Council may interfere in
the citizen’s right mentioned above, if such interference is:(a) in accordance with the Law;
(b) necessary in the circumstances of the particular case; and
(c) proportionate to what it seeks to achieve.

3.

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (‘RIPA’) provides a statutory
mechanism (ie. ‘in accordance with the law’) for authorising covert surveillance
and the use of a ‘covert human intelligence source’ (‘CHIS’) – eg. undercover
agents. It seeks to ensure that any interference with an individual’s right under
Article 8 of the European Convention is necessary and proportionate. In doing so,
RIPA and this Policy and Procedure document seeks to ensure both the public
interest and the human rights of individuals are suitably balanced.

4.

Directly employed Council staff and external agencies working for the Council are
covered by the Act for the time they are working for the Council. All external
agencies must, therefore, comply with RIPA and the work carried out by agencies
on the Council’s behalf, must be properly authorised by one of the Council’s
designated Authorising Officers. They may also be inspected by the IPCO in
respect of that particular operation. This should be pointed out during the
instruction and contract stage. It is also important that the Authorising Officer is
aware of the abilities of the operatives to ensure they are capable of undertaking
the surveillance. Please refer to Section H and to the paragraph on “Authorising
Officers.”

5.

If the correct procedures are not followed, evidence may be disallowed by the
courts, a complaint of maladministration could be made to the Ombudsman
and/or the Council could be ordered to pay compensation.

5

Page 46

Section D
WHAT RIPA DOES AND DOES NOT DO
1.

RIPA:
• requires prior authorisation of directed surveillance.
• prohibits the Council from carrying out intrusive surveillance.
• requires authorisation of the conduct and use of a CHIS.
• requires safeguards for the conduct and use of a CHIS.

2.

RIPA does not:
• make lawful conduct which is otherwise unlawful.
• prejudice or affect any existing powers available to the Council to obtain
information by any means not involving conduct that may be authorised
under this Act. For example, the Council’s current powers to obtain
information from the DVLA or from the Land Registry as to the ownership
of a property.

3.

If the Authorising Officer or any Applicant is in any doubt, s/he should ask the
Assistant Director Partnerships BEFORE any directed surveillance and/or CHIS
is authorised, renewed, cancelled or rejected.

6

Page 47

Section E
TYPES OF SURVEILLANCE
‘Surveillance’ includes:
•

monitoring, observing and listening to persons, watching or following their
movements, listening to their conversations and other such activities or
communications. It may be conducted with or without the assistance of a
surveillance device.

•

recording anything mentioned above in the course of authorised surveillance.

Surveillance can be overt or covert.
Overt Surveillance
Most of the surveillance carried out by the Council will be done overtly – there will be
nothing secretive, clandestine or hidden about it. They will be going about Council
business openly. Similarly, surveillance will be overt if the subject has been told it will
happen (e.g. where a noisemaker is warned (preferably in writing) that noise will be
recorded.
Covert Surveillance
Covert Surveillance is carried out in a manner calculated to ensure that the person
subject to the surveillance is unaware of it taking place. (Section 26(9)(a) of RIPA).
RIPA regulates two types of covert surveillance, (Directed Surveillance and Intrusive
Surveillance) and the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS).

Directed Surveillance
Directed Surveillance is surveillance which:• is covert; and
• is not intrusive surveillance (see definition below – the Council cannot carry out
any intrusive surveillance).
• is not carried out as in an immediate response to events which would otherwise
make seeking authorisation under the Act reasonable, eg. spotting something
suspicious and continuing to observe it; and
• it is undertaken for the purpose of a specific investigation or operation in a
manner likely to obtain private information about an individual (whether or not
that person is specifically targeted for purposes of an investigation). (Section 26(10)
RIPA).

7

Page 48

Private Information in relation to a person includes any information relating to his
private and family life, his home or his correspondence. The fact that covert
surveillance occurs in a public place or on business premises does not mean that it
cannot result in the obtaining of private information about a person. Prolonged
surveillance targeted on a single person will undoubtedly result in the obtaining of
private information about him/her and others with whom s/he comes into contact.
Private information may include personal data such as names, addresses or telephone
numbers. Where such information is acquired by means of covert surveillance of a
person having a reasonable expectation of privacy, a directed surveillance
authorisation is appropriate.
Similarly, although overt town centre CCTV cameras do not normally require
authorisation, if the camera is tasked for a specific purpose, which involves prolonged
surveillance on a particular person, authorisation will be required. The way a person
runs his/her business may also reveal information about his or her private life and the
private lives of others. Privacy considerations are likely to arise if several records are
examined together to establish a pattern of behaviour.
For the avoidance of doubt, only those Officers appointed as ‘Authorising
Officers’ for the purpose of RIPA can authorise ‘Directed Surveillance’ IF, AND
ONLY IF, the RIPA authorisation procedures detailed in this Document, are
followed.
Intrusive Surveillance
This is when it:• is covert;
• relates to residential premises and private vehicles, even if used on a temporary
basis and
• involves the presence of a person in the premises or in the vehicle or is carried
out by a surveillance device in the premises/vehicle. Surveillance equipment
mounted outside the premises will not be intrusive, unless the device
consistently provides information of the same quality and detail as might be
expected if they were in the premises/vehicle.
This form of surveillance can be carried out only by police and other law
enforcement agencies. Intrusive surveillance relates to the location of the
surveillance, and not any consideration of the information that is likely to be
obtained. Council officers cannot carry out intrusive surveillance.
“Proportionality”
This term contains three concepts:• the surveillance should not be excessive in relation to the gravity of the matter
being investigated;
• the least intrusive method of surveillance should be chosen; and
• collateral intrusion involving invasion of third parties’ privacy and should, so far
as possible, be minimised.
8

Page 49

Proportionality involves balancing the intrusiveness of the activity on the subject and
others who might be affected by it against the need for the activity in operational terms.
The activity will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the circumstances of the case,
or if the information which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less
intrusive means. All such activity should be carefully managed to meet the objective in
question and must not be arbitrary or unfair. The interference with the person’s right
should be no greater than that which is required to meet the aim and objectives.
The onus is on the Authorising Officer to ensure that the surveillance meets the tests
of necessity and proportionality.
The codes provide guidance relating to proportionality which should be considered by
both applicants and Authorising Officers :
•

balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and extent
of the perceived crime or offence;

•

explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible
intrusion on the subject and others;

•

considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a
reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the
necessary result;

•

evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been
considered and why they were not implemented.

When considering the intrusion, it is important that the Authorising Officer is fully aware
of the technical capabilities of any proposed equipment to be used, and that any
images are managed in line with the Data Protection Act and Home Office Guidance.
These issues have a direct bearing on determining proportionality.

9

Page 50

Section F
Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS)

Staff will need to know when someone providing information may become a CHIS, and
in these circumstances the Council is required to have procedures in place should this
be necessary. However, if it appears that use of a CHIS may be required, Authorising
Officers must seek advice from the Assistanct Director Partnerships.
A CHIS could be an informant or an undercover officer carrying out covert enquiries
on behalf of the council. However, the provisions of the 2000 Act are not intended to
apply in circumstances where members of the public volunteer information to the
Council as part of their normal civic duties, or to contact numbers set up to receive
information such as the Fraud Hot Line. Members of the public acting in this way
would not generally be regarded as sources.
Under section 26(8) of the 2000 Act a person is a source if:
a)

he establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a person for
the covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything falling within paragraph
(b) or (c);

b)

he covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or to provide access
to any information to another person; or

c)

he covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a relationship or
as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship.

By virtue of section 26(9)(b) of the 2000 Act a purpose is covert, in relation to the
establishment or maintenance of a personal or other relationship, if and only if, the
relationship is conducted in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties
to the relationship is unaware of the purpose.
By virtue of section 26(9)(c) of the 2000 Act a relationship is used covertly, and
information obtained as above is disclosed covertly, if and only if it is used or, as the
case may be, disclosed in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties
to the relationship is unaware of the use or disclosure in question.
Conduct and Use of a Source
The use of a source involves inducing, asking or assisting a person to engage in the
conduct of a source or to obtain information by means of the conduct of such a source.
The conduct of a source is any conduct falling within a), b), or c), mentioned above,
or which is incidental to anything falling within those sections.
10

Page 51

The use of a source is what the Authority does in connection with the source and
the conduct is what a source does to fulfill whatever tasks are given to them or
which is incidental to it. The Use and Conduct require separate consideration
before authorisation.
When completing applications for the use of a CHIS, the applicant must state who
the CHIS is, what they can do and for which purpose.
When determining whether a CHIS authorisation is required, consideration should be
given to the covert relationship between the parties and the purposes mentioned in a,
b, and c above.
Management of Sources
Within the provisions there has to be;
(a)

a person who has the day to day responsibility for dealing with the source and
for the source’s security and welfare (Handler)

(b)

at all times there will be another person who will have general oversight of the
use made of the source (Controller)

(c)

at all times there will be a person who will have responsibility for maintaining a
record of the use made of the source

The Handler will have day to day responsibility for:
•

dealing with the source on behalf of the authority concerned;

•

directing the day to day activities of the source;

•

recording the information supplied by the source; and

•

monitoring the source’s security and welfare;

The Controller will be responsible for the general oversight of the use of the source.
Tasking
Tasking is the assignment given to the source by the Handler or Controller by asking
him to obtain information, to provide access to information, or to otherwise act,
incidentally, for the benefit of the relevant public authority. Authorisation for the use or
conduct of a source is required prior to any tasking where such tasking requires the
source to establish or maintain a personal or other relationship for a covert purpose.
In some instances, the tasking given to a person will not require the source to establish
a personal or other relationship for a covert purpose. For example, a source may be
tasked with finding out purely factual information about the layout of commercial
premises. Alternatively, a Council Officer may be involved in the test purchase of items
11

Page 52

which have been labelled misleadingly or are unfit for consumption. In such cases, it
is for the Council to determine where, and in what circumstances, such activity may
require authorisation.
Should a CHIS authority be required, all of the staff involved in the process
should make themselves fully aware of all of the aspects relating to tasking
contained within the CHIS codes of Practice
Management Responsibility
The Council will ensure that arrangements are in place for the proper oversight and
management of sources including appointing a Handler and Controller for each source
prior to a CHIS authorisation.
The Handler of the source will usually be of a rank or position below that of the
Authorising Officer.
It is envisaged that the use of a CHIS will be infrequent. Should a CHIS application be
necessary, the CHIS Codes of Practice should be consulted to ensure that the Council
can meet its management responsibilities.
Security and Welfare
The Council has a responsibility for the safety and welfare of the source and for the
consequences to others of any tasks given to the source. Before authorising the use
or conduct of a source, the Authorising Officer should ensure that a risk assessment is
carried out to determine the risk to the source of any tasking and the likely
consequences should the role of the source become known. The ongoing security and
welfare of the source, after the cancellation of the authorisation, should also be
considered at the outset.
Record Management for CHIS
Proper records must be kept of the authorisation and use of a source. The particulars
to be contained within the records are;
a. the identity of the source;
b. the identity, where known, used by the source;
c. any relevant investigating authority other than the authority maintaining the
records;
d. the means by which the source is referred to within each relevant investigating
authority;

12

Page 53

e. any other significant information connected with the security and welfare of the
source;
f. any confirmation made by a person granting or renewing an authorisation for
the conduct or use of a source that the information in paragraph (d) has been
considered and that any identified risks to the security and welfare of the source
have where appropriate been properly explained to and understood by the
source;
g. the date when, and the circumstances in which the source was recruited;
h. the identities of the persons who, in relation to the source, are discharging or
have discharged the functions mentioned in section 29(5)(a) to (c) of the 2000
Act or in any order made by the Secretary of State under section 29(2)(c);
i.

the periods during which those persons have discharged those responsibilities;

j.

the tasks given to the source and the demands made of him in relation to his
activities as a source;

k. all contacts or communications between the source and a person acting on
behalf of any relevant investigating authority;
l.

the information obtained by each relevant investigating authority by the conduct
or use of the source;

m. any dissemination by that authority of information obtained in that way; and
n. in the case of a source who is not an undercover operative, every payment,
benefit or reward and every offer of a payment, benefit or reward that is made
or provided by or on behalf of any relevant investigating authority in respect of
the source's activities for the benefit of that or any other relevant investigating
authority.
Juvenile Sources
Special safeguards apply to the use or conduct of juvenile sources (i.e. those under
the age of 18). On no occasion can a child under 16 years of age be authorised to give
information against his or her parents or any person with parental responsibility for him
or her. Only the Chief Executive, or in his absence, the Executive Director Organisation
can authorise the use of a juvenile as a source.
Vulnerable Individuals
A Vulnerable Individual is a person who is or may be in need of community care
services by reason of mental or other disability, age or illness and who is or may be
unable to take care of himself or herself, or unable to protect himself or herself against
significant harm or exploitation.
A Vulnerable Individual will only be authorised to act as a source in the most
exceptional of circumstances. Only the Chief Executive, or in his absence, the
13

Page 54

Executive Director Organisation can authorise the use of a vulnerable individual as a
source.
Test Purchases
Carrying out test purchases will not normally require the purchaser to establish a
relationship with the supplier with the covert purpose of obtaining information and,
therefore, the purchaser will not normally be a CHIS. For example, authorisation as a
CHIS would not normally be required for test purchases carried out in the ordinary
course of business (e.g. walking into a shop and purchasing a product over the
counter).
By contrast, developing a relationship with a person in the shop, to obtain information
about the seller’s suppliers of an illegal product (e.g. illegally imported products) will
require authorisation as a CHIS. Similarly, using mobile hidden recording devices or
CCTV cameras to record what is going on in the shop will require authorisation as
directed surveillance. A combined authorisation can be given for a CHIS and also
directed surveillance. However it will be necessary to complete the relevant separate
application forms.
Authorising Officers should consider the likelihood that the test purchase will lead to a
relationship being formed with a person in the shop. If the particular circumstances of
a particular test purchase are likely to involve the development of a relationship
Authorising Officers must seek legal advice from the Assistant Director Partnerships.
If several shop premises are included on one application for Directed Surveillance,
each premises will be required to be assessed by the Authorising Officer individually
on their own merits.
Anti-Social Behaviour Activities (e.g. Noise, Violence, Race etc.)
As from 1 November 2012 there is no provision for a Local Authority to use RIPA to
conduct covert activities for disorder such as anti-social behaviour, unless there are
criminal offences involved which attract a maximum custodial sentence of six months.
Should it be necessary to conduct covert surveillance for disorder which does not meet
the serious crime criteria of a custodial sentence of a maximum of six months, this
surveillance would be classed as surveillance outside of RIPA, and would still have to
meet the Human Rights Act provisions of Necessity and Proportionality
Persons who complain about anti-social behaviour, and are asked to keep a diary, will
not normally be a CHIS, as they are not required to establish or maintain a relationship
for a covert purpose. Recording the level of noise (eg. the decibel level) will not
normally capture private information and, therefore, does not require authorisation.

14

Page 55

Section G
Internet and Social Media Research and Investigations
Online open source research is widely regarded as the collection, evaluation and
analysis of material from online sources available to the public, whether by payment or
otherwise to use as intelligence and evidence.
The use of online open source internet and social media research techniques has
become a productive method of obtaining information to assist Tamworth Borough
Council with its regulatory and enforcement functions. It can also assist with other
functions such as service delivery issues and debt recovery. However, the use of the
internet and social media is constantly evolving and with it the risks, particularly
regarding breaches of privacy under Article 8 Human Rights Act (HRA) and other
operational risks.
Tamworth Borough Council is a Public Authority in law under the Human Rights Act
1998, and as such, the staff of the authority must always work within this legislation.
This applies to research on the internet. Just because it may seem easier to carry out
internet research does not mean that it should take place without justification.
Researching, recording, storing, and using open source information regarding a person
or group of people must be both necessary and proportionate, and take account of the
level of intrusion against any person.
The activity may also require authorisation and approval by a Magistrate under the
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000. To ensure that any resultant
interference with a person’s Article 8 right to respect for their private and family life is
lawful, the material must be retained and processed in accordance with the principles
of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).
The full Tamworth Borough Council Internet and Social Media Research and
Investigations Policy is attached as Appendix 3 (and available separately for relevant
staff) and will be reviewed in conjunction with the full RIPA Policy.

If officers are in doubt as to whether or not directed surveillance can be used for the
crime being investigated, advice can be obtained from the Assistant Director
Partnerships.

15

Page 56

Section H
THE ROLE OF THE RIPA CO-ORDINATOR
Key Responsibilities of the RIPA Co-ordinator
In this document the RIPA Co-ordinator is the Assistant Director Partnerships. The
key responsibilities of the RIPA Co-ordinator are to:
•

Retain all applications for authorisation (including those that have been refused),
renewals and cancellations for a period of at least three years together with any
supplementary documentation;

•

Provide a unique reference number and maintain the central register of all
applications for authorisations whether finally granted or refused (see section
below);

•

Create and maintain a spread sheet for the purpose of identifying and monitoring
expiry dates and renewal dates although the responsibility for this is primarily that
of the officer in charge and the Authorising Officer;

•

Retain an oversight of the authorisation process

•

Monitor types of activities being authorised to ensure consistency and quality
throughout the Council;

•

Ensure sections identify and fulfil training needs;

•

Periodically review Council procedures to ensure that they are up to date;

•

Assist Council employees to keep abreast of RIPA developments by organising
training and raising RIPA awareness throughout the Council;

•

Provide a link to the IPCO and disseminate information on changes on the law,
good practice etc. Officers becoming aware of such information should,
conversely, send it to the RIPA Co-ordinator for this purpose;

•

Check that Authorising Officers carry out reviews and cancellations on a timely
basis.

Central Record of Authorisations
A centrally retrievable record of all authorisations will be held by the RIPA Co-ordinator
(Assistant Director Partnerships) which must be up-dated whenever an authorisation
is granted, renewed or cancelled. These records will be retained for a period of three
years from the ending of the authorisation and will contain the following information:
•
•

The type of authorisation;
The date the authorisation was given;
16

Page 57

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The date approved by the Magistrate
The name and title of the Authorising Officer;
The unique reference number of the investigation (URN);
The title of the investigation or operation, including a brief description and the
names of the subjects, if known;
Whether the investigation will obtain confidential information;
Whether the authorisation was granted by an individual directly involved in the
investigation;
The dates the authorisation is reviewed and the name and title of the Authorising
Officer;
If the authorisation is renewed, when it was renewed and the name and title of the
Authorising Officer;
The date the authorisation was cancelled.
Joint surveillance activity where Council staff have been authorised on another
agencies authorisation will also be recorded.

Access to the data will be restricted to the RIPA Co-ordinator and Authorising Officers
to maintain the confidentiality of the information.

17

Page 58

Section I
AUTHORISATION PROCEDURES
1. Directed surveillance and the use of a CHIS can only be lawfully carried out if
properly authorised, and in strict accordance with the terms of the authorisation.
Authorising Officers
Forms can only be signed by Authorising Officers. The Authorising Officers are:
Chief Executive
Executive Director Organisation

Andrew Barratt
Anica Goodwin

Appointment of the aforesaid officers is subject to the training requirements set out in
the paragraph below.
Authorisations under RIPA are separate from delegated authority to act under the
Council’s Scheme of Delegation and any internal departmental Schemes of
Management.
RIPA authorisations are for specific investigations only, and must be renewed or
cancelled at the earliest opportunity once the specific surveillance is complete. The
authorisations do not lapse with time.
Authorising officers should not normally be responsible for authorising operations in
which they are directly involved, although it is recognised that this may sometimes be
unavoidable, especially in the case of small organisations, or where it is necessary to
act urgently or for security reasons. Where an authorising officer authorises such an
investigation or operation the centrally retrievable record of authorisations should
highlight this and the attention of a Commissioner or Inspector should be invited to it
during the next inspection.
Training
Authorising Officers will only be appointed if the Chief Executive is satisfied that they
have undertaken suitable training on RIPA. Evidence of suitable training is to be
supplied in the form of a certificate/confirmation from the trainer to the effect that the
Authorising Officer has completed a suitable course of instruction.
The Assistant Director Partnerships will maintain a Register of Authorising Officers and
details of training undertaken by them.
If the Chief Executive is of the view that an Authorising Officer has not complied fully
with the requirements of this document, or the training requirements then that Officer’s
authorisation can be withdrawn until they have undertaken further approved training or
has attended a one-to-one meeting with the Chief Executive.

Grounds for Authorisation
18

Page 59

On 1 November 2012 two significant changes came into force that effects how local
authorities use RIPA.
•

Approval of Local Authority Authorisations under RIPA by a Justice of the
Peace: The amendments in the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 mean that local
authority authorisations under RIPA for the use of Directed Surveillance or use of
Covert Human Intelligence sources (CHIS) can only be given effect once an order
approving the authorisation has been granted by a Justice of the Peace (JP). This
applies to applications and renewals only, not reviews and cancellations.

•

Directed surveillance crime threshold: The Regulation of Investigatory Powers
(Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment)
Order 2012 (“the 2012 Order”) states that a local authority can now only grant an
authorisation under RIPA for the use of Directed Surveillance where the local
authority is investigating (1) criminal offences which attract a maximum custodial
sentence of six months or more or (2) criminal offences under sections 146, 147 or
147A of the Licensing Act 2003 or section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act
1933 relating to the sale of alcohol or tobacco products to children.

The crime threshold, as mentioned is only for Directed Surveillance.
Therefore the only lawful reason is prevention and detection of crime in respect of
its Core Functions. As from 1 November 2012 there is no provision for a Local
Authority to use RIPA to conduct covert activities for disorder such as anti-social
behaviour unless there are criminal offences involved which attract a maximum
custodial sentence of six months.
APPLICATION PROCESS
No covert activity covered by RIPA or the use of a CHIS should be undertaken at any
time unless it meets the legal criteria (see above) and has been authorised by an
Authorising Officer and approved by a JP/Magistrate as mentioned above. The activity
conducted must be in strict accordance with the terms of the authorisation.
The effect of the above legislation means that all applications and renewals for covert
RIPA activity will have to have a JP’s approval. It does not apply to Reviews and
Cancellations which will still be carried out internally.
The procedure is as follows;
All applications and renewals for Directed Surveillance and use of a CHIS will be
required to have a JP’s approval.
The applicant will complete the relevant application form ensuring compliance with the
statutory provisions shown above. The application form will be submitted to an
Authorising Officer for consideration. If authorised, the applicant will also complete the
required section of the judicial application/order form. Although this form requires the
applicant to provide a brief summary of the circumstances of the case on the judicial

19

Page 60

application form, this is supplementary to and does not replace the need to supply the
original RIPA authorisation as well.
It will then be necessary within Office hours to arrange with Her Majesty’s Courts &
Tribunals Service (HMCTS) administration at the magistrates’ court to arrange a
hearing. The hearing will be in private and heard by a single JP.
The Authorising Officer will be expected to attend the hearing along with the applicant
officer. Officers who may present the application at these proceedings will need to be
formally designated by the Council under section 223 of the Local Government Act
1972 to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or provide information as required
by the JP. If in doubt as to whether you are able to present the application seek advice
from the Solicitor to the Council.
Upon attending the hearing, the officer must present to the JP the partially completed
judicial application/order form, a copy of the RIPA application/authorisation form,
together with any supporting documents setting out the case, and the original
application/authorisation form.
The original RIPA application/authorisation should be shown to the JP but will be
retained by the local authority so that it is available for inspection by the
Commissioner’s office and in the event of any legal challenge or investigations by the
Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT).
The JP will read and consider the RIPA application/ authorisation and the judicial
application/order form. They may have questions to clarify points or require additional
reassurance on particular matters. These questions are supplementary to the content
of the application form. However the forms and supporting papers must by
themselves make the case. It is not sufficient for the local authority to provide
oral evidence where this is not reflected or supported in the papers provided.
The JP will consider whether he or she is satisfied that at the time the authorisation
was granted or renewed, there were reasonable grounds for believing that the
authorisation was necessary and proportionate. They will also consider whether there
continues to be reasonable grounds. In addition they must be satisfied that the person
who granted the authorisation or gave the notice was an appropriate designated
person within the local authority and the authorisation was made in accordance with
any applicable legal restrictions, for example that the crime threshold for directed
surveillance has been met.
The JP may decide to:
Approve the Grant or renewal of an authorisation
The grant or renewal of the RIPA authorisation will then take effect and the local
authority may proceed to use the technique in that particular case. The duration of
the authorisation commences with the magistrate’s approval.

Refuse to approve the grant or renewal of an authorisation
20

Page 61

The RIPA authorisation will not take effect and the local authority may not use the
technique in that case.
Where an application has been refused the applicant may wish to consider the reasons
for that refusal. If more information was required by the JP to determine whether the
application/authorisation has met the tests, and this is the reason for refusal the officer
should consider whether they can reapply, for example, if there was information to
support the application which was available to the local authority, but not included in
the papers provided at the hearing.
For, a technical error, the form may be remedied without going through the internal
authorisation process again. The officer may then wish to reapply for judicial approval
once those steps have been taken.
Refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation or notice
This applies where the JP refuses to approve the application/authorisation or renew
the application/authorisation and decides to quash the original authorisation or notice.
However the court must not exercise its power to quash the application/authorisation
unless the applicant has had at least 2 business days from the date of the refusal in
which to make representations. If this is the case the officer will inform the Legal section
who will consider whether to make any representations.
Whatever the decision the JP will record their decision on the order section of the
judicial application/order form. The court administration will retain a copy of the local
authority RIPA application and authorisation form and the judicial application/order
form. The officer will retain the original application/authorisation and a copy of the
judicial application/order form.
If approved by the JP, the date of the approval becomes the commencement date and
the three months duration will commence on this date, The officers are now allowed to
undertake the activity.
The original application and the copy of the judicial application/order form should be
forwarded to the Central Register and a copy retained by the applicant and if necessary
by the Authorising Officer.
A local authority may only appeal a JP decision on a point of law by judicial review. If
such a concern arises, the Legal team will decide what action if any should be taken.
If it is intended to undertake both directed surveillance and the use of a CHIS on the
same surveillance subject, the respective applications forms and procedures should
be followed and both activities should be considered separately on their own merits.
An application for an authorisation must include an assessment of the risk of any
collateral intrusion or interference. The Authorising Officer will take this into account,
particularly when considering the proportionality of the directed surveillance or the use
of a CHIS.

21

Page 62

Application, Review, Renewal and Cancellation Forms
Applications
All the relevant sections on an application form must be completed with sufficient
information for the Authorising Officer to consider Necessity, Proportionality and the
Collateral Intrusion issues. Risk assessments should take place prior to the completion
of the application form. Each application should be completed on its own merits of the
case. Cutting and pasting or using template entries should not take place as this
would leave the process open to challenge.
All applications will be submitted to the Authorising Officer via the Line Manager of the
appropriate enforcement team in order that they are aware of the activities being
undertaken by the staff. Applications whether authorised or refused will be issued with
a unique number by the Authorising Officer, taken from the next available number in
the Central Record of Authorisations.
If authorised the applicant will then complete the relevant section of the judicial
application/order form and follow the procedure above by arranging and attending the
Magistrates Court to seek a JP’s approval. The duration of the authorisation
commences with the magistrate’s approval. (see procedure above RIPA application
and authorisation process)
Duration of Applications
Directed Surveillance
Renewal

3 Months
3 Months

Covert Human Intelligence Source
Juvenile Sources

12 Months
4 Months

Renewal

12 months

All Authorisations must be cancelled by completing a cancellation form. They
must not be left to simply expire. (See cancellations page 16)

Reviews
The reviews are dealt with internally by submitting the review form to the authorising
officer. In such circumstances seek advice from the RIPA Co-ordinator. There is no
requirement for a review form to be submitted to a JP. However if a different
surveillance techniques is required it is likely a new application will have to be
completed and approved by a JP.
Regular reviews of authorisations should be undertaken to assess the need for the
surveillance to continue. The results of a review should be recorded on the central
record of authorisations. Particular attention is drawn to the need to review
22

Page 63

authorisations frequently where the surveillance provides access to confidential
information or involves collateral intrusion.
In each case the Authorising Officer should determine how often a review should take
place. This should be as frequently as is considered necessary and practicable and
they will record when they are to take place on the application form. This decision will
be based on the circumstances of each application. However reviews will be
conducted on a monthly or less basis to ensure that the activity is managed. It will be
important for the Authorising Officer to be aware of when reviews are required following
an authorisation to ensure that the applicants submit the review form on time.
Applicants should submit a review form by the review date set by the Authorising
Officer. They should also use a review form for changes in circumstances to the
original application so that the need to continue the activity can be reassessed.
However if the circumstances or the objectives have changed considerably, or the
techniques to be used are now different a new application form should be submitted
and will be required to follow the process again and be approved by a JP. The
applicant does not have to wait until the review date if it is being submitted for a change
in circumstances.
Managers or Team Leaders of applicants should also make themselves aware of when
the reviews are required to ensure that the relevant forms are completed on time.
Renewal
Should it be necessary to renew a Directed
application/authorisation, this must be approved by a JP.

Surveillance

or

CHIS

Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the original
authorisation period is due to expire but the applicant must take account of factors
which may delay the renewal process (e.g. intervening weekends or the availability of
the relevant authorising officer and a JP to consider the application).
The applicant should complete all the sections within the renewal form and submit the
form to the authorising officer.
Authorising Officers should examine the circumstances with regard to Necessity,
Proportionality and the Collateral Intrusion issues before making a decision to renew
the activity. A CHIS application should not be renewed unless a thorough review has
been carried out covering the use made of the source, the tasks given to them and
information obtained. The Authorising Officer must consider the results of the review
when deciding whether to renew or not. The review and the consideration must be
documented.
If the authorising officer refuses to renew the application the cancellation process
should be completed. If the AO authorises the renewal of the activity the same process
is to be followed as mentioned earlier for the initial application.
A renewal takes effect on the day on which the authorisation would have ceased and
lasts for a further period of three months.

23

Page 64

Cancellation
Cancellation should take place at the earliest opportunity.
The cancellation form is to be submitted by the applicant or another investigator in their
absence. The Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must
cancel it if they are satisfied that the directed surveillance no longer meets the criteria
upon which it was authorised. Where the Authorising Officer is no longer available, this
duty will fall on the person who has taken over the role of Authorising Officer or the
person who is acting as Authorising Officer.
As soon as the decision is taken that directed surveillance should be discontinued, the
applicant or other investigating officer involved in the investigation should inform the
Authorising Officer. The Authorising Officer will formally instruct the investigating
officer to cease the surveillance, noting the time and date of their decision. This will
be required for the cancellation form. The date and time when such an instruction was
given should also be recorded in the central record of authorisations (see paragraph
5.18 in the Codes of Practice). It will also be necessary to detail the amount of time
spent on the surveillance as this is required to be retained by the Senior
Responsible Officer.
The officer submitting the cancellation should complete in detail the relevant sections
of the form and include the period of surveillance and what if any images were obtained
and any images containing third parties. The Authorising Officer should then take this
into account and issues instructions regarding the management and disposal of the
images etc.
The cancellation process should also be used to evaluate whether the objectives have
been achieved and whether the applicant carried out what they stated was necessary
in the application form. This check will form part of the oversight function. Where
issues are identified they will be brought to the attention of the line manager and the
Senior Responsible Officer (SRO). This will assist with future audits and oversight.
Before an Authorising Officer signs a Form, they must:(a) Be mindful of this Policy & Procedures Document and the training undertaken
(b) Be satisfied that the RIPA authorisation is:(i)
(ii)

in accordance with the law;
necessary in the circumstances of the particular case on the ground
mentioned

and
(iii) proportionate to what it seeks to achieve. (see section on
proportionality)
(c)

In assessing whether or not the proposed surveillance is proportionate, consider
other appropriate means of gathering the information.
The authorisation will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the overall
circumstances of the case. Each action authorised should bring an expected
24

Page 65

benefit to the investigation or operation and should not be disproportionate or
arbitrary. The fact that a suspected offence may be serious will not alone
render intrusive actions proportionate. Similarly, an offence may be so minor
that any deployment of covert techniques would be disproportionate. No
activity should be considered proportionate if the information which is sought
could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.
The following elements of proportionality should therefore be considered:
•
•
•
•

balance the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and
extent of the perceived crime or offence;
explain how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible
intrusion on the subject and others;
consider whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a
reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining
the necessary result;
evidence, what other methods have been considered and why they were not
implemented.

The least intrusive method will be considered proportionate by the courts.
(d)

Take into account the risk of intrusion into the privacy of persons other than the
specified subject of the surveillance (collateral intrusion). Measures must be
taken wherever practicable to avoid or minimise (so far as is possible) collateral
intrusion. This matter may be an aspect of determining proportionality;

(e)

Set a date for review of the authorisation and review on only that date;

(f)

Obtain a Unique Reference Number (URN) for the application from the Solicitor
to the Council on 01827 709258

(g)

Ensure that a copy of the RIPA Forms (and any review/cancellation of the same)
is forwarded to the Solicitor to the Council, Central Register, within 5 working
days of the relevant authorisation, review, renewal, cancellation or
rejection.

Additional Safeguards when Authorising a CHIS
When authorising the conduct or use of a CHIS, the Authorising Officer must also:(a)

be satisfied that the conduct and/or use of the CHIS is proportionate to what is
sought to be achieved.

(b)

Be satisfied that appropriate arrangements are in place for the management
and oversight of the CHIS and this must address health and safety issues
through a risk assessment;

(c)

Consider the likely degree of intrusion of all those potentially affected;

25

Page 66

(d)

Consider any adverse impact on community confidence that may result from the
use or conduct or the information obtained;

(e)

Ensure records contain particulars and are not available except on a need to
know basis.

(f)

Ensure that if the CHIS is under the age of 18 or is a vulnerable adult the
Authorising Officer is the Chief Executive or in his absence, the Executive
Director Organisation.

The Authorising Officer must attend to the requirement of section 29(5) RIPA and of
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Source Records) Regulations 2000. It is
strongly recommended that legal advice is obtained in relation to the authorisation of
a CHIS.
Any person granting or applying for an authorisation will also need to be aware of
particular sensitivities in the local community where the surveillance is taking place and
of any similar activities being undertaken by other public authorities which could impact
on the deployment of surveillance. It is therefore recommended that where an
authorising officer from a public authority considers that conflicts might arise they
should consult a senior officer within the police force area in which the investigation or
operation is to take place.
Urgent Authorisations
As from 1 November 2012 there is now no provision under RIPA for urgent oral
authorisations.

26

Page 67

Section J
WORKING WITH / THROUGH OTHER AGENCIES
When some other agency has been instructed on behalf of the Council to undertake
any action under RIPA, this document and the forms in it must be used (as per normal
procedure) and the agency advised or kept informed, as necessary, of the various
requirements. The agency must be made aware explicitly what they are authorised to
do. The agency will be provided with a copy of the application form (redacted if
necessary) or at the least the authorisation page containing the unique number.
Equally, if Council staff are authorised on another agencies RIPA authorisation, the
staff will obtain a copy of the application form (redacted if necessary), or at the least
the authorisation page containing the unique number, a copy of which should be
forwarded for filing within the central register. They must ensure that they do not
conduct activity outside of that authorisation.
Provisions should also be made regarding any disclosure implications under the
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act (CPIA) and the management, storage and
dissemination of any product obtained.
When another agency (e.g. Police, Customs & Excise, Inland Revenue etc):(a)

wishes to use the Council’s resources (e.g. CCTV surveillance systems), that
agency must use its own RIPA procedures and, before any Officer agrees to allow
the Council’s resources to be used for the other agency’s purposes, the Officer
must obtain a copy of that agency’s RIPA form (redacted if necessary) or at the
least the authorisation page containing the unique number for the record (a copy
of which must be passed to the Assistant Director Partnerships for the Central
Register) Should this be an urgent oral authorisation they should obtain a copy
of the contemporaneous notes of what has been authorised by the Authorising
Officer in line with current guidance. A copy of these notes will be forwarded for
filing in the central register.

(b)

wish to use the Council’s premises for their own RIPA action, the responsible
Corporate Management Team officer should, normally, cooperate with the same,
unless there are security or other good operational or managerial reasons as to
why the Council’s premises should not be used for the agency’s activities.
Suitable insurance or other appropriate indemnities may be sought, if necessary,
from the other agency for the Council’s cooperation in the agent’s RIPA operation.
In such cases, however, the Council’s own RIPA forms should not be used as the
Council is only ‘assisting’ not being ‘involved’ in the RIPA activity of the external
agency.

If the Police or any other Agency wish to use Council resources for general
surveillance, as opposed to specific RIPA operations, an appropriate letter requesting
the proposed use, extent of remit, duration, who will be undertaking the general
surveillance and the purpose of it must be obtained from the police or other Agency
before any Council resources are made available for the proposed use.
27

Page 68

If in doubt, please consult with the Assistant Director Partnerships at the
earliest opportunity.

28

Page 69

Section K
RECORD MANAGEMENT
The Council must keep detailed records of all authorisations, renewals,
cancellations and rejections in Departments and a Central Register of all
Authorisation Forms will be maintained and monitored by the Assistant Director
Partnerships.

Records Maintained in the Department
The following documents must be retained by the Department authorising the
surveillance:
•

a copy of the Forms together with any supplementary documentation and
notification of the approval given by the Authorising Officer;

•

a record of the period over which the surveillance has taken place;

•

the frequency of reviews prescribed by the Authorising Officer;

•

a record of the result of each review of the authorisation;

•

a copy of any renewal of an authorisation, together with the supporting
documentation submitted when the renewal was requested;

•

the date and time when any instruction was given by the Authorising Officer;

•

the Unique Reference Number for the authorisation (URN).

Central Register maintained by the Assistant Director Partnerships
Authorising Officers must forward a copy of the form to the Assistant Director
Partnershipsfor the Central Register, within 5 working days of the authorisation, review,
renewal, cancellation or rejection. The Assistant Director Partnerships will monitor the
same and give appropriate guidance to Authorising Officers from time to time, or
amend this document in the light of changes of legislation or developments through
case law.
Retention and Destruction of Material
The retention of the material obtained during a RIPA operation is governed by the
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act (CPIA) 1996 and the Data Protection Act
2018.
Arrangements are in place for the secure handling, storage and destruction of material
obtained through the use of directed surveillance or CHIS. Authorising Officers,
through their relevant Data Controller, must ensure compliance with the appropriate
29

Page 70

data protection requirements under the Data Protection Act 2018 and any relevant
codes of practice produced by individual authorised relating to the handling and
storage of material.
The Council will retain records for a period of at least five years from the ending of the
authorisation. The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) can
audit/review the Council’s policies and procedures, and individual authorisations.
The IPCO will also write to the Council from time to time, requesting information as to
the numbers of authorisations made in a specific period. It will be the responsibility of
the Solicitor to the Council to respond to such communications.
Errors
There is a requirement as set out in the IPCO procedures and Guidance 2011 to report
all covert activity that was not properly authorised to the IPCOin writing as soon as the
error is recognised. This would be known as an error. This includes activity which
should have been authorised but wasn’t or which was conducted beyond the directions
provided by the authorising officer. It is therefore important that when an error has
been identified it is brought to the attention of the SRO in order to comply with this
guidance. The Council has a responsibility to report to the Inspector at the
commencement of an inspection all activity which should have been authorised but
wasn’t. This is to confirm that any direction provided by the IPCO has been followed.
This will also assist with the oversight provisions of the Councils’ RIPA activity.
This does not apply to covert activity which is deliberately not authorised because an
authorising officer considers that it does not meet the legislative criteria, but allows it
to continue. This would be surveillance outside of RIPA. (See oversight section below)

30

Page 71

Section L
ACQUISITION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA
What is Communications Data?
Communication data means any traffic or any information that is or has been sent by
or over a telecommunications system or postal system, together with information about
the use of the system made by any person.
Powers
As above – think you need to include reference to comms data.

CONCLUSION
Obtaining an authorisation under RIPA and following the guidance and procedures in
this document will assist in ensuring that the use of covert surveillance or a CHIS is
carried out in accordance with the law and subject to safeguards against infringing an
individual’s human rights. Complying with the provisions of RIPA protects the Council
against challenges for breaches of Article 8 of the European Convention on Human
Rights.
Authorising Officers will be suitably trained and they must exercise their minds every
time they are asked to sign a Form. They must never sign or rubber stamp Form(s)
without thinking about their personal and the Council’s responsibilities.
Any boxes not needed on the Form(s) must be clearly marked as being ‘NOT
APPLICABLE’, ‘N/A’ or a line put through the same. Great care must also be taken to
ensure accurate information is used and is inserted in the correct boxes. Reasons for
any refusal of an application must also be kept on the form and the form retained for
future audits.
For further advice and assistance on RIPA, please contact the Assistant Director
Partnerships (who is also the Monitoring Officer).

31

Page 72

APPENDIX 1
A FORMS
DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE
All forms can be obtained from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2
The form has to be downloaded and completed in the applicant’s handwriting. The
Authorising Officer must also complete the relevant section of the form in handwriting.
The original form has to be passed to the Assistant Director Partnerships.
Application for Authorisation Directed Surveillance
Application for Review of a Directed Surveillance Authorisation
Application for Renewal of a Directed Surveillance Authorisation
Application for Cancellation of a Directed Surveillance Authorisation

32

Page 73

APPENDIX 2
B FORMS
CONDUCT OF A COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCE
All forms can be obtained from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2
The form has to be downloaded and completed in the applicant’s handwriting. The
Authorising Officer must also complete the relevant section of the form in handwriting.
The original form has to be passed to the Assistant Director Partnerships.
Application for Authorisation of the conduct or use of a Covert Human Intelligence
Source (CHIS).
Application for Review of a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) Authorisation.
Application for renewal of a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) Authorisation.
Application for Cancellation of an authorisation for the use or Conduct of a Covert
Human Intelligence Source.

33

Page 74

34

Page 75

Annex A Local Authority Procedure

35

Page 76

Annex B JP Procedure

36

Page 77

Annex C Application for Judicial Approval and Order Form
Application for judicial approval for authorisation to obtain or disclose
communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source or to conduct
directed surveillance. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sections 23A,
23B, 32A, 32B.
Local
Authority:.....................................................................................................................................
Local authority
department:.................................................................................................................................
Offence under
investigation:...............................................................................................................................
Address of premises or identity of
subject:................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
Covert technique requested: (tick one and specify details)
Communications Data
Covert Human Intelligence Source
Directed Surveillance
Summary of details
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
Note: this application should be read in conjunction with the attached RIPA
authorisation/RIPA application or notice.
Investigating
Officer:........................................................................................................................
Authorising Officer/Designated
Person:...................................................................................................................
Officer(s) appearing before
JP:.....................................................................................................................................
Address of applicant
department:................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
Contact telephone
number:.......................................................................................................................................

37

Page 78

Contact email address
(optional):.................................................................................................................................
Local authority
reference:....................................................................................................................................
Number of
pages:.........................................................................................................................................

38

Page 79

Order made on an application for judicial approval for authorisation to obtain or disclose
communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source or to conduct directed
surveillance. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sections 23A, 23B, 32A, 32B.
Magistrates’
court:...........................................................................................................................................
Having considered the application, I (tick one):
am satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the requirements of
the Act were satisfied and remain satisfied, and that the relevant conditions are
satisfied and I therefore approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice.
refuse to approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice.
refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation/notice.
Notes
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
Reasons
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
....................................................................................................................................................
Signed:
Date:
Time:
Full name:

Address of magistrates’ court:

39

Page 80

APPENDIX 3
INTERNET & SOCIAL MEDIA RESEARCH & INVESTIGATIONS POLICY
1.

Introduction

1.1
Online open source research is widely regarded as the collection, evaluation
and analysis of material from online sources available to the public, whether by
payment or otherwise to use as intelligence and evidence.
1.2
The use of online open source internet and Social Media research is a method
of obtaining information to assist Tamworth Borough Council with its regulatory and
enforcement functions. It can also assist with service delivery issues. However, the
use of the internet and Social Media is constantly evolving and with it the risks,
particularly regarding breaches of privacy under Article 8 Human Rights Act (HRA) and
other operational risks.
1.3
Tamworth Borough Council is a Public Authority in law under the Human Rights
Act 1998, and as such, the staff of the authority must always work within this legislation.
This applies to research on the internet.
1.4
Researching, recording, storing, and using open source information regarding
a person or group of people must be both necessary and proportionate and take
account of the level of intrusion against any person. The activity may also require
authorisation and approval by a Magistrate under the Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act (RIPA) 2000. To ensure that any resultant interference with a person’s
Article 8 right to respect for their private and family life is lawful, the material must be
retained and processed in accordance with the principles of the General Data
Protection Regulations (GDPR).

2.

Scope of Policy

2.1
This policy and associated procedure establishes Tamworth Borough Council’s
approach to ensure that all online research and investigations are conducted lawfully
and ethically to reduce risk. It provides guidance to all staff when engaged in their
official capacity of the implications and legislative framework associated with online
internet and Social Media research. It will also ensure that the activity undertaken, and
any evidence obtained will stand scrutiny.
2.2
This policy takes account of the Human Rights Act 1998, Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000, Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act
(CPIA) 1996, General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR), NPCC Guidance on Open
Source Investigation/Research.
2.3
This policy and associated procedure will be followed at all times and should be
read, where required with the RIPA Codes of Practice and any other legislation and
relevant policies mentioned in this document. Should there be any queries, advice
can be sought from the Assistant Director Partnerships
40

Page 81

2.4
Not adhering to this policy and procedure could result in members of staff being
dealt with through the Council’s disciplinary procedure.
2.5
This policy should not be exempt from disclosure under the Freedom of
Information Act 2000

3.

Risk

3.1
Staff must be aware that any activity carried out over the internet leaves a trace
or footprint which can identify the device used, and, in some circumstances, the
individual carrying out the activity. This may pose a legal and reputational risk to the
Council from being challenged by the subject of the research for breaching Article 8.1
of the HRA which states:“Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his
correspondence”.
8.2 states:“There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right
except such as is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society
in the interests of national security, public safety or the economic well-being of the
country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals
or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others”.
3.2
There is also a risk of compromise to other investigations, therefore, the activity
should be conducted in a manner that does not compromise any current or future
investigation or tactics.

4.

Necessity / Justification

4.1
To justify the research, there must be a clear lawful reason, and it must be
necessary. Therefore, the reason for the research, such as, the criminal conduct that
it is aimed to prevent or detect must be identified and clearly described. This should
be documented with clear objectives. Should the research fall within RIPA activity, the
RIPA authorisation deals with this criteria for it to be lawful.

5.

Proportionality

5.1
Proportionality involves balancing the intrusiveness of the research on the
subject and other innocent third parties who might be affected by it (collateral intrusion)
against the need for the activity in operational terms.
• What is the benefit to carrying out the activity?
• How will the benefit outweigh the intrusion?
5.2
The activity will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the circumstances of the
case or if the information which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less

41

Page 82

intrusive means. All such activity should be carefully managed to meet the objective in
question and must not be arbitrary or unfair

6

Private information

6.1
Private information is defined in the RIPA Codes of Practice and states it
“includes any information relating to a person’s private or family life. Private information
should be taken generally to include any aspect of a person’s private or personal
relationship with others, including family and professional or business relationships.
6.2
Prior to, and during any research, staff must take into account the privacy issues
regarding any person associated with the research.

7.

Reviewing the Activity

7.1
During the course of conducting the internet open source research, the nature
of the online activity may evolve. It is important staff continually assess and review
their activity to ensure it remains lawful and compliant. Where it evolves into RIPA
activity, the RIPA procedure should be followed. If in doubt, seek advice.

8.

Use of Material

8.1
The material obtained from conducting open source internet and Social Media
research may be used as intelligence or evidence.
8.2
Any material gathered from the internet during the course of a criminal
investigation must be retained in compliance with the Criminal Procedure and
Investigations Act (CPIA) Codes of Practice and all material stored in line with the
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) data retention policy

9.

Monitoring and Review of Policy

9.1
This policy will monitored and reviewed where necessary by the Assistant
Director Partnerships upon review of the RIPA Policy.

42

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, 8 JUNE 2022

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

EXEMPT INFORMATION
None.

PURPOSE
To submit the refreshed Annual Governance Statement and Code of Corporate Governance
for Audit & Governance Committee’s approval.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the proposed be approved:
a) The Annual Governance Statement (for inclusion in the annual statement of
accounts) at Appendix 1; and
b) Code of Corporate Governance at Appendix 2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Accounts and Audit Regulations require local authorities conduct an annual review of the
effectiveness of their system of internal control and include a statement (Annual Governance
Statement) with their published statement of accounts.
The Account & Audit Regulations stipulate that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) be
prepared in accordance with ‘proper practices’. As has been the case in previous years, the
CIPFA/SOLACE ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016)’ has
been used as the framework to fulfil this requirement.
CIPFA provided updated guidance in 2020/21 relating to the content and commentary about
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on governance arrangements, these arrangements
were reported as part of the arrangements for the Annual Governance Statement in 2020/21.
Additional guidance has been issued and this is contained within Appendix 3. This requires
that authorities should consider the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on their governance
arrangements and refer to any significant impacts and adaptations in the year. In addition
authorities should consider the robustness of arrangements for internal challenge alongside
their audit committee arrangements. Local authorities continue to be required to provide the
annual governance statement with their statement of accounts.
The proposed Annual Governance Statement for 2021/22 is attached at Appendix 1. It
should be noted that the Annual Governance Statement only includes significant governance
issues, the detail is contained within the Code of Corporate Governance.
The Code of Corporate Governance 2021/22 has been refreshed and is attached as
Appendix 2. The Code indicates what is expected as per the Framework (what assurance

Page 85

do we want) and what we have in place (what assurance do we get) to ensure that the
principles of good governance are met.
This year’s review has identified that the Council’s governance arrangement largely comply
with best practice. No areas for improvement were identified.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None.

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND
Failure to produce an AGS would result in non-compliance with the Accounts and Audit
Regulations and a risk that failures in Governance would not be identified and therefore
addressed.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATION
None.

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (INCLUDING CLIMATE
CHANGE)
None.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
None.

REPORT AUTHOR
Andrew Wood – Audit Manager

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
None.

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 Annual Governance Statement 2021/22
Appendix 2 Code of Corporate Governance 2021/22
Appendix 3 CIPFA Guidance

Page 86

Appendix 1
Annual Governance Statement 2021/22
What is Governance?
Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the
intended outcomes for stakeholders are defined and achieved.
To deliver good governance in the Authority, both governing bodies (Members)
and individuals working for the Authority must try to achieve the Authority’s
objectives whilst acting in the public interest at all times.
Acting in the public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for
society, which should result in positive outcomes for service users and other
stakeholders.
The Core Principles of Good Governance
The diagram below, taken from the International Framework: Good
Governance in the Public Sector, illustrates the various principles of good
governance in the public sector and how they relate to each other.

Page 87

Responsibility
The Authority is responsible for ensuring that its business is completed in line
with the law and statutory legislation, and that public money is spent wisely and
properly accounted for. We will ensure that we continually improve the way we
provide our services whilst taking into account value for money.
We will ensure that we put in place proper arrangements to ensure our risks
are managed, and that controls and the governance process are in place.
We have approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance which is
consistent with principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government. The Code demonstrates the supporting
principles which underpin the core principles and identifies the assurance as
outlined in the Framework. It also demonstrates what level of assurance we
get and thus, identifies any areas for improvement. This forms the assurance
framework for good governance and demonstrates that we know our
governance arrangements are working. Links to all supporting evidence
identified in the assurance framework are contained within the Code of
Corporate Governance and are not repeated in this statement. The Code of
Corporate Governance document is available on the Council’s website.
Our Outcomes
Our desired outcomes for 2022-25 are detailed in the Corporate Plan. The
Corporate Plan details our Vision and sets out our Thematic Priorities. Under
each thematic priority, we detail our ambitions and how we are going to realise
these. All outcomes we aim to achieve, along with changes we want to see
and supporting information are detailed in the Corporate Plan.
For each activity or process we complete, we ensure that the appropriate
governance arrangements are in place.
For 2021/22, we together with the rest of the UK, have faced an
unprecedented global crisis through both recovery from the Coronavirus
pandemic and other geopolitical situations. This has been and will remain, a
significant factor affecting our operations in 2022/23 and beyond. This is
further supported by the Council’s Recovery & Reset programme designed to
build resilience and maximise opportunities arising from the Pandemic.
While the Corporate Plan remains relevant to our future outcomes, these will
no doubt be affected by both the Covid-19 and other geopolitical situations
and will be dealt with as part of the Council’s emerging recovery and reset
programme. As part of our AGS this year, we have included the measures we
have taken to ensure our governance effectiveness has not been impacted or
compromised by the pandemic, this mirrors the approach taken during
2020/21. This includes Recovery & Reset which improves the governance
and service assurance framework.
The Corporate Plan was revised during 2021/22 and a new plan for the period

Page 88

from 2022 to 2025 was approved at Cabinet on 17 March 2022.
This work has all been brought together by councillors, during a number of
councillor-led workshops and seminars, into a new refocused vision to reflect
new priorities. This year more collaborative budget setting workshops were
held to ensure all councillors were able to have involvement in what is
important to them and their residents.
Our new vision is ‘Tamworth – celebrating our heritage, creating a better
future’
In order to achieve that vision, we have developed this new Corporate Plan
which will be delivered with a workforce and organisation that has adapted to
an unprecedented national challenge, working hand in hand with our partners
and communities.
This new vision, together with our new Corporate Plan, details five areas of
focus for the borough; including the key outcomes we are seeking to achieve
and how we will work to achieve them.
Our primary areas of focus will be:
•
The Environment
•
The Economy
•
Infrastructure
•
Living in Tamworth
•
The Town Centre
Each priority has a number of supporting areas of focus and progress will be
achieved through the delivery of corporate and transformational projects; each
having clearly defined objectives and outcomes.

Page 89

CORPORATE PLAN SUMMARY

Page 90

Page 91

What have we done to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of our governance
arrangements during 2021/22 including ensuring that those arrangements have not
been compromised by the impact of the pandemic
The Authority has the responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the
effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. The
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by:

•
•
•

The work of Internal Audit which is detailed in the Internal Audit’s Annual Report.
Responsibility of Corporate Management Team for the development and maintenance
of the internal control environment.
Reports received from our External Auditors and any other review agencies or
inspectorates.

During 2021/22, our operations were impacted by the global pandemic. The Council
continued to support vulnerable people, deliver critical front line services and scaled-up its
response to COVID19 during the year including the payment of significant levels of grants to
local businesses and individuals (through the test and trace scheme) and expanded
businesses rates relief to retail, hospitality and leisure businesses. Importantly, the COVID19 emergency tested the Council’s ability to move at pace, prioritise its service delivery and
demonstrate its core values & purpose. To ensure our governance arrangements remained
effective, the following actions have contributed to the evaluation of the effectiveness of the
arrangements:

•

•

•
•
•
•

The Council has continued to respond rapidly and effectively to the pandemic
related restrictions as they have been announced by Government. Most staff
switched to virtual working and establishments, such as the Castle and Assembly
Rooms were initially closed, however have now re-opened. Public health and
safety became a priority for a number of teams working collaboratively to manage
Covid outbreaks within our communities and to ensure the safe return of people to
the town centre as Covid restrictions were eased. Resilience plans were activated
in partnership with the Civil Contingencies Unit and businesses were supported by
the authority with the distribution of c.£23m in Government grants since the start
of the pandemic, through a variety of different schemes – together with expanded
Business Rates Relief totalling over £20million to retail, hospitality and leisure
businesses, with a further 50% relief to be factored in for 2022/23. The Council’s
aim was to ensure public service delivery could continue safely where permitted.
The Council’s Recovery & Reset Programme continues to map interdependencies
across 7 key projects to build organisational resilience, assess intelligence to
maximise opportunities arising from the Pandemic and designed to set a
framework for a post pandemic recovery.
Increased residents’ resilience and access to information through empowering and
working with ‘anchor’ and third sector organisations to support our most vulnerable
Support our most vulnerable through preventing homelessness and helping people
access suitable housing amidst major Government initiatives including the “everyone”
in campaign, whilst also pausing non-essential moves
Following meetings being held remotely the Council recommenced its meeting
programme through face to face meetings which were additionally streamed
The internal audit programme included provision of days for Covid-19 flash assurance
audits to ensure that those charged with governance were able to get dynamic
assurance over risks affecting the Council from the pandemic, for example in terms of
92programme included remote working to
productivity and governance. ThePage
ICT audit
gain further assurance with most staff transitioning to working from home in relation to

ICT Back Ups.
In addition to the above, the Council’s ‘business as usual’ governance arrangements have
continued to operate, for example:
• The Code of Corporate Governance, set out in line with the principles of the
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government, has
been reviewed and updated.
• Internal audit have reported to the Audit & Governance Committee on a quarterly basis
and provided an opinion on the overall effectiveness of the system of internal control
based upon the work completed. The statement for the 2021/22 financial year is as
follows:
‘On the basis of audit work completed, Internal Audit’s opinion on the council’s
framework of governance, risk management and internal control is reasonable in its
overall design and effectiveness. Certain weaknesses and exceptions were highlighted
by audit work. These matters have been discussed with management, to whom
recommendations have been made. All of these have been, or are in the process of
being addressed’.
• Our External Auditors report to each Audit & Governance Committee. In their Annual
Audit Letter (2020/21), they gave an unqualified opinion on the Statement of Accounts
and an unqualified conclusion in respect of the Authority securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness.
• The Corporate Risk Register is owned and reviewed on a quarterly basis by the
Corporate Management Team and reported in the Quarterly Health Check to Cabinet.
It is also reported in the risk management update to the Audit & Governance
Committee. The changing risk landscape arising from the pandemic, featured as a
key area of risk and will continue to be so moving into 2022/23.
• Managers Assurance Statements have been completed by Executive Directors and
Assistant Directors and have not identified any significant control issues.
• Financial Guidance and Financial and Contract Procedure Rules are reviewed on a
regular basis, the latest review being approved by the Audit & Governance Committee
in March 2021. A full review of the constitution took place and was approved by
Council in December 2020.
• The Chief Finance Officer and Audit Manager (in post during 2021/22) are suitably
experienced and qualified and comply with the CIPFA Statements on their
respective roles.
• No issues were raised through the Counter Fraud and Corruption and Whistleblowing
Policies.
• There were no data security breaches/lapses during the financial year.
• Internal Audit are required to comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.
As part of this requirement, Internal Audit are required to complete an annual selfassessment against the Standards and produce a Quality Assurance & Improvement
Programme(QAIP) which identifies areas for improvement both to ensure compliance
with the Standards and other quality areas. The self-assessment against the
standards and the QAIP are reported to the Audit & Governance Committee.
• The Performance Management Framework ensures that the Financial Health Check is
reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis and made readily available on the Authority’s
website.

Page 93

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Authority is currently compliant with the PSN Code of Connection. The
compliance process includes assessments against governance, service management,
information assurance conditions and technical controls and assures access to the
Public Services Network. Our current compliance certificate expires in March 2023,
the renewal process will be started prior to that to ensure continuity of PSN services.
An annual update report is presented to the Audit & Governance Committee on the
use of RIPA powers. During 2021/22, no RIPA authorisations were made.
To assist in a more co-ordinated approach to managing projects, a Corporate Project
Management template and process is now in place.
A self-assessment of the Audit & Governance Committee’s effectiveness was
completed in February 2022.
The Chairs of the Audit & Governance and Scrutiny Committees submitted their
Annual Reports to Full Council.
The Authority complies with the Financial Management Transparency Code.
Counter fraud work continues to be completed with the retained expertise of in-house
staff to investigate corporate fraud.
Internal Audit completes an annual assessment of the risk of fraud which is reported to
the Audit & Governance Committee annually. The counter fraud plan and risk
assessment were reported to the Committee in October 2021 and it was concluded
that the Authority has adopted a response that is appropriate for its fraud and
corruption risks and commits to maintain its vigilance to tackle fraud.
In compliance with the Localism Act 2011, a report was presented to Full Council in
October 2020 advising them of the number of complaints received regarding
Members Conduct. A report was not submitted during 2021/22.
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman annual report letter was
reported to Audit & Governance Committee in September 2021.
The review of the Constitution and Scheme of Delegation was approved by Council
in December 2020. It will be due to be refreshed in the Summer 2022
The Anti-Money Laundering Policy was reviewed and refreshed by the Audit &
Governance Committee in October 2021 and a new Prevention of Tax Evasion
Policy was approved by the Audit & Governance Committee in October 2020.
A new Diversity and Equality Scheme (2020-24) was formally approved by full council
in October 2020 with supporting action plan.
The annual Pay Policy was approved by Council in September 2021.
The authority has continued to progress implementations of the organisation’s
response to the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). The Data Protection
Officer continues to raise its awareness of GDPR across the authority. As part of wider
IT Governance work, policies and procedures have been reviewed or are being
developed to meet our obligations under the GDPR and to ensure a robust
governance framework is in place for our ICT systems and information assets. The
Information Security Policy and Data Protection Policy is being rolled out across the
authority and is a mandatory requirement for new starters. The authority’s Corporate
Privacy Notice along with Departmental Fair Processing Notices have been developed
with reviews being undertaken when necessary. Information on our website has been
reviewed and updated with guidance to support our customer’s rights of access to
their data. Work is progressing with suppliers to ensure the security and compliance
of personal data held within our software systems. An ongoing programme of cyber
security awareness and training is undertaken across the authority with regular

Page 94

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

signposted updates on Infozone
As part of the remit of the Audit & Governance Committee during 2021/22 they
implemented a sub-committee to review the risks around the Future High Street Fund.
The sub-committee meets quarterly and reports directly to the Audit & Governance
Committee.
Partnership working arrangements continued to strengthen and further develop with
both our statutory and community and voluntary sector partners. The response to the
pandemic was unprecedented and has created a good foundation for closer links and
partnership work as we move into recovery.
The Tamworth Advice Centre commissioned through the partnership team continues
to provide valuable generalist debt and specialist advice to our most vulnerable
citizens and will be re-commissioned in 2021/22. This tender was successfully
procured and awarded in April 2022 to Mid Mercia CAB.
We value our community and voluntary sector and the work they do within our
community. In 2020/21, despite lockdown we awarded grants through our Community
Grants and Councillor Grants Programme to aid community response to the pandemic.
Full details can be found on our website:
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/misc_docs/2021-22_Grants.pdf
The Place Based Approach continues to grow and further develop; this is a
collaborative partnership approach through the County Council Building Resilient
Families programme that uses multi skilled teams, universal services, voluntary sector
organisations, and communities at the right time to improve outcomes for children,
young people, vulnerable people and our community. As part of this Place Based
Approach we have been working in partnership to identify community and voluntary
sector organisations that can offer children, families and vulnerable people help and
support at the earliest opportunity.
Financial resilience is and has been the key requirement for local authorities at any
time, but in the current crisis it has assumed unprecedented importance. Cabinet on
22nd October 2020 approved the Recovery and Reset programme which aims to
consider how we can tackle the financial challenges facing the council as a result of
the coronavirus pandemic. This will include reviewing services, reducing waste
demand on services (basically this is any action or step in a process that does not
add value to the customer), exploring opportunities for income generation and
identifying any further savings
The Authority has both a moral and legal obligation to ensure a duty of care for
children and adults with care and support needs across its services. We are
committed to ensuring that all children and adults with care and support needs are
protected and kept safe from harm whilst engaged in services organised and/or
provided by the Council. We do this by:
•
Having a Safeguarding Children & Adults at Risk of Abuse & Neglect Policy
and procedures in place;
•
Having Safeguarding Children & Adults Processes which give clear, stepby-step guidance if abuse is identified;
•
Safeguarding training programme in place for staff and members;
•
Carrying out of the appropriate level of Disclosure and Barring Service
(DBS) checks on staff and volunteers;
•

Working closely with Staffordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board &
Staffordshire & Stoke-on-Trent Adult Safeguarding Partnership; and
Staffordshire Police.

Page 95

•

•

•

•

The Authority recognises that it has a responsibility to take a robust approach to
slavery and human trafficking. In addition to the Authority’s responsibility as an
employer, it also acknowledges its duty as a Borough Council to notify the Secretary of
State of suspected victims of slavery or human trafficking as introduced by section 52
of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. The Authority is committed to preventing slavery and
human trafficking in its corporate activities and to ensuring that its supply chains are
free from slavery and human trafficking. The Authority has included modern slavery
and human trafficking information within the corporate safeguarding policy and
training.
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/community_docs/Modern_Slavery_Stat
ement_2019-20.docx
The Council will continue to develop and strengthen its approach to modern slavery
trafficking in 2022/23.
The Tamworth Vulnerability Partnership continues to meet each week and the Council
is also committed to the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) to
ensure that partner organisations are working together to coordinate efforts to support
high risk victims of domestic abuse, children, young people, families and vulnerable
people across Tamworth.
Tamworth also commissioned a self assessment of its regulatory compliance with the
consumer standards for its stock retained services. This assessment commenced in
2020/2021 and the improvement plan will be risk based and built into service plans
form 2022-2025.

Declaration
We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the
effectiveness of the Governance Framework by the Audit & Governance Committee
and that the arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose. The issues
which remain outstanding from previous years’ Annual Governance Statements are
detailed at Annex 1 with actions to address them. No additional governance issues
were highlighted during 2021/22. Other minor issues highlighted through the
assurance gathering process have been noted with planned actions to address these
issues. Monitoring of the completion of all these issues will be completed through
reporting to the Audit & Governance Committee.
We propose over the coming year to take steps to address those matters raised to
further enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will
address the need for improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness
and will monitor their implementation and operations as part of our next review.
Signed

J Oates

A Barratt

Leader

Chief Executive

Page 96

Date
On behalf of the Authority

Page 97

Annex 1
Significant Governance Issues
The significant governance issues identified in relation to previous iterations of our Annual Governance Statement, which remained
significant issues for us during 2019/20 and are detailed below:
No
1

Page 98

Issue
Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS)

Previous Action

Update 2021/22

Whilst actions have been
taken to ensure that the
MTFS remains balanced, this
is still a significant risk to the
Authority. Revenue Support
grant will be removed around
2020. Opportunities and
risks associated with the
100% Business Rates
Retention will need to be
identified. The increasing
demands of our customers
also need to be considered.

Work is also continuing on a number The Medium Term Financial Planning process is
of actions to address the financial being challenged by the ongoing uncertain
position in future years:
economic conditions. The attached forecast is
based on a 5 year period, but does contain a
• Recruitment freeze – there is a number of uncertainties.
robust
challenge
/
rejustification process in place for For two years, the government has only held singleall vacant posts with a year Spending Reviews, with 2019 being a single
requirement
to
investigate year due to the political turbulence around Brexit,
alternative options including and 2020 being a single year, given the COVID-19
restructuring to fill vacancies / pandemic. However, on 7th September 2021, the
looking at what we can stop Chancellor wrote to Secretaries of State to confirm
the government’s intention to complete a multi-year
doing;
Spending Review (SR2021), setting revenue and
• Spend freeze – A review of the capital budgets for 2022/23 to 2024/25.
underspend
position
is
undertaken annually with a As part of the recent Spending Review, no
view to drive out as many announcement was made about the government’s
savings as possible. In addition, plans for funding reform or a reset of the Business
it has been recommended that Rates Retention (BRR) system, both of which were
originally expected to be implemented in 2019/20,

but which have been delayed a number of times.
The 2022/23 local government finance settlement
has now been published, for one year only and is
based on the Spending Review 2021 (SR21)
funding levels. This is the first time since 2015 that,
in the context of a multi-year Spending Review, the
government has only provided local authorities with
a single-year settlement.
No detailed announcements were made on funding
reform, though Government confirmed that it is
committed to ensuring that funding allocations for
councils are based on an up-to-date assessment of
their needs and resources.

Page 99

While this means the Council will be able to retain
its business rate growth for 2022/23, it also means
that the uncertainty continues and potentially the
Council still faces losing this growth from 2023/24
as, over the coming months, the Government have
stated that they will work with the sector before
consulting on funding reform.

No

Issue

Page 100

Previous Action
Update 2022/22
there
is
an
immediate
suspension of all non-essential
spending and that the budget
be revised to remove these
budgets
following
the
preparation the first quarterly
monitoring report. Managers
will be required to review their
budgets and identify all nonessential spending for 2020/21
as part of the quarter 1
projections at 30 June 2020.
•

Alternative investment options
to generate improved returns of
c. 4% to 5% p.a. (plus asset
growth);

•

Review of reserves (including
ensuring adequate provision for
the funding uncertainties) /
creation
of
fund
for
transformation
costs
(if
needed);

•

Targeted Savings – to identify
potential areas for review in
future years; and

•

Review and rationalisation of IT

No

Issue

Previous Action
systems.

Update 2021/22

Page 101

No
2

Page 102

Issue
Regeneration/Capital
Projects

Previous Action

Update 2021/22

The Authority needs to
ensure that capital projects
are managed effectively to
ensure that they are
delivered and grant monies
are spent appropriately and
timely.

Re-profiling of capital scheme spend
from 2019/20 into 2020/21 is forecast
at c. £21m (c.£39m 2018/19) relating
mainly to Housing Regeneration
Schemes, Acquisitions and
Commercial Investments.

Re-profiling of capital scheme spend from
2021/22 into 2022/23 is forecast at c. £30.4m
relating mainly to new affordable Housing
development, housing capital works, Disabled
Facilities Grants,Acquisitions and Commercial
Investments.

It is anticipated that this spend will
now occur during 2020/21 but the
situation will be closely monitored and
any potential issues will be highlighted
at the earliest opportunity.

It is anticipated that this spend will now occur during
2022/23 but the situation will be closely monitored.
As part of the MTFS, Council in February 2021
approved the updated Capital Strategy which sets
out the Council’s approach to capital investment
and the approach that will be followed in making
decisions in respect of the Council’s Capital assets.

There is a risk that
developers will not develop
timely in accordance with the
Local Plan need.

As part of the MTFS, Council in
February 2020 approved the updated
Capital Strategy which sets out the
Council’s approach to capital
investment and the approach that will
be followed in making decisions in
respect of the Council’s Capital
assets.
Capital investment is an important
ingredient in ensuring the Council’s
vision is achieved and given that

Capital investment is an important ingredient in
ensuring the Council’s vision is achieved and given
that capital resources are limited it is critical that the
Council makes best use of these resources –
including the development of a long term strategic
plan to address the identified maintenance and
repairs backlog for corporate assets.

No

Issue

Previous Action
capital resources are limited it is
critical that the Council makes best
use of these resources – including the
development of a long term strategic
plan to address the identified
maintenance and repairs backlog for
corporate assets.

Page 103

It is recognised that significant further
work is required in this area in order to
deliver a robust capital strategy, in
2020/21, the Asset Management Plan
is to be reviewed and updated, with an
up to date stock condition survey (with
appropriate budget provision approved
within the MTFS). This should set out
the detailed capital resources
/expenditure required to maintain
assets, together with the associated
timeframe, to inform options appraisal
and feed into the capital strategy for
ASSG/CMT review of potential
schemes.
The Tinkers Green and Kerria
regeneration project is progressing
with anticipated completion during
2020.

Update 2021/22
It is recognised that significant further work is
required in this area in order to deliver a robust
capital strategy, and the updated Asset
Management Plan is nearing completion, with an up
to date stock condition survey (with appropriate
budget provision approved within the MTFS)
planned. This should set out the detailed capital
resources /expenditure required to maintain assets,
together with the associated timeframe, to inform
options appraisal and feed into the capital strategy
for ASSG/CMT review of potential schemes.

No
3

Page 104

Issue
Welfare & Benefit Reform

Previous Action

Update 2021/22

There is a risk of reduced
income corporately due to
welfare
reform
changes
(including council tax support
scheme and Universal Credit
with
further
austerity
measures from the Welfare
reform Act 2015).
As well as the potential for
reduced income and an
increase in bad debts, there
are additional impacts arising
from increased needs in
services – eg.,
homelessness,requirement
for additional support to
vulnerable people,increased
issues of ASB etc. meaning
an increase in demand on 3rd
sector and statutory agency
services.

The Council has experienced an
impact from Welfare Benefit Reform
and is able to evidence an increase in
rent arrears to the implementation of
Universal Credit. A Corporate
Working Group has been established
to ensure an organisation wide
approach and the Council has been
pro-active in seeking positive working
relationships with DWP. The issue
has been the subject of examination
by the Council’s scrutiny committees.
Any impact in relation to
homelessness has been less
apparent and the Council has been
successful in its proactive approach to
implementation of the Homelessness
Reduction Act and has achieved a
significant reduction in the use of bed
and breakfast accommodation
thereby reducing costs and social
harm.

Income levels have been largely maintained in
2021/22 (due to the mitigations put in place)
despite the Covid-19 crisis.

Income levels have been largely
maintained without reduction in
2019/20 (due to the mitigations put in

The Corporate Working Group has continued to
meet to take forward an organisation wide
approach including preparations for implementation
of the Debt Respite Scheme (Breathing Space).
Following a tender process in 2021, further work
was being commissioned around corporate debt to
secure a one council approach focusing on not only
the management of multiple debt households but
seeking to understand how resources are better
aligned to secure VFM.
Third Sector Support and Vulnerability Strategy is
one of the Recovery and Reset Programme
projects – recognising that one of the most
positive outcomes to the Pandemic is the
overwhelming ability of ‘anchor organisations and
communities’ to mobilise and support each other,
this project will explore how the Council’s
commissioning framework can be aligned to build
on these foundations going forward and how we
define and develop our vulnerability strategy,
building on the baseline assessment commissioned

No

Issue

Previous Action
Update 2021/22
over the summer.
place) however, the Covid-19 crisis
likely to now have a significant effect
on future income and welfare
spending (which we cannot quantify at
the moment).

Page 105

Work is being commissioned around
corporate debt to secure a one
council approach focusing on not only
the management of multiple debt
households but seeking to understand
how resources are better aligned to
secure VFM.
A corporate task and finish group is
being established around vulnerability
which will map base line data to
support forecasting around likely
impacts which will then inform actions.

Page 106

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL
CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
Introduction
Good Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes
for stakeholders are defined and achieved.
The International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector (CIPFA/IFAC, 2014) (the
“International Framework”), states that:
To deliver good governance in the public sector, both governing bodies and individuals working for
public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s objectives while acting in the public interest
at all times.
Acting in the public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, which should
result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders.
Our Commitment
The Authority is committed to upholding the highest possible standards of good corporate
governance, as good governance leads to high standards of management, strong performance,
effective use of resources, increased public involvement and trust in the Council and ultimately
good results.
Good governance flows from shared values, culture and behaviour and from sound systems and
structures. This Code of Corporate Governance is a public statement which sets out the
framework through which the Council meets its commitment to good corporate governance and is
based on the following principles;
➢ Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting
the rule of the law.
➢ Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
➢ Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits.
➢ Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended
outcomes.
➢ Developing the entity’s capacity of its leadership and the individuals within it.
➢ Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial
management.
➢ Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit, to deliver effective
accountability.
This Code describes how the Council demonstrates its commitment to these seven principles and
indicates what the Council has completed to achieve the commitment. It shows our own
governance structure underpinned by the principles and demonstrated how we operate effectively.

Page 107

Core Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the
rule of law
Supporting Principle Ensuring members and officers behave with integrity and lead culture where acting in the public interest is
visibly and consistently demonstrated thereby protecting the reputation of the organisation.
What Assurance Do
We Want

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 108

Codes of Conduct
Individual sign off with regard to compliance with code
Induction for new members and staff on standard of behaviours expected
Performance appraisals
There is a Members’ Code of Conduct which forms part of the Constitution and is approved on an annual
basis. Each member is required to sign two copies of the Code, retain one for themselves and one is held by
Democratic Services. The Code of Conduct for employees is also in the Constitution. Members’ are
required to sign up to the Code of Conduct at the time they are elected to office. The Code of Conduct for
officers is issued to employees on an annual basis.
There is a protocol for Member/Officer relations detailed in the Constitution.
The Constitution details Rules of Procedures for Committee meetings. Codes and protocols are also
included in the Gifts & Hospitality Policy and Register of Interests.
Key Officers and Members are required to complete an annual disclosure regarding any related party
interests as part of the annual statement of accounts process.
There are a set of mandatory training requirements for all officers, which are delivered by either e-learning or
face to face sessions.
Members have at least one training event each year which relates to Conduct. They have access to the
Monitoring Officer at all times.
Other protocols included in the Constitution relate to Pre-Election, Member involvement in Commercial
Transactions, use of Council facilities, printing and postage, Dealing with Planning Matters and Monitoring
Officer Protocol.
The Audit and Governance Committee remit includes review of Standards of Conduct for Members as
required by the Localism Act 2011 – reports are produced to the Audit and Governance Committee.
There is a Chief Officer conduct committee and a Statutory Officer conduct committee.
There is an E-induction programme in place which was launched in May 2019.
A members’ induction programme took place in May 2021 for the intake of newly elected members
Due to the Covid-19 restrictions, no elections took place in May 2020. To further support this the Members
Induction Programme has been updated and reviewed in line with previous learning and evaluation.

Team briefs and personal development reviews are now in the main being held remotely but will, as Covid
restrictions ease, revert to the more formal process.
What is missing
Service Plans being updated and aligned to the new corporate plan.
Supporting Principle Ensuring members take the lead in establishing specific standard operating principles or values for the
organisation and its staff and that they are communicated and understood. These should build on the Seven
Principles of Public Life (the Nolan Principles).
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Communicating shared values with members, staff, the community and partners.

Page 109

The Members Code of Conduct is built upon the Seven Principles of Public Life. The Code of Conduct is
included in the Constitution.
The Vision for Tamworth 2021/22 is underpinned by high level, evidence based priorities that focus upon
both Tamworth (the place), the communities served (the people) as well as the Council (the organisation).
It is through the Corporate Plan that these aspirations and expectations will be achieved. The scale, scope
and timescale relating to these outcomes presents the Council with a challenging yet achievable task over
the forthcoming years, particularly now in light of the challenges posed by Covid-19.
It is important to note that whilst the plan focuses upon delivering against the 3 Thematic Priorities, the
Council must also ensure that the wide range of day-to-day operational and support services continue to be
delivered to a consistent and efficient standard. In doing so, it demonstrates how “Delivering Quality
Services” both connects and underpins our Thematic Priorities.
The Corporate Plan was revised during 2021/22 and a new plan for the period from 2022 to 2025 was
approved at Cabinet on 17 March 2022.
This work has all been brought together by councillors, during a number of councillor-led workshops and
seminars, into a new refocused vision to reflect new priorities. This year more collaborative budget setting
workshops were held to ensure all councillors were able to have involvement in what is important to them and
their residents.
Our new vision is ‘Tamworth – celebrating our heritage, creating a better future’
In order to achieve that vision, we have developed this new Corporate Plan which will be delivered with a
workforce and organisation that has adapted to an unprecedented national challenge, working hand in hand
with our partners and communities.
This new vision, together with our new Corporate Plan, details five areas of focus for the borough; including
the key outcomes we are seeking to achieve and how we will work to achieve them.

Our primary areas of focus will be:
• The Environment
• The Economy
• Infrastructure
• Living in Tamworth
• The Town Centre
Each priority has a number of supporting areas of focus and progress will be achieved through the delivery of
corporate and transformational projects; each having clearly defined objectives and outcomes.

Page 110

The Corporate Plan identifies that we will prioritise the development of clear standards of service across the
organisation and will further develop our approaches to measure and respond quickly to customer
intelligence and levels of satisfaction together with the revision of the Organisational and People Strategy
that ensures the organisation is focused on the future.
In addition to the activity planned for the Tamworth Listens process / State of Tamworth debate, consultation
is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to
achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through a range of activities, including online surveys, workshops etc. A
survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the
voluntary and community sector. The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media
sites and through email contact databases. The business survey is promoted through business social
networking sites and business email contact databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is
promoted through email contact databases. Implementation of an updated Customer Service strategy has
been delayed is it is being further developed to support the move to more efficient ways of working and a
more accelerated move to digitalisation.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Leading by example and using these standard operating principles or values as a framework for decision
making and other actions.
What Assurance Do
We Want

Decision making practices
Declaration of interests made at meetings
Conduct at meetings
Shared values guide decision making
Develop and maintain an effective standards committee

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 111

Rules of procedure for Committee meetings detailed in the Constitution. Report format set out to ensure key
information is provided to Members to inform decision making.
Declarations of interests completed at all Committee meetings and recorded on the website. Annual
declarations made by members – register of Interests. Nolan principles (values) detailed with the Code of
Conduct.
The Audit & Governance Committee takes on the role of Standards Committee and independent members sit
on the Committee for Standards matters.
Monitoring Officer dedicated to member issues with early intervention and resolution practised leading to
good Member/Officer relationships.
The Council updated its Equality and Diversity Scheme in 2020. A supporting action plan for 2020-2024 was
also further developed. Both the plan and the scheme will be reviewed this year (this review was delayed
due to Covid). Both the updated scheme and plan were approved by Full Council and Appointments and
Staffing Committee during 2020. The scheme now includes actions associated with antisemitism and Black
Lives Matter as well as the adoption of the international Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) definition
of Anti-Semitism
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Demonstrating, communicating and embedding the standard operating principles or values through
appropriate policies and processes which are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are operating
effectively.
What Assurance Do Anti-fraud and corruption policies are working effectively
We Want
Up-to-date register of interests (members and staff)
Up-to-date register of gifts and hospitality
Whistleblowing policies are in place and protect individuals raising concerns
Whistleblowing policy has been made available to members of the public, employees, partners and
contractors
Complaints policy and examples of responding to complaints about behaviour
Changes/improvements as a result of complaints received and acted upon
Members and officers code of conduct refers to a requirement to declare interests
Minutes show declarations of interest were sought and appropriate declarations made.
As part of our approach to service delivery we will:
•
Improve our use of ‘insight’ in shaping services and directing investment;
•
Better align service delivery to ensure we act with purpose and are accountable;
•
Support the Demand Management model with prevention approaches which seek to tackle causes
and reduce costs;
•
Develop approaches which genuinely ‘empower’ individuals and communities;

•

Page 112

Support a transformed dialogue with residents - recognising that our financial capacity will be less
than in previous years which means educating and supporting communities to focus resources on
‘needs’ and being clear on what we are able to do and equally what we can’t.
What Assurance Do The Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement, Strategy & Guidance Notes are reviewed and updated
We Get
on a regular basis. They are approved by the Audit & Governance Committee. The Policy is made available
on the intranet and promoted to all staff via annual fraud awareness campaigns.
All staff and members are required to register their interests.
Members interests are made public on the website.
Gifts and hospitality register is maintained by the Monitoring Officer. Regular reminders are sent to Members
and Officers on the requirement to Register Gifts & Hospitality, the last one being sent in December 2019.
The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed and updated on a regular basis and made available on the intranet.
The Tell Us Policy is made available on the website and details the comments, complaints and complements
process. The next scheduled review of the Tell Us process, contained within the Technology and Information
Governance Service Plan 2022/2024 is due to be completed by Sept 2022.
Codes of Conduct require members and officer to declare interests.
Committee meeting minutes detail declarations made.
Ombudsman Investigations are reported to Audit & Governance Committee.
There is an Anti-Money Laundering Policy in place that was reviewed and approved in November 2019 by
the Audit & Governance Committee.
What is missing
On going staff training in respect of Counter Fraud and Corruption (Medium)
Supporting Principle Seeking to establish, monitor and maintain the organisation’s ethical standards and performance
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Scrutiny of ethical decision making
Championing ethical compliance at governing body level
The Council has in place three Scrutiny Committees – Corporate, Health & Wellbeing and Infrastructure,
Safety & Growth which provide effective scrutiny to the achievement of the strategic priorities. The Scrutiny
Committees join together to scrutinise the Budget.
The Scrutiny Committees have the right to “call in” decisions made by the Executive. The Scrutiny
Committees make use of the Forward Plan to shape projects and improve accountability and decision
making. The Scrutiny Committee function is currently being reviewed for effectiveness by the Constitution
Working Group.
The Scrutiny Chairs are further supported by an officer from the Legal and Democratic Services Team.
Agendas and minutes for the Scrutiny Committees are made available on the Council’s website and reported
to the Full Council.
Each Chair of the Scrutiny Committee reports annually to Full Council.

Page 113

The role of scrutiny has been enhanced with their monitoring and scrutiny of organisational performance on a
regular basis. Training will continue as required for members to improve effectiveness
There is an Audit and Governance Committee with the roles as required by the CIPFA/Solace framework (as
well as the Standards function).
The Constitution Working Group, made up of cross party representatives, meets to review the Constitution.
The Deputy leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Assets & Finance is the Governance lead in the
Authority.
Corporate Values and Behaviours have been rolled out to staff.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Underpinning personal behaviour with ethical values and ensuring they permeate all aspects of the
organisation’s culture and operation
What Assurance Do Provision of ethical awareness training
We Want
What Assurance Do Members receive induction training which covers expected behaviours and ethics.
We Get
Complaints received about Members Conduct are administered by the Monitoring Officer. Following the
Localism Act, the Standards Committee has been abolished. Issues in relation to Members Standards of
Conduct are now operated in terms of the Localism Act 2011. A procedure approved by Council is in place
which outlines the process to be followed in relation to complaints of members conduct. It also provides the
procedure for complaints that are to be dealt with by the Audit & Governance Committee. An Independent
Person is in place and has been provided with training on the function. A recruitment process is planned
shortly to recruit further Independent Members.
Training is provided on a regular basis for:
• Equalities (MERIT);
• Safeguarding;
• Data Protection /GDPR/FOI
• Health and Safety.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Developing and maintaining robust policies and procedures which place emphasis on agreed ethical values.
What Assurance Do Appraisal processes take account of values and ethical behaviour
We Want
Staff appointments policy
Procurement policy
What Assurance Do PDR’s take into account corporate priorities. The PDR process identifies training needs required by the
We Get
officer for continued professional development and in order to deliver the vision and priorities of the Authority.
New and vacant post procedure in place.
Recruitment processes are carried out by trained officers.

Page 114

New recruitment platform now in place which is aligned to the payroll system. Procurement Policy in place
which requires compliance standards that apply to procurement, including:
• Compliance with National and European legislation; all procurement will be undertaken in accordance
with UK and European statutes and regulations;
• Financial regulations external and internal; all procurement will be undertaken in accordance with the
Council’s Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
• Health & Safety standards;
• Environmental Impact and Sustainability; the Council will aim to procure from suppliers and to use
goods and services which have the least impact on the environment and minimise energy
consumption whilst maintaining quality and value for money;
• Equality and Diversity – the Council is committed to eliminating inequalities in all areas of activity
including procurement, and the procurement process will not discriminate on the grounds of age,
disability, gender, race, religion or sexuality;
• Safeguarding Children & Adults at Risk of Abuse & Neglect standards.
• Under the provisions of the Social Value Act, officers are required to consider social value issues in
the procurement of major works or services i.e. impact on local labour, local economy/businesses,
apprenticeships etc.
• Under the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, suitability questionnaires for tenderers need
to be completed to ensure that the commercial organisations confirm that they are compliant with the
annual reporting requirements contained with Section 54 (transparency in supply chains etc.) of the
Act.
What is missing
Fully implementing PDR and performance appraisals across the authority (Medium).
Supporting Principle Ensuring that external providers of services on behalf of the organisation are required to act with integrity and
in compliance with high ethical standards expected by the organisation.
What Assurance Do Agreed values in partnership working:
We Want
- Statement of business ethics communicates commitment to ethical values to external suppliers
- Ethical values feature in contracts with external service providers.
Protocols for partnership working
What Assurance Do Conditions of contract for provision of service details bribery and corruption. This is available on the website
We Get
Partnership arrangements in place, designed to help the Council work with its partners to ensure that all
partnerships have good systems of governance. The Seven Principles of Public Life are detailed within the
Counter Fraud & Corruption Policy Statement, Strategy & Guidance Notes. They are also detailed in the
Members Code of Conduct.
What is missing
Nothing identified

Supporting Principle Ensuring members and staff demonstrate a strong commitment to the rule of the law as well as adhering to
relevant laws and regulations.
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Statutory provisions
Statutory guidance is followed
Constitution
The Authority receives legal advice via the shared Legal Service of Lichfield District, South Staffordshire
District and Tamworth Borough Councils. This shared arrangement was implemented during
2019/20.Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer roles in place – review key decisions for legal and
financial compliance. Legal updates from officers regarding changes to legislation, regulations, codes of
practice, etc. are provided. Statutory guidance is followed by all services. The Constitution, which includes
the Scheme of Delegation to Officers is reviewed and approved by Full Council. Any substantial
amendments required are approved by the Full Council. Quarterly ‘statutory officers’ meetings are held with
the Chief Executive. Early in 2020, the provisions of the Coronavirus Act 2020 were implemented, including
the requirement to hold Council and Committee meetings remotely under the associated new Regulations.

Page 115

What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Creating the conditions to ensure that the statutory officers, other key post holders and members are able to
fulfil their responsibilities in accordance with legislative and regulatory requirements.
What Assurance Do Job descriptions/specifications
We Want
Compliance with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer in Local Government (2015)
Terms of reference
Committee support
What Assurance Do Job descriptions and personal specifications in place
We Get
Compliance with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer in Local Government
Statutory officers terms of reference detailed with the Constitution
Regular meetings of all Statutory Officers with the CE are held. Democratic support provided for Committee
including a Scrutiny Officer to support Members.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Striving to optimise the use of the full powers available for the benefit of citizens, communities and other
stakeholders
What Assurance Do Record of legal advice provided by officers
We Want

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 116

Details of legal advice provided to officers is maintained where appropriate and an electronic file created.
Officers have the relevant training in their service sector appropriate to their position to ensure advice
provided to citizens is correct, relevant and accurate.
Committee reports require legal implications to be identified as part of the decision making process. All
Cabinet Reports are approved by the Monitoring Officer and the S151 Officer.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Dealing with breaches of legal and regulatory provisions effectively
What Assurance Do Monitoring officer provisions
We Want
Record of legal advice provided by officers
Statutory provisions
What Assurance Do Officers receive legal advice as required from the shared legal services arrangement. There is a designated
We Get
Monitoring Officer for member issues. Committee reports require legal implications to be identified as part of
the decision making process.
Statutory provisions are followed and preserved.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring corruption and misuse of power are dealt with effectively.
What Assurance Do Effective anti-fraud and corruption policies and procedures
We Want
What Assurance Do The Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement, Strategy and & Guidance Notes are reviewed and
We Get
updated on a regular basis and approved by the Audit & Governance Committee. The document is made
available on the Authority’s website and the Intranet and is promoted to staff.
The Whistleblowing Policy is approved on an annual basis by the Audit & Governance Committee and made
available on the Authority’s website and the intranet.
Assistant Directors are required to complete annual assurance statements to confirm compliance or
otherwise with laid down expected principles and policy.
What is missing
Nothing identified

Core Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
Supporting Principle Ensuring an open culture through demonstrating, documenting and communicating the organisation’s
commitment to openness
What Assurance Do Annual report
We Want
Freedom of Information Act publication scheme
Online council tax information

What Assurance Do
We Get

Authority’s goals and values
Authority website
The Corporate Plan is published on the website
There is a publication scheme in place. FOI disclosures are recorded on the website.
On-line Council Tax information is made available – as well as published financial information in line with the
Transparency Code of Practice (Accounts, budget, pay Policy etc.)
The Authority’s goals and values are detailed in the performance information and Corporate Plan.
The Vision for Tamworth ‘To put Tamworth, its people and the local economy at the heart of everything we
do’ is underpinned by high level, evidence based priorities that focus upon both Tamworth (the place), the
communities served (the people) as well as the Council (the organisation).
The Vision and associated priorities was driven by Members and based upon the collection, collation and
analysis of a range of information; an understanding of local issues and an awareness of key influences.
Each service area develops a business plan with outcomes, and performance indicators linked to the vision
and priorities. The website is fully functional and has available information to aid citizens.
The Corporate Plan was revised during 2021/22 and a new plan for the period from 2022 to 2025 was
approved at Cabinet on 17 March 2022.

Page 117

This work has all been brought together by councillors, during a number of councillor-led workshops and
seminars, into a new refocused vision to reflect new priorities. This year more collaborative budget setting
workshops were held to ensure all councillors were able to have involvement in what is important to them and
their residents.
Our new vision is ‘Tamworth – celebrating our heritage, creating a better future’
In order to achieve that vision, we have developed this new Corporate Plan which will be delivered with a
workforce and organisation that has adapted to an unprecedented national challenge, working hand in hand
with our partners and communities.
This new vision, together with our new Corporate Plan, details five areas of focus for the borough; including
the key outcomes we are seeking to achieve and how we will work to achieve them.

Our primary areas of focus will be:
• The Environment
• The Economy
• Infrastructure

•
•

Living in Tamworth
The Town Centre

Page 118

Each priority has a number of supporting areas of focus and progress will be achieved through the delivery of
corporate and transformational projects; each having clearly defined objectives and outcomes.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Making decisions that are open about actions, plans, resource use, forecasts, outputs and outcomes. The
presumption is for openness. If that is not the case, a justification for the reasoning for keeping a decision
confidential should be provided.
What Assurance Do Record of decision making and supporting materials
We Want
What Assurance Do The Forward Plan is maintained for all key decisions and follows the access to information rules and
We Get
regulations regarding publication and notice.
All agenda items (reports) are made available on the website 5 working days prior to the meeting. Minutes
are published on the website.
All reports identify restrictions on publication.
An Annual Report from the Leader of the Council detailing any reports that have not met the required notice
is made in accordance with the Access to Information Regulations.
The budget process aims to be open and transparent with an initial Process Plan approved in July, detailed
base budget in November and Policy changes to arrive at the following year’s budget approved in February.
Appropriate action is taken and relevant Notices published in terms of the access to information rules and
regulations when urgent items and private items are considered.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Providing clear reasoning and evidence for decisions in both public records and explanations to stakeholders
and being explicit about the criteria, rational and considerations used. In due course, ensuring that the
impact and consequences of those decisions are clear.
What Assurance Do Decision making protocols
We Want
Report pro-formas
Record of professional advice in reaching decisions
Meeting reports show detail of advice given
Discussions between members and officers on the information needs of members to support decision
making
Agreement on the information that will be provided and timescales
Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing and distributing timely reports is adhered to

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 119

All decisions are made in accordance with the protocol as per the Constitution.
Report formats are set on ModGov including key information to make informed decisions.
The report author is noted on the report.
Publication of timely minutes.
Cabinet reports require Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer sign off.
Portfolio holders / Cabinet are required to sign off the reports before publication / consideration – following
discussions / agreement.
A Forward Plan is produced detailing the key decisions that will be made over the following one to four
months. The forward plan is published on a regular basis and at least monthly.
A calendar of meetings is published annually.
All Agendas and Minutes of meetings are published in accordance with statutory requirements.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Using formal and informal consultation and engagement to determine the most appropriate and effective
interventions/course of action.
What Assurance Do Use of consultation feedback
We Want
What Assurance Do The Tamworth Strategic Partnership (TSP) brings together key local organisations from the public, private,
We Get
voluntary and community sectors via a partnership coordination group. All organisations work together to
address the often complicated challenges needed to improve the quality of life for Tamworth communities.
The partnership provides a platform to discuss, debate and progress issues and it is structured to deliver our
collective partnership plan. A review of the TSP was undertaken and a new terms of reference and structure
was agreed at the 1st July 2019 meeting.
In terms of supporting the national response to Covid, the authority worked closely with partners across the
county to ensure consistent and joined up messaging to help support people through the pandemic.
In addition, a new website Transforming Tamworth was launched to promote consultation on wide scale
regeneration projects. Running alongside this a major new residents survey “Talk to Us Tamworth” was
launched.
Various consultations exercises are completed throughout the year. Details of the consultations are made
available on the website and the results are published.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
The development of the Customer Service Strategy is contained with the service plan but was delayed due to
the significant amount of work that took place with regards to improving access as part of service changes
associated with Covid. The Strategy will be fully consulted with residents and it is being developed to

Page 120

support the move to more efficient ways of working and a more accelerated move to digitalisation. Social
media channels are being used to encourage more participation.
There is a new Tenant Involvement Strategy (2020-24) in place and various forms of tenant involvement
takes place throughout the year.
Statement of Community Involvement in place for the Local Plan.
There is a Community Safety Website for the Community Safety Partnership.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Effectively engaging with institutional stakeholders to ensure that the purpose, objectives and intended
outcomes for each stakeholder relationship are clear so that outcomes are achieved successfully and
sustainably
What Assurance Do Communication strategy
We Want
What Assurance Do Tenant Involvement Strategy (2020-24) in place in Housing and subject to a robust self-assessment across
We Get
compliance with all regulatory consumer standards which will result in a prioritised and risk based
improvement plan into 2022-2025. This will include a requirement for a refreshed Tenant involvement
strategy.
The approved Corporate Plan 2019-2022 contains a commitment for the development of a Communication
Strategy that reinforces public expectation of transparency and accountability from the Council.
One of the approved Corporate Priorities is to work collaboratively and flexible to meet the needs of our
communities.
The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
We consider that our ability to deliver positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and
as a result we will continue to invest in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In
particular we will focus on enhancing the work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and
enhance neighbourhoods.
What is missing
Communication Strategy, Social Media Policy together with media guidelines are all currently being
developed(Medium)
Supporting Principle Developing formal and informal partnerships to allow for resources to be used more efficiently and outcomes
achieved more effectively.
What Assurance Do Database of stakeholders with whom the authority should engage and for what purpose and a record of an
We Want
assessment of the effectiveness of any changes.
What Assurance Do One of the approved Corporate Priorities is to work collaboratively and flexible to meet the needs of our
We Get
communities.

What is missing

The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
We consider that our ability to deliver positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and
as a result we will continue to invest in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In
particular we will focus on enhancing the work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and
enhance neighbourhoods.
Nothing identified

Page 121

Supporting Principle Ensuring that partnerships are based on:
- Trust
- A shared commitment to change
- A culture that promotes and accepts challenge among partners
And that the added value of partnership working is explicit
What Assurance Do Partnership framework
We Want
Partnership protocols
What Assurance Do Memorandum of Understanding in place with Lichfield District Council for the provision of shared services.
We Get
Tamworth Strategic Partnership in place.
Local Enterprise Partnership.
Combined Authority.
The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
We consider that our ability to deliver positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and
as a result we will continue to invest in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In
particular we will focus on enhancing the work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and
enhance neighbourhoods.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Establishing a clear policy on the type of issues that the organisation will meaningfully consult with or involve
individual citizens, service users and other stakeholders to ensure that service (or other) provision is
contributing towards the achievement of intended outcomes
What Assurance Do Record of public consultations
We Want
Partnership framework
What Assurance Do Results of Public consultations are made available on the website.
We Get
Tamworth Strategic Partnership in place.
One of the approved Corporate Priorities is to work collaboratively and flexible to meet the needs of our
communities.

Page 122

The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
We consider that our ability to deliver positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and
as a result we will continue to invest in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In
particular we will focus on enhancing the work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and
enhance neighbourhoods.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring that communication methods are effective and that members and officers are clear about their roles
with regard to community engagement
What Assurance Do Communications strategy
We Want
What Assurance Do The Tamworth Strategic Partnership (TSP) brings together key local organisations from the public, private,
We Get
voluntary and community sectors. All organisations work together to address the often complicated
challenges needed to improve the quality of life for Tamworth communities.
The partnership provides a platform to discuss, debate and progress issues and it is structured to deliver our
collective partnership plan. A review of the TSP was undertaken and a new terms of reference and structure
agreed at the meeting on the 1st July 2019. A Partnership Coordination Group has been established to
support joint working on key issues.
Various consultations exercises are completed throughout the year. Details of the consultations are made
available on the website and the results are published.
One of the approved Corporate Priorities is to work collaboratively and flexible to meet the needs of our
communities.
The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
We consider that our ability to deliver positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and
as a result we will continue to invest in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In
particular we will focus on enhancing the work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and
enhance neighbourhoods.
Tamworth Question Time event – an annual event which a panel of local leaders attend and members of the
public can ask questions. These are then fed into the State of Tamworth Debate
In addition to the activity planned for the Tamworth Listens process / State of Tamworth debate, consultation
is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to
achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through 3 online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey
aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.

The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
The development of the Customer Service Strategy is contained with the service plan but was delayed due to
the significant amount of work that took place with regards to improving access as part of service changes
associated with Covid. The Strategy will be fully consulted with residents.
In addition, as part of the service redesign project an organisational wide approach will be developed that will
regularly test customer satisfaction across all services and to use outcomes to better shape services. Social
media channels are being used to encourage more participation.
There is a Tenant Involvement Strategy in place and various forms of tenant involvement takes place
throughout the year.
Statement of Community Involvement in place for the Local Plan.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Encouraging, collecting and evaluating the views and experiences of communities, citizens, service users
and organisations of different backgrounds including reference to future needs.

Page 123

What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Communications strategy
Joint strategic needs assessment
The Tamworth Strategic Partnership (TSP) brings together key local organisations from the public, private,
voluntary and community sectors. All organisations work together to address the often complicated
challenges needed to improve the quality of life for Tamworth communities.
The partnership provides a platform to discuss, debate and progress issues and it is structured to deliver our
collective partnership plan. A review of the TSP has been undertaken and a new terms of reference and
structure agreed at their 1st July 2019 meeting.
Various consultations exercises are completed throughout the year. Details of the consultations are made
available on the website and the results are published.
Citizens panel in place.
The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
The approved Corporate Plan 2019-2022 contains a commitment that we consider that our ability to deliver
positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and as a result we will continue to invest
in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In particular we will focus on enhancing the
work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and enhance neighbourhoods.

Page 124

Tamworth Question Time event – an annual event which a panel of local leaders attend and members of the
public can ask questions. These are then fed into the State of Tamworth Debate which discussed securing
services for future generations
In addition to the activity planned for the Tamworth Listens process / State of Tamworth debate, consultation
is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to
achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through 3 online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey
aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.
The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
Social media channels are being used to encourage more participation.
There is a Tenant Involvement Strategy in place and various forms of tenant involvement takes place
throughout the year.
Statement of Community Involvement in place for the Local Plan.

What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Implementing effective feedback mechanisms in order to demonstrate how their views have been taken into
account
What Assurance Do Communications strategy
We Want
What Assurance Do The Tamworth Strategic Partnership (TSP) brings together key local organisations from the public, private,
We Get
voluntary and community sectors. All organisations work together to address the often complicated
challenges needed to improve the quality of life for Tamworth communities.
The partnership provides a platform to discuss, debate and progress issues and it is structured to deliver our
collective partnership plan. A review of the TSP has been undertaken and a new terms of reference and
structure agreed at their 1st July 2019 meeting.
The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
The approved Corporate Plan 2019-2022 contains a commitment that we consider that our ability to deliver
positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and as a result we will continue to invest
in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In particular we will focus on enhancing the
work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and enhance neighbourhoods.

Page 125

Various consultations exercises are completed throughout the year. Details of the consultations are made
available on the website and the results are published.
Citizens panel in place.
Tamworth Question Time event – an annual event which a panel of local leaders attend and members of the
public can ask questions. These are then fed into the State of Tamworth Debate
In addition to the activity planned for the Tamworth Listens process / State of Tamworth debate, consultation
is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to
achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through 3 online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey
aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.
The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
The development of the Customer Service Strategy is contained with the service plan but was delayed due to
the significant amount of work that took place with regards to improving access as part of service changes
associated with Covid. The Strategy will be fully consulted with residents. In addition, as part of the service
improvement project an organisational wide approach will be developed that will regularly test customer
satisfaction across all services and to use outcomes to better shape services. Social media channels as well
as e-enabled services are being used to encourage more participation.
There is a Tenant Involvement Strategy in place and various forms of tenant involvement takes place
throughout the year.
Statement of Community Involvement in place for the Local Plan.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Balancing feedback from more active stakeholder groups with other stakeholder groups to ensure inclusivity
What Assurance Do Processes for dealing with competing demands within the community, for example a consultation
We Want
What Assurance Do Tamworth Listens includes consultation with residents, businesses, and the voluntary sector (including
We Get
budget consultation). Promotion of the consultation exercise is completed through press releases, active
promotion on the website, and through social media.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Taking accounts of the interests of future generations of tax payers and service users
What Assurance Do
We Want

Reports
Joint strategic needs assessment

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 126

What is missing

Citizens panel in place.
Tamworth Question Time event – an annual event which a panel of local leaders attend and members of the
public can ask questions. These are then fed into the State of Tamworth Debate.
In addition to the activity planned for the Tamworth Listens process / State of Tamworth debate, consultation
is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to
achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through 3 online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey
aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.
The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
The Council is working closely with partners as part of the Children, Families and Vulnerable People review
to share and analyse key data with the aim to develop shared priorities for the development of Early Help
approaches.
Nothing identified

Core Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits
Supporting Principle Having a clear vision which is an agreed formal statement of the organisation’s purpose and intended
outcomes containing appropriate performance indicators which provides the basis for the organisation’s
overall strategy, planning and other decisions
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Vision used as a basis for corporate and service planning including Recovery & Reset Programme.
The Vision for Tamworth is underpinned by high level, evidence based priorities that focus upon both
Tamworth (the place), the communities served (the people) as well as the Council (the organisation).
It is through the Corporate Plan 2019-2022 that these aspirations and expectations are being achieved. The
scale, scope and timescale relating to these outcomes presents the Council with a challenging yet
achievable task over the forthcoming years, particularly now in light of the challenges posed by Covid-19.
It is important to note that whilst the plan focuses upon delivering against the 3 Thematic Priorities, the
Council must also ensure that the wide range of day-to-day operational and support services continue to be
delivered to a consistent and efficient standard. In doing so, it demonstrates how “Delivering Quality
Services” both connects and underpins the Thematic Priorities.

The Corporate Plan was revised during 2021/22 and a new plan for the period from 2022 to 2025 was
approved at Cabinet on 17 March 2022.
This work has all been brought together by councillors, during a number of councillor-led workshops and
seminars, into a new refocused vision to reflect new priorities. This year more collaborative budget setting
workshops were held to ensure all councillors were able to have involvement in what is important to them and
their residents.
Our new vision is ‘Tamworth – celebrating our heritage, creating a better future’
In order to achieve that vision, we have developed this new Corporate Plan which will be delivered with a
workforce and organisation that has adapted to an unprecedented national challenge, working hand in hand
with our partners and communities.
This new vision, together with our new Corporate Plan, details five areas of focus for the borough; including
the key outcomes we are seeking to achieve and how we will work to achieve them.

Page 127

Our primary areas of focus will be:
• The Environment
• The Economy
• Infrastructure
• Living in Tamworth
• The Town Centre
Each priority has a number of supporting areas of focus and progress will be achieved through the delivery of
corporate and transformational projects; each having clearly defined objectives and outcomes.

The Authority continues to work with others by using alternative delivery models for service provision. A
Memorandum of Understanding has been adopted with Lichfield District Council to replace an existing
informal arrangement for options of pursuing shared service arrangement with each other.
Every year, the Authority undertakes consultation with local people on a wide range of issues. During
2019/20, consultation was completed on the budget, Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, ‘Tamworth –
What Next?’, planning documents, local development documents and public space protection orders.

Page 128

“Tamworth Listens” is another consultation exercise of which the results feed into the “State of Tamworth
Debate”. The consultation exercise for the 2021/22 budget process was completed to gauge residents’,
business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to achieve the “Vision” considering
areas of spending or where savings could be potentially be made.
There are dedicated Business Advice and Visit Tamworth websites.
In terms of the Councils own housing stock and in compliance with the regulatory framework members have
approved a regulatory framework ensuring tenants are plugged into the democratic process and have the
opportunity to inform, share and influence key strategic decisions
The landlord regulatory framework sets out how tenants inform, scrutinise and develop services. The tenant
Consultative group are constituted and their views are incorporated in to the Council’s decision making
through references in reports. The Councils presents an annual report for tenants to Cabinet detailing
compliance with consumer standards and reference to benchmarked HRA activity. This is evidenced
through the Tenant Involvement and Consultation Strategy which gives examples of where tenants’ have
been consulted regarding the decisions which affect the management and maintenance of their homes, for
example, Tenants were consulted as part of the development of the new Housing Allocations Policy. As part
of the Tenant participation, there are formal groups for Tenant Consultation and Tenant Involvement and
several informal groups in place. Open House is now communicated by way of an e-newsletter on a bimonthly basis. It is still advertised on our website and will be available on request as a hard copy. A small
number of hard copies will be made available in prominent places i.e. reception/TIC etc. and a small number
delivered to the 11 Housing Sheltered schemes around the Borough.
The Vision is used as a basis for the Corporate Plan and service delivery plans which are reviewed on an
annual basis.
The Tamworth Strategic Partnership (TSP) is an umbrella partnership that brings together key local agencies
from the public, private, voluntary and community sectors. The TSP has terms of reference, vision and
priorities, work streams, a commissioning framework. Agenda and minutes are made available on the
Authority’s website.
The Authority produces an Annual Review and Corporate Plan. Performance against the Corporate Plan is
reported on a quarterly basis. The Statement of Accounts and the Annual Audit Report are made available
on the website.
Council, on 22nd February 2022, approved a 3 year Medium Term Financial Strategy for the General Fund with
a Council Tax increase of £5 for the year – in order to continue to deliver those services essential to the Local
Community.
With regard to the Housing Revenue Account, a 5 year MTFS was approved by Council including significant
investment in Regeneration projects to meet future housing needs and sustain the HRA in the longer term.

The Medium Term Financial Planning process is being challenged by the ongoing uncertain economic
conditions. The attached forecast is based on a 5 year period, but does contain a number of uncertainties.
For two years, the government has only held single-year Spending Reviews, with 2019 being a single year due
to the political turbulence around Brexit, and 2020 being a single year, given the COVID-19 pandemic.
However, on 7th September 2021, the Chancellor wrote to Secretaries of State to confirm the government’s
intention to complete a multi-year Spending Review (SR2021), setting revenue and capital budgets for 2022/23
to 2024/25.
As part of the recent Spending Review, no announcement was made about the government’s plans for funding
reform or a reset of the Business Rates Retention (BRR) system, both of which were originally expected to be
implemented in 2019/20, but which have been delayed a number of times.
The 2022/23 local government finance settlement has now been published, for one year only and is based on
the Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels. This is the first time since 2015 that, in the context of a multiyear Spending Review, the government has only provided local authorities with a single-year settlement.

Page 129

No detailed announcements were made on funding reform, though Government confirmed that it is committed
to ensuring that funding allocations for councils are based on an up-to-date assessment of their needs and
resources.
While this means the Council will be able to retain its business rate growth for 2022/23, it also means that the
uncertainty continues and potentially the Council still faces losing this growth from 2023/24 as, over the coming
months, the Government have stated that they will work with the sector before consulting on funding reform.
Financial resilience is and has been the key requirement for local authorities at any time, but in the current
crisis it has assumed unprecedented importance. Cabinet on 22nd October 2020 approved the Recovery and
Reset programme which aims to consider how we can tackle the financial challenges facing the council as a
result of the coronavirus pandemic. This will include reviewing services, reducing waste demand on services
(basically this is any action or step in a process that does not add value to the customer), exploring
opportunities for income generation and identifying any further savings.
The Council remains committed to promoting and stimulating economic growth and regeneration; meeting
our housing needs; creating a vibrant town centre economy and protecting those most vulnerable in our

Page 130

communities. The Council is responding to these challenges by considering the opportunities to make further
savings and /or grow our income. We are ambitious with our commercial view and will continue to work hard
to identify income streams that enable us to continue to meet the needs of our residents.
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous years which means that
we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, collaboration and transformation.
This approach will change the organisation and how it works; will require Members to put evidence and
insight at the heart of our decision making to ensure that we are transparent about the rationale for our
decisions and plans; will involve managed risks and will sustain essential services critical in supporting the
most vulnerable in our communities at a time when demand is increasing and resources reducing.
Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Cabinet review the most up-to-date budget forecasts on a
quarterly basis, and discuss the delivery of the planned savings to support our Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS).
Development of the Recovery & Reset Programme with a framework to develop and secure and transform
customer centric services post pandemic.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Specifying the intended impact on, or changes for, stakeholders including citizens and service users. It could
be immediately or over the course of a year or longer
What Assurance Do Community engagement and involvement
We Want
Corporate and service plans
Community strategy
What Assurance Do Every year, the authority undertakes consultation with local people on a wide range of issues and through a
We Get
variety of means. This consultation takes place under the umbrella concept of ‘Tamworth Listens’.
This includes the annual budget consultation, the State of Tamworth Debate and various other departmental
consultations as they arise.
During 2019/20, consultation was completed on the budget, the future of Tamworth town centre as part of
‘Tamworth What’s Next and the State of Tamworth Debate.
The consultation exercise for the 2022/23 budget process took place during September/October 2021 and
was be fed back to Cabinet later in the year. The 2022/23 budget consultation exercise gauged views of
residents, businesses and other core stakeholders on the council’s priorities to achieve the ‘vision’ and
consider areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
There are dedicated Business Advice and Visit Tamworth websites.
In terms of the Councils own housing stock and in compliance with the regulatory framework members have
approved a regulatory framework ensuring tenants are plugged into the democratic process and have the
opportunity to inform, share and influence key strategic decisions.

Page 131

The landlord regulatory framework sets out how tenants inform, scrutinise and develop services. The tenant
Consultative group are constituted and their views are incorporated in to the council’s decision making
through references in a full range of reports. The Councils presents an annual report for tenants to Cabinet
detailing compliance with consumer standards and reference to benchmarked HRA activity. There is a
Tenant Involvement and Consultation Strategy in place and tenants are regularly consulted regarding the
decisions which affect the management and maintenance of their homes. During 2019 tenants were involved
in a review of the Housing Revenue Account business plan via the Tenant Consultative group. As part of the
Tenant participation, there are formal groups for Tenant Consultation and Tenant Involvement and several
informal groups in place. Open House is now communicated by way of an e-newsletter on a bi-monthly
basis. It is still advertised on our website and will be available on request as a hard copy. A small number of
hard copies will be made available in prominent places i.e. reception/TIC etc and a small number delivered
to the 11 Housing Sheltered schemes around the Borough.
The Vision is used as a basis for the Corporate Plan and service delivery plans which are reviewed on an
annual basis.
The Tamworth Strategic Partnership (TSP) is an umbrella partnership that brings together key local agencies
from the public, private, voluntary and community sectors. The TSP has terms of reference, vision and
priorities, workstreams, a commissioning framework. Agenda and minutes are made available on the
Authority’s website.
The Authority produces a Corporate Plan. Performance against the Corporate Plan is reported on a
quarterly basis. The Statement of Accounts and the Annual Audit Report are made available on the website.
Corporate and service plans are reviewed and updated annually. They include actions to be completed
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Delivering defined outcomes on a sustainable basis within the resources that will be available
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Regular reports on progress
The quarterly performance report details performance indicators, collections rates, an update on the
sustainability strategy, progress against the corporate plan and the corporate risk register. The performance
report is reported quarterly to Cabinet.
The Authority has in place a Tell Us scheme which provides an avenues for service users to provide
feedback on the services provided. This can either be in the form of comments, compliments or complaints.
Guidance available about complaints refers to referrals to the Ombudsman. Guidance is made available to
members of the public if they wish to make a complaint against a member of the Council. Complaints
against members of the Council are dealt with by the Monitoring Officer in the first instance and ultimately
reported to the Audit & Governance Committee.

What is missing
Supporting Principle
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 132

Nothing identified
Identifying and managing risks to the achievement of outcomes
Performance trends are established and reported upon
Risk management protocols
Performance trends are reported in the quarterly performance report.
Risks are identified at a corporate and operational level and are monitored on a regular basis in line with the
Risk Management Policy. The Corporate Risk Register is reported to the Audit & Governance Committee on
a quarterly basis.
A review of the approach to risk management has been commissioned and is underway.
The annual audit plan is developed around the audit risk assessment and through consultation with members
of the Corporate Management Team who identify emerging risks within their service areas.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Managing service users expectations effectively with regard to determining priorities and making the best use
of the resources available
What Assurance Do An agreed set of quality standard measures for each service element and included in service plans
We Want
Processes for dealing with competing demands within the community
What Assurance Do Each service plan has actions plans and performance indicators.
We Get
Corporate plan actions aligned to the strategic priorities have action plans in place which are updated on a
quarterly basis.
The council has implemented a Demand Management model which aims to eliminate waste in processes.
The Quarterly Performance Report is reviewed by Corporate Scrutiny each quarter prior to being approved
by Cabinet.
Ensuring that residents are able to easily access clear information about the standards of service they can
expect from us will greatly help to reduce waste demand and promote confidence in the Council. Of equal
importance is ensuring that the right tools are in place to deliver consistently to the expected standard.
The Corporate Plan 2019-2022 identifies that we will prioritise the development of clear standards of service
across the organisation and will further develop our approaches to measure and respond quickly to customer
intelligence and levels of satisfaction.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Considering and balancing the combined economic, social and environmental impact of policies, plans and
decisions when taking decisions about service provision
What Assurance Do Capital investment is structured to achieve appropriate life spans an adaptability for future use or that
We Want
resources (e.g. land) are spent on optimising social, economic and environmental wellbeing:
- Capital programme
- Capital investment strategy

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 133

There is a 3 year capital programme in place (as detailed in the MTFS and budget book) which identifies
capital spend and financing. The Capital Investment Strategy, Capital process guidance, full capital
appraisal forms and outline capital bid forms are available on the intranet.
Business plans are informed by Corporate Plan and take into account PEST impacts.
A longer term Capital Strategy has been prepared which sets out the Council’s approach to capital
investment and the approach that will be followed in making decisions in respect of the Council’s Capital
assets including an action plan for the development of a longer term approach to capital and asset
management.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Taking a longer-term view with regard to decision making, taking account of risk and acting transparently
where there are potential conflicts between the organisation’s intended outcomes and short-term factors
such as the political cycle or financial constraints.
What Assurance Do Discussion between members and officers on the information needs of members to support decision making
We Want
Record of decision making and support materials
What Assurance Do Full reports are prepared by officers and members. Portfolio Holders can discuss any issues prior to the
We Get
committee meeting with the relevant officer.
The Council publishes a Forward Plan which provides detail of all upcoming key decisions. Scrutiny
Committees are encouraged to utilise the Forward Plan to inform their decision making process and can Call
In any decisions for further scrutiny.
All agenda items and minutes are available on the website with the exception of restricted agenda items.
The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) Regulations 2012
requires that the Leader of the Council makes one report annually to the authority to include particulars of
each urgent executive decisions made and a summary of matters in respect of which each decision was
made.
Resource and Legal/Risk implications are identified in Committee reports
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Determining the wider public interest associated with balance conflicting interests between achieving the
various economic. Social and environmental benefits, through consultation where possible, in order to ensure
appropriate trade-offs.
What Assurance Do Record of decision making and supporting materials
We Want
Protocols for consultation
What Assurance Do All Committee decisions are recorded in the minutes. Minutes and agendas are made available on the
We Get
website. Where Officers have made decisions which require approval by Portfolio holders, these are made
available on the website.
All consultation undertaken is made available on the website so that citizens can participate.

Budget consultation protocol approved annually by Cabinet.
Community Impact Assessments completed for all strategies, policies and procedures
Equality and Diversity Scheme and supporting action plan.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring fair access to services
What Assurance Do Protocols ensure fair access and statutory guidance is followed.
We Want
What Assurance Do Equalities assessments are undertaken at each policy review
We Get
Website accessibility – is W3C1.0 compliance (standard) with the ability to change font sizes, or use
alternative formats and languages.
Hard copies of Committee agendas are made available on request. A hardcopy of each agenda was taken
to each Committee meeting for public use. Now in 2020/21, that meetings are held remotely due to Covid-19
restrictions, papers are clearly signposted on the website.
What is missing
Nothing identified

Page 134

Core Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
Supporting Principle Ensuring decision makers receive objective and rigorous analysis of a variety of options indicating how
intended outcomes would be achieved and including the risks associated with those options. Therefore
ensuring best value is achieved however services are provided.
What Assurance Do Discussion between member and officers on the information needs of members to support decision making
We Want
Decision making protocols
Options appraisals
Agreement of information that will be provided and timescales
What Assurance Do Leadership team meetings between members and officers are in place.
We Get
Regular update meetings are held between the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive, and relevant
Chief officers and their Portfolio holders.
The Constitution details the decision making protocols and format of reports.
Various options are required to be detailed in the Committee reports so that members can make informed
decisions.
There is a set timetable in place for the production of agendas prior to the meeting taking place.
Scrutiny Officer in place to support the Scrutiny function.
What is missing
Nothing identified

Page 135

Supporting Principle Considering feedback from citizens and service users when making decisions about service improvements or
where services are no longer required in order to prioritise competing demands within limited resources
available including people, skills, land and assets and bearing in mind future impacts.
What Assurance Do Financial strategy
We Want
What Assurance Do Budget consultation is completed on an annual basis with citizen input which informs the financial strategy.
We Get
The consultation is carried out through three online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full
survey aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.
The online residents’ survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases. This includes the 238-strong Citizens Panel. The business survey is promoted through business
social networking sites and business email contact databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is
promoted through email contact databases.
All surveys are promoted in local media outlets and across social media.
MTFS approved annually takes into account budget consultation feedback – reported annually to Cabinet.
As part of the Tamworth Listens process, we have also historically held an annual Question Time event,
which sees a panel of local leaders attend and members of the public can ask questions. In 2019/20, this
was repurposed to focus on a major issue affecting Tamworth - the future of the town centre. Called
Tamworth What’s Next, this involved a wide-spread consultation campaign, supported by media, social
media, videos and a series of workshops in the council chamber where members of the public, businesses
and voluntary sector organisations were able to ask questions of the Leader.
Unfortunately, the coronavirus pandemic has made it impossible to hold such an event in 2020/21 at this
time.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Establishing and implementing robust planning and control cycles that cover strategic and operational plans,
priorities and targets
What Assurance Do Calendar of dates for developing and submitting plans and reports that are adhered to
We Want
What Assurance Do There is a performance management reporting cycle in place which timetables the performance reporting
We Get
cycle.
The Forward Plan is published on the website detailing the expected agenda items for the following four
months.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Engaging with internal and external stakeholders in determining how services and other courses of action
should be planned and delivered

What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Communication strategy

Page 136

As part of the Tamworth Listens process, we hold a Question Time event – an annual event which a panel of
local leaders attend and members of the public can ask questions. These are then fed into the State of
Tamworth Debate.
In 2019/20, this was repurposed to focus on a major issue affecting Tamworth - the future of the town centre.
Called Tamworth What’s Next, this involved a wide-spread consultation campaign, supported by media,
social media, videos and a series of workshops in the council chamber where members of the public,
businesses and voluntary sector organisations were able to ask questions of the Leader.
Unfortunately, the coronavirus pandemic has made it impossible to hold such an event in 2020/21 at this
time.
In addition to the activity planned for the Tamworth Listens process / State of Tamworth debate, consultation
is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to
achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through 3 online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey
aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.
The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
Joint Scrutiny Committee (Budget) held annually to feedback Member concerns from residents.
The approved Corporate Plan 2019-2022 contains a commitment for the development of a Communication
Strategy that reinforces public expectation of transparency and accountability from the Council.
The Council has invested strongly in the development of innovative and proactive collaboration across
agencies and sectors and has a well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the heart of our approach.
We consider that our ability to deliver positive outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with others and
as a result we will continue to invest in the development of purposeful and meaningful partnerships. In
particular we will focus on enhancing the work that we do with others to protect vulnerable people and
enhance neighbourhoods.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Considering and monitoring risks facing each partner when working collaboratively including shared risks
What Assurance Do Partnership framework
We Want
Risk management protocol
What Assurance Do Partnerships risks are identified and monitored – risk registers are in place.
We Get

Page 137

Partnership arrangements in place designed to help the Council work with its partners to ensure that all
partnerships have good systems of governance.
Risks are identified at a corporate and operational level and are monitored on a regular basis in line with the
Risk Management Policy. The Corporate Risk Register is reported to the Audit & Governance Committee on
a quarterly basis.
Risks appertaining to Future High Street Fund are reviewed by Audit & Governance Sub Committee on a
quarterly basis.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring arrangements are flexible and agile so that the mechanisms for delivering outputs can be adapted
to changing circumstances
What Assurance Do Planning protocols
We Want
What Assurance Do Protocols in place (constitution) to ensure annual delivery of:
We Get
1) MTFS;
2) Budget Consultation;
3) Tamworth Listens events;
4) State of Tamworth debate;
5) KPIs / Service Plans;
6) Corporate Plan.
The Quarterly Performance Report is reviewed by Corporate Scrutiny each quarter prior to being approved
by Cabinet.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Establishing appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) as part of the planning process in order to identify
how the performance of services and projects is to be measured
What Assurance Do KPIs have been established and approved for each service element and included in the service plan and are
We Want
reported upon regularly
What Assurance Do Key performance indicators are in place within Service Plans and the Corporate Plan and monitored and
We Get
reported on a regular basis through quarterly reports to Cabinet.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring capacity exists to generate the information required to review service quality regularly
What Assurance Do Reports include detailed performance results and highlights areas where corrective action is necessary
We Want
What Assurance Do A quarterly performance report is reported to Cabinet. The report details progress against performance
We Get
indicators with a red, amber, green traffic light scenario to prompt remedial actions.
What is missing
Nothing identified

Page 138

Supporting Principle Preparing budgets in accordance with organisational objectives, strategies and the Medium Term Financial
Strategy
What Assurance Do Evidence that budgets, plans and objectives are aligned
We Want
What Assurance Do Budgets are set following budget consultation with citizens. Budgets are aligned to the corporate objectives
We Get
A joint report is approved annually by Council which approves the Vision, Corporate Priorities and Medium
Term Financial Strategy aligning resource demands in support of the corporate priorities.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Informing medium and long term resource planning by drawing up realistic estimates of revenues and capital
expenditure aimed at developing a sustainable funding strategy.
What Assurance Do Budget guidance and protocols
We Want
Medium term financial plan
Corporate plans
What Assurance Do Council, on 22nd February 2022, approved a 3 year Medium Term Financial Strategy for the General Fund with
We Get
a Council Tax increase of £5 for the year – in order to continue to deliver those services essential to the Local
Community.
With regard to the Housing Revenue Account, a 5 year MTFS was approved by Council including significant
investment in Regeneration projects to meet future housing needs and sustain the HRA in the longer term.
The Medium Term Financial Planning process is being challenged by the ongoing uncertain economic
conditions. The attached forecast is based on a 5 year period, but does contain a number of uncertainties.
For two years, the government has only held single-year Spending Reviews, with 2019 being a single year due
to the political turbulence around Brexit, and 2020 being a single year, given the COVID-19 pandemic.
However, on 7th September 2021, the Chancellor wrote to Secretaries of State to confirm the government’s
intention to complete a multi-year Spending Review (SR2021), setting revenue and capital budgets for 2022/23
to 2024/25.
As part of the recent Spending Review, no announcement was made about the government’s plans for funding
reform or a reset of the Business Rates Retention (BRR) system, both of which were originally expected to be
implemented in 2019/20, but which have been delayed a number of times.

The 2022/23 local government finance settlement has now been published, for one year only and is based on
the Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels. This is the first time since 2015 that, in the context of a multiyear Spending Review, the government has only provided local authorities with a single-year settlement.
No detailed announcements were made on funding reform, though Government confirmed that it is committed
to ensuring that funding allocations for councils are based on an up-to-date assessment of their needs and
resources.
While this means the Council will be able to retain its business rate growth for 2022/23, it also means that the
uncertainty continues and potentially the Council still faces losing this growth from 2023/24 as, over the coming
months, the Government have stated that they will work with the sector before consulting on funding reform.

Page 139

Financial resilience is and has been the key requirement for local authorities at any time, but in the current
crisis it has assumed unprecedented importance. Cabinet on 22 nd October 2020 approved the Recovery and
Reset programme which aims to consider how we can tackle the financial challenges facing the council as a
result of the coronavirus pandemic. This will include reviewing services, reducing waste demand on services
(basically this is any action or step in a process that does not add value to the customer), exploring
opportunities for income generation and identifying any further savings.
The Council remains committed to promoting and stimulating economic growth and regeneration; meeting
our housing needs; creating a vibrant town centre economy and protecting those most vulnerable in our
communities. The Council is responding to these challenges by considering the opportunities to make further
savings and /or grow our income. We are ambitious with our commercial view and will continue to work hard
to identify income streams that enable us to continue to meet the needs of our residents.
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous years which means that
we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, collaboration and transformation.
Linked with this, the ‘Delivering Quality Services’ project continues to review processes and demand, with the
aim of re-designing processes to meet changing customer expectations and making the best use of
technology to deliver efficient and effective services to the customer, including self-service and digital
functionality.
This approach will change the organisation and how it works; will require Members to put evidence and
insight at the heart of our decision making to ensure that we are transparent about the rationale for our
decisions and plans; will involve managed risks and will sustain essential services critical in supporting the
most vulnerable in our communities at a time when demand is increasing and resources reducing.

Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Cabinet review the most up-to-date budget forecasts on a
quarterly basis, and discuss the delivery of the planned savings to support our Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS).
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring the medium term financial strategy integrates and balance service priorities, affordability and other
resource constraints.
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 140

Feedback surveys and exit/decommissioning strategies
Changes as a result
Budget consultation completed on an annual basis.
Consultation is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s
priorities to achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through 3 online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey
aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.
The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
Joint Scrutiny Committee (Budget) held annually to feedback Member concerns from residents.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring the budgeting process is all-inclusive, taking into account the full cost of operations over the
medium and longer term.
What Assurance Do Budgeting guidance and protocols
We Want
What Assurance Do Medium Term Financial Strategy
We Get
Budget setting process approved by Cabinet in July each year – including a robust process for capital
investment and policy changes which requires business cases to be prepared for consideration by Executive
Management Team.
As part of the Tamworth Listens process, we hold a Tamworth Question Time event – an annual event which
a panel of local leaders attend and members of the public can ask questions. These are then fed into the
State of Tamworth Debate.
In 2019/20, this was repurposed to focus on a major issue affecting Tamworth - the future of the town centre.
Called Tamworth What’s Next, this involved a wide-spread consultation campaign, supported by media,
social media, videos and a series of workshops in the council chamber where members of the public,
businesses and voluntary sector organisations were able to ask questions of the Leader.

Page 141

Unfortunately, the coronavirus pandemic has made it impossible to hold such an event in 2020/21 at this
time.
In addition to the activity planned for the Tamworth Listens process / State of Tamworth debate, consultation
is planned to gauge residents’, business and other core stakeholders’ views on the Council’s priorities to
achieve the ‘Vision’ considering areas of spending or where savings could potentially be made.
The consultation is carried out through 3 online surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full survey
aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for the voluntary and community sector.
The online residents survey is promoted using social networking/media sites and through email contact
databases.
The business survey is promoted through business social networking sites and business email contact
databases. The voluntary and community sector survey is promoted through email contact databases.
Joint Scrutiny Committee (Budget) held annually to feedback Member concerns from residents.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring the medium term financial strategy sets the context for ongoing decisions on significantly delivery
issues or responses to changes in the external environment that may arise during the budgetary period in
order for outcomes to be achieved whilst optimising resource usage
What Assurance Do Financial Strategy
We Want
What Assurance Do Medium Term Financial Strategy and associated forecasts are considered by CMT, EMT and Cabinet prior to
We Get
review/scrutiny by Members at the Joint Scrutiny Committee (Budget). It is then approved by Full Council.
These consider the need for any ongoing decisions on significant issues and appropriate budget changes
made through the policy changes process or capital programming process.
In year changes can be made using virements procedures (for both Officers and Cabinet) outlined within
financial guidance (as well as use of contingencies).
Financial impact assessment are included in reports to Committees.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring the achievement of “social value” through service planning and commissioning. The Public
Services (Social Value) Act 2012 states that this is “the additional benefit to the community…over and above
the direct purchasing of goods, services and outcomes”
What Assurance Do Service plans demonstrate consideration of “social value”
We Want
Achievement of “social value” is monitored and reported upon
New contracts for the delivery of repairs and investment of the Council’s property portfolio have been
procured. Both contracts include a suite Social Value measures which have defined and measurable
outcomes with financial penalties for non-compliance. Social Value measures range from formal training and
apprenticeship schemes through to more local skills training for residents including DIY and IT with a view to

What Assurance Do
We Get

What is missing

reducing demand. Other local environmental improvement measures are also included. Social Value aspects
have to be considered before the procurement process starts. Also, although we do not have to include
social value aspects in our procurement, we do have to demonstrate that we have considered them, which
means documenting this and evidencing that due consideration has been given.
It is important that sufficient time is allowed to undertake procurements where social value is going to be
included to allow for the required consideration and consultation before the process starts. The Corporate
Procurement Officer must be involved at the earliest stages of the process, to ensure that proper
consideration is given to what is required, and that this is adequately reflected in tender and evaluation
documents and processes.
The Procurement Strategy, approved by Cabinet, includes the requirements of the Social Value Act. The
requirements of the Social Value Act have been covered in staff training sessions, and the provisions of the
Act have been utilised in voluntary sector commissioning projects.
It requires Officers to consider social value issues in the procurement of major works or services i.e. impact
on local labour, local economy/businesses, apprenticeships etc.
Nothing identified

Page 142

Core Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it
Supporting Principle Reviewing operations, performance use of assets on a regular basis to ensure their continuing effectiveness.
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Regular reviews of activities, outputs and planned outcomes

Quarterly reviews of operational business plans are in place which have performance indicators.
As part of the capital programme, annual consideration of need for asset maintenance e.g. use of office
space, regular stock condition surveys, asset management plan
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Improving resource use through appropriate application of techniques such as benchmarking and other
options in order to determine how the authority’s resources are allocated so that outcomes are achieved
effectively and efficiently.
What Assurance Do Utilisation of research and benchmarking exercise
We Want
What Assurance Do Research and benchmarking exercises are completed in appropriate areas.
We Get
CIPFA benchmarking for corporate services completed as necessary.
Housing Benchmarking undertaken through Housemark and accreditation via the Housing Quality Net work

Review of assets use through the One Public Estate programme and liaison with Staffordshire County
Council.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Recognising the benefits of partnerships and collaborative working where added value can be achieved.
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Effective operation of partnerships which deliver agreed outcomes

Page 143

Partnerships are in place for the delivery of some services. There is a Memorandum of Understanding in
place with Lichfield District Council for the sharing of services
Partnership arrangements in place, designed to help the Council work with its partners to ensure that all
partnerships have good systems of governance.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Developing and maintaining an effective workforce plan to enhance the strategic allocation of resources.
What Assurance Do Workforce plan
We Want
Organisational development Strategy
What Assurance Do A number of training packages are available on the Astute platform which enables on line learning at a time
We Get
to suit the employee and member.
The recruitment process is regularly challenged and ensures that skills and knowledge are measured and
tested appropriately.
A new platform for recruitment is now in situ.
There is an E-Induction programme in place which is available to both officers and members.
Job descriptions and personal specifications are in place for all posts and reviewed as required.
All Statutory Officers meet regularly with the CE to discuss their area of responsibility.
Job descriptions for members are included in the Constitution. They detail the purpose, duties &
responsibilities and skills required for all Councillors, Leader & Deputy Leader, Members of the Executive,
Chairs of Committees and the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Opposition.
Service reviews are informed as part of the budget planning and OD process as well as the R&R
programme.
What is missing
Nothing identified.
Supporting Principle Developing protocols to ensure that elected and appointed leaders negotiate their respective roles early on in
the relationship and that a shared understanding of roles and objectives is maintained.
What Assurance Do Job descriptions
We Want
Chief Executive and Leader pairings have considered how best to establish and maintain effective
communication.

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 144

Job descriptions are in place for both members and officers.
The Chief Executive, the Head of Paid Service and the Leader hold regular meetings. Executive Leadership
Team and the Cabinet form together to form the Executive Management Team.
There is a training and development plan which is developed through the PDR process. This process is in
place for all officers
Members’ training is provided on induction and in specialist areas.
Regular training is provided for the Regulatory Committees.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Publishing a statement that specifies the types of decisions that are delegated and those reserved for the
collective decision making of the governing body.
What Assurance Do Scheme of delegation reviewed at least annually in the light of legal and organisational changes.
We Want
Standing orders and financial regulations which are reviewed on a regular basis.
What Assurance Do The scheme of delegation and scheme of delegation log is reviewed at least annually.
We Get
Financial Guidance, Contract and Financial Procedure Rules are reviewed and updated on an annual basis
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring the Leader and the Chief Executive have clearly defined and distinctive leadership roles within a
structure whereby the Chief Executive leads the authority in implementing strategy and managing the
delivery of services and other outputs set by members and each provides a check and a balance for each
other’s authority.
What Assurance Do Clear statement of respective roles and responsibilities and how they will be put into practice.
We Want
What Assurance Do The Constitution details the roles and responsibilities of the Leader and the Statutory Officers. Job
We Get
Descriptions for members including the Leader are in the Constitution,
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Developing the capabilities of members and senior management to achieve effective shared leadership and
to enable the organisation to respond successfully to changing legal and policy demands as well as
economic, political and environmental changes and risks by:
- ensuring members and staff have access to appropriate induction tailored to their role and that ongoing
training and development matching individual and organisational requirement is available and
encouraged
- Ensuring members and officers have the appropriate skills, knowledge, resources and support to fulfil
their roles and responsibilities and ensuring that they are able to update their knowledge on a continuing
basis.
- Ensuring personal, organisational and system-wide development through shared learning, including
lessons learnt from governance weaknesses both internal and external.

What Assurance Do
We Want

Page 145

Access to update courses/information briefing on new legislation
Induction programme
Personal development plans for members and officers
For example, for members this may include the ability to:
- Scrutinise and challenge
- Recognise when outside expert advice is required
- Promote trust
- Work in partnership
- Lead the organisation
- Act as a community leader
Efficient systems and technology used for effective support
Arrangements for succession planning
What Assurance Do The PDR process identifies training needs for both Members and Officers
We Get
CPD/membership of professional bodies for up to date information/changes to legislation
Networking and membership of professional bodies encouraged
Members’ induction and training programme in place (e.g. finance, treasury management, planning,
licensing, governance).
Astute provide an E-learning and policy management tool which covers a number of training areas such as
GDPR, FOI, Modern Slavery, Health and safety.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring that there are structures in place to encourage public participation.
What Assurance Do
We Want

What Assurance Do
We Get

Resident’s panels
Stakeholder forum terms of reference
Strategic partnership frameworks
Communications Strategy
Tenant participation is actively encouraged and completed in various formats. They provide training to
tenants on a variety of day to day skills and confidence, as well as estate inspections, other events and
meetings and customer satisfaction, feedback and consultation.
The Citizens Panel is made up of local residents who are asked about local services.
A Community Safety Partnership exist which has its own website – “Safer Tamworth”. The partnership
brings together a number of organisations who work together to make the borough a safer place to work, live
and socialise.
Partnership frameworks in place for joint working.

Page 146

Partnership arrangements in place designed to help the Council work with its partners to ensure that all
partnerships have good systems of governance.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Taking steps to consider the leadership’s own effectiveness and ensuring leaders are open to constructive
feedback from peer reviews and inspections.
What Assurance Do Reviewing individual member performance on a regular basis taking account of their attendance and
We Want
considering any training or development needs.
What Assurance Do PDR process and job descriptions are in place for members.
We Get
Previous Peer Reviews have been completed previously and any recommendations have been acted upon.
Members attendance is recorded and monitored.
Peer review planned for 2020/21 was delayed due to the pandemic.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Holding staff to account through regular performance reviews which take account of training or development
needs.
What Assurance Do Training and development plan
We Want
Staff development plans linked to appraisals
Implementing appropriate human resource policies and ensuring that they are working effectively
What Assurance Do Training identified as part of the PDR process as part of continued professional development. One to one
We Get
meetings are completed on a regular basis. Performance indicators are recorded on the Pentana and
assigned to the relevant managers to monitor and update.
Conduct and Capability Procedures are in place.
Training for managers in strategic skills as well as soft skills.
HR policies in place and updated regularly.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring arrangements are in place to maintain the health and wellbeing of the workforce and support
individuals in maintaining their own physical and mental wellbeing.
What Assurance Do Human resource policies
We Want
What Assurance Do Health and safety policies are in place with supporting H&S Meetings.
We Get
Health Insurance Scheme for staff.
On-site and virtual Counselling service available to staff on a confidential basis.
HR policies including Managing Attendance are in place.
Well-being policy in place.
TBC signed up to national initiative ‘Thrive at Work’.
12 Mental Health First Aiders have been trained.

What is missing

Robust management of attendance with support from Occupational Health .
Regular updates with Trade unions and / or representatives.
Nothing identified

Core Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial
management
Supporting Principle Recognising that risk management is an integral part of all activities and must be considered in all aspects of
decision making
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Risk management protocol

Page 147

Risk Management Policy – reviewed and updated annually and approved by Audit & Governance
Committee. There is a Corporate Risk Register which is owned by Corporate Management Team which is
updated on a quarterly basis and reported to the Audit & Governance Committee. Operational risk register
are owned by managers and recorded on the Pentana system and linked to performance and service plans.
The Finance section work with managers to help them identify their risks and record them on the Pentana
system. The Internal Audit plan takes into account the identified risks on the risk registers.
All decisions made by Members have risks identified in the report.
A review of the approach to risk management has been commissioned and is underway.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Implementing robust and integral risk management arrangements and ensuring that they are working
effectively.
What Assurance Do Risk management strategy/policy formally approved and adopted and reviewed and updated on a regular
We Want
basis.
What Assurance Do Risk Management Policy – reviewed and updated annually and approved by Audit & Governance
We Get
Committee.
All decisions made by Members have the risks identified.
A review of the approach to risk management has been commissioned for 2019 and is underway.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring that responsibilities for managing individual risks are clearly allocated.
What Assurance Do Risk management protocol
We Want
What Assurance Do Risk registers are in place for service areas as well as having a corporate risk register in place. Owners of
We Get
the risks are assigned to owners to manage and review.

Page 148

The Risk Management Policy details responsibilities for managing individual risks.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Monitoring service delivery effectively including planning, specification, execution and independent post
implementation review.
What Assurance Do Performance map showing all key activities have performance measures
We Want
Benchmarking information
Cost performance (using inputs and outputs)
Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing and distributing timely reports that are adhered to.
What Assurance Do The corporate plan 2019-22 identifies key performance indicators aligned to the strategic priorities
We Get
Benchmarking information is used for some services where appropriate/available
Performance management cycle identifies the timetable for the submission of performance reports
There is a Forward Plan in place which identifies key decisions to be made in the following four months
The Asset Strategy Group identifies Post Implementation Reviews required for Capital Schemes on an
annual basis.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Making decisions based on relevant, clear objective analysis and advice pointing out the implications and
risks inherent in the organisation’s financial, social and environmental position and outlook.
What Assurance Do Discussion between members and officers on the information needs of members to support decision making
We Want
Publication of agendas and minutes of meetings
Agreement on the information that will be needed and timescales
What Assurance Do Portfolio holders hold meetings with relevant staff.
We Get
All agenda and minutes are published on the website. Agendas are published 5 working days prior to the
committee meeting date.
The forward plan is a list of the council’s key decisions that will be made over the next one to four months.
These decisions will be made by either the Cabinet or by officers who have been delegated authority by the
Cabinet.
The forward plans are published on the first working day of the month.
The forward plan includes a short description of the decision to be made; who will make it; when the decision
will be taken; details of the planned consultation with local people and other stakeholders; and contact details
for further information (including reports and background papers).
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring an effective scrutiny or oversight function is in place which encourages constructive challenge and
debate on policies and objectives before, during and after decisions are made thereby enhancing the
organisation’s performance and that of any organisation for which it is responsible.

Page 149

(OR, for a committee system) Encouraging effective and constructive challenge and debate on policies and
objectives to support balanced and effective decision making.
What Assurance Do The role and responsibility for scrutiny has been established and is clear.
We Want
Agenda and minutes of scrutiny meetings.
Evidence of improvements as a result of scrutiny. Planned work items identified at beginning of municipal
year, Performance reporting reviewed, members now sit on tenant’s consultative group.
Terms of reference.
Training for members.
Membership.
What Assurance Do The roles and responsibilities, terms of reference for Scrutiny Committees are detailed in The Constitution
We Get
Agendas and minutes are made available on the website. Scrutiny chairs report annually to full Council on
their workplan.
Scrutiny workplan shared to relevant officers.
Training is provided for members on the role of Scrutiny. There is a Scrutiny Officer in post to provide
support to the Scrutiny Committees.
When required to assist task and finish groups the Committees can co-opt external expertise
Under the remit of the Scrutiny Committees, they can call in decisions made by the Cabinet.
Senior officers regularly meet with Scrutiny Chairs to ensure effective communications.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Providing members and senior management with regular reports on service delivery plans and on progress
towards outcome achievement.
What Assurance Do Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing and distributing timely reports that are adhered to
We Want
What Assurance Do There is a calendar of dates for the submission and publishing reports which is adhered to
We Get
Use of Pentana
Updates to CMT and relevant committees
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring there is consistency between specification stages (such as budgets) and post implementation
reporting (e.g. financial statements)
What Assurance Do Financial standards, guidance.
We Want
Financial and contract procedure rules.
What Assurance Do Financial and contract procedure rules and financial guidance are in place and reviewed and updated
We Get
regularly. There is a robust project management process in place with post implementation reviews
completed at the end of the project.
What is missing
Nothing identified

Page 150

Supporting Principle Aligning the risk management strategy and policies on internal control with achieving the objectives
What Assurance Do Risk management strategy.
We Want
Audit plan.
Audit reports.
What Assurance Do The risk management strategy is reviewed, updated and approved annually by the Audit & Governance
We Get
Committee.
The Audit plan is based on an internal audit risk assessment which takes into account risks identified by
Heads of Service and endorsed by the Audit & Governance Committee. Quarterly reports of progress
against the audit plan are submitted to the Audit & Governance Committee
Audit reports are concise and reported in a timely manner. All high priority recommendations and those
arising from no and limited assurance overall opinion reports are followed up, the results of which are
reported to the Audit & Governance Committee. All recommendations are assigned to the relevant officers
for actioning.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Evaluating and monitoring the authority’s risk management and internal control on a regular basis
What Assurance Do Risk management strategy/policy has been formally approved and adopted and is reviewed and updated on
We Want
a regular basis
What Assurance Do The Risk Management Policy/Strategy is reviewed, updated and then approved by the Audit & Governance
We Get
Committee on an annual basis. Quarter updates of the risk management action plan are also submitted to
the Committee.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring effective counter fraud and anti-corruption arrangements are in place
What Assurance Do
We Want

Compliance with the relevant codes of practice, best practice.
Counter fraud policies and strategies.
Participation in data matching (e.g. NFI)
What Assurance Do Routine reports on counter fraud to the Audit & Governance Committee. Dedicated resource in the Corporate
We Get
Anti Fraud Officer.
Regularly reviewed counter fraud policies and strategies including anti money laundering, whistleblowing.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring additional assurance on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of governance,
risk management and control is provided by the internal auditor.
What Assurance Do Annual Governance Statement.
We Want
Effective internal audit resource and maintained.

What Assurance Do
We Get

Page 151

The Annual Governance Statement is produced in accordance with the guideline alongside the Code of
Corporate Governance. The Annual Governance Statement is signed by the Leader and the Chief
Executive.
Internal Audit is adequately resourced and complies with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).
An annual self-assessment against the PSIAS is completed and in line with the Standards and External
Quality Assessment (EQA) is completed every five years. The EQA was completed in 2017 and confirmed
compliance with the Standards. It is next due in 2022.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring an audit committee or equivalent group or function which is independent of the executive and
accountable to the governing body:
- Provides further source of effective assurance regarding arrangements for managing risk and
maintaining an effective control environment
- That its recommendations are listened to and acted upon
What Assurance Do Audit committee complies with best practice. See Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities
We Want
and Police (CIPFA 2013)
Terms of reference
Membership
Training
What Assurance Do The terms of reference for the Audit & Governance Committee are detailed within the Constitution.
We Get
Members of the Committee are independent of the Cabinet and the Chair reports annually to Full Council.
The Audit & Governance Committee receive quarterly update reports on Risk Management which include a
review of the Corporate Risk Register, an update of the risk management action plan and they approve the
Risk Management Policy on an annual basis.
Any recommendations made by the Audit & Governance Committee are recorded in the minutes and acted
upon.
The Audit & Governance Committee complete an annual self-assessment against Audit Committee guidance
issued by CIPFA and any areas for improvement are acted upon.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring effective arrangements are in place for the safe collection, storage, use and sharing of data,
including processes to Safeguard personal data
What Assurance Do Data management framework and procedures
We Want
Designated data protection officer
Data protection policies and procedures
What Assurance Do The Council has a designated Data Protection Officer, with the Information Governance Manager assigned to
We Get
this role.

Page 152

The Council has reviewed a framework of Information Governance policies and procedures with the view of
these being adopted throughout the Authority in 2020. These include but are not limited to an Information
Security Policy, Data Protection Policy, Data Protection Impact Assessment Procedure, Cyber Security
Policy and Business Continuity Plan.
Cyber Security awareness rolled out to staff across the Authority.
Mandatory GDPR/FOI training for all staff.
Work continues to progress in relation to ongoing compliance to the new General Data Protection
Regulations (GDPR) requirements with a full audit being undertaken in 2019/2020.
PSN compliance.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring effective arrangements are in place and operating effectively when sharing data with other bodies
What Assurance Do Information Sharing subject to defined Information Sharing protocols.
We Want
A register of Information Sharing Agreements held centrally.
What Assurance Do The Council has signed up to Staffordshire One Information Sharing Protocol.
We Get
Individual Information Sharing Agreements are in place within various area (EG, Benefits, Environmental
Health, Housing) with details of such agreements available on the Council’s Intranet.
A register of Information Sharing agreements is held by the Councils Data Protection Officer.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Reviewing and auditing regularly the quality and accuracy of data used in decision making and performance
monitoring
What Assurance Do Data quality procedures and reports
We Want
Data validation procedures
What Assurance Do Auditing of data is completed in accordance with the risk based internal audit plan.
We Get
Data is validated as part of the internal controls in place within the various systems.
Knowledge, Performance and Insight service providing information to aid accurate and informed decision
making and performance monitoring.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring financial management supports both long term achievement of outcomes and short-term financial
and operational performance
What Assurance Do Financial management supports the delivery of services and transformational change as well as securing
We Want
good stewardship
What Assurance Do Council, on 22nd February 2022, approved a 3 year Medium Term Financial Strategy for the General Fund with
We Get
a Council Tax increase of £5 for the year – in order to continue to deliver those services essential to the Local
Community.

With regard to the Housing Revenue Account, a 5 year MTFS was approved by Council including significant
investment in Regeneration projects to meet future housing needs and sustain the HRA in the longer term.
The Medium Term Financial Planning process is being challenged by the ongoing uncertain economic
conditions. The attached forecast is based on a 5 year period, but does contain a number of uncertainties.
For two years, the government has only held single-year Spending Reviews, with 2019 being a single year due
to the political turbulence around Brexit, and 2020 being a single year, given the COVID-19 pandemic.
However, on 7th September 2021, the Chancellor wrote to Secretaries of State to confirm the government’s
intention to complete a multi-year Spending Review (SR2021), setting revenue and capital budgets for 2022/23
to 2024/25.
As part of the recent Spending Review, no announcement was made about the government’s plans for funding
reform or a reset of the Business Rates Retention (BRR) system, both of which were originally expected to be
implemented in 2019/20, but which have been delayed a number of times.

Page 153

The 2022/23 local government finance settlement has now been published, for one year only and is based on
the Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels. This is the first time since 2015 that, in the context of a multiyear Spending Review, the government has only provided local authorities with a single-year settlement.
No detailed announcements were made on funding reform, though Government confirmed that it is committed
to ensuring that funding allocations for councils are based on an up-to-date assessment of their needs and
resources.
While this means the Council will be able to retain its business rate growth for 2022/23, it also means that the
uncertainty continues and potentially the Council still faces losing this growth from 2023/24 as, over the coming
months, the Government have stated that they will work with the sector before consulting on funding reform.
Financial resilience is and has been the key requirement for local authorities at any time, but in the current
crisis it has assumed unprecedented importance. Cabinet on 22nd October 2020 approved the Recovery and
Reset programme which aims to consider how we can tackle the financial challenges facing the council as a
result of the coronavirus pandemic. This will include reviewing services, reducing waste demand on services
(basically this is any action or step in a process that does not add value to the customer), exploring
opportunities for income generation and identifying any further savings.

Page 154

The Council remains committed to promoting and stimulating economic growth and regeneration; meeting
our housing needs; creating a vibrant town centre economy and protecting those most vulnerable in our
communities. The Council is responding to these challenges by considering the opportunities to make further
savings and /or grow our income. We are ambitious with our commercial view and will continue to work hard
to identify income streams that enable us to continue to meet the needs of our residents.
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous years which means that
we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, collaboration and transformation.
As part of the Reset and Recovery programme a strand of work entitled ‘SMART working’ has been
developed which aim to ensure staff are working with terms and conditions that reflect more agile ways of
working and further support the principles of the R&R programme.
Significant investment with our technology to support this way of work continues with significant emphasis on
digitising services for customers continues with the launch of the customer and housing portals.
This approach will change the organisation and how it works; will require Members to put evidence and
insight at the heart of our decision making to ensure that we are transparent about the rationale for our
decisions and plans; will involve managed risks and will sustain essential services critical in supporting the
most vulnerable in our communities at a time when demand is increasing and resources reducing.
Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Cabinet review the most up-to-date budget forecasts on a
quarterly basis, and discuss the delivery of the planned savings to support our Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS).
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring well-developed financial management is integrated at all levels of planning and control, including
management of financial risks and controls
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get
What is missing

Budget monitoring reports
Budget monitoring reports are available monthly and ad hoc as required.
Accountants complete regular budget monitoring reports with budget managers.
Nothing identified

Core Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective
accountability
Supporting Principle Writing and communicating reports for the public and other stakeholders in an understandable style
appropriate to the intended audience and ensuring that they are easy to access and interrogate.

Page 155

Striking a balance between providing the right amount of information to satisfy transparency demands and
enhance public scrutiny while not being too onerous to provide and for users to understand.
What Assurance Do Website
We Want
Annual report
What Assurance Do All reports are made available on the website for the public to access apart from anything confidential as laid
We Get
down by the Local Government Act 1972 and subsequent enabling legislation and guidance
The Corporate Plan is published on an annual basis and made available on the website.
All information is made available in accordance with the Transparency Agenda. Where Freedom of
Information requests are made and it is beneficial to publish the data on the website, this is completed to
ensure that the Authority is transparent and it also reduces the number of information requests received.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Reporting at least annually on performance, value for money and the stewardship of its resources.
What Assurance Do Formal annual report which includes key points raised by external scrutineers and service users’ feedback on
We Want
service delivery.
Annual financial statements
What Assurance Do The Corporate Plan is refreshed on an annual basis.
We Get
The financial statements are produced in accordance with the laid down timetable and presented to the Audit
& Governance Committee for approval. The External Auditors produce the Annual Audit Letter and the Audit
Findings Report which is presented to the Audit & Governance Committee.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring members and senior management own the results.
What Assurance Do Appropriate approvals
We Want
What Assurance Do Decisions approved by Cabinet and Full Council as detailed within the Constitution
We Get
Accounts (including AGS) approved by Audit & Governance Committee.
Minutes of the meetings are made available on the website.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring robust arrangements for assessing the extent to which the principles contained in the Framework
have been applied and publishing the results on this assessment including an action plan for improvement
and evidence to demonstrate good governance (Annual Governance Statement).
What Assurance Do Annual Governance Statement
We Want
What Assurance Do Results and actions arising from this assessment will go in the Annual Governance Statement for approval
We Get
by Audit & Governance Committee
What is missing
Nothing identified

Supporting Principle
What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Ensuring that the Framework is applied to jointly managed or shared service organisations as appropriate.
Annual Governance Statement

What Assurance Do
We Want
What Assurance Do
We Get

Format follows best practice

The Annual Governance Statement is prepared by the Governance Group which is made up of lead officers
within the Authority. The revised Personal Development Review document will include reference to the core
principles of Corporate Governance.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring the performance information that accompanies the financial statements is prepared on a consistent
and timely basis and the statements allow for comparison with other similar organisations.

Page 156

High level corporate plan projects/programmes and corporate risk register included in the Statement of
Accounts
Financial statements prepared in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice (as all Councils should) including
relevant performance information from the Corporate Plan.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring that recommendations for corrective action made by external audit are acted upon
Ensuring an effective internal audit service with direct access to members is in place which provides
assurance with regard to governance arrangements and recommendations are acted upon
What Assurance Do Recommendations have informed positive improvement
We Want
Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit
Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards
What Assurance Do All recommendations made by the External Auditors are acted upon.
We Get
Compliant and supporting evidence in the review of arrangements in relation to compliance with the CIPFA
Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit and compliance to the Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards which has been further demonstrated following and external assessment completed in 2017.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Welcoming peer challenge, reviews and inspections from regulatory bodies and implementing
recommendations.
What Assurance Do Recommendations have informed positive improvement
We Want
What Assurance Do A Peer Assessment planned for 2020/21 was delayed due to the pandemic.
We Get
What is missing
Nothing identified

Supporting Principle Gaining assurance on risks associated with delivering services through third parties and that this is
evidenced in the annual governance statement.
What Assurance Do Annual Governance Statement
We Want
What Assurance Do Partnership arrangements in place designed to help the Council work with its partners to ensure that all
We Get
partnerships have good systems of governance.
Informed by Corporate Risk Register.
What is missing
Nothing identified
Supporting Principle Ensuring that when working in partnership, arrangements for accountability are clear and that the need for
wider public accountability has been recognised and met.
What Assurance Do Community Strategy
We Want
What Assurance Do Partnership arrangements in place designed to help the Council work with its partners to ensure that all
We Get
partnerships have good systems of governance.
What is missing
Nothing identified

Page 157

This page is intentionally left blank

cipfa.org

CIPFA Guidance to Internal Auditors and the Leadership Team and
Audit Committee of Local Government Bodies
Head of Internal Audit Annual Opinions: Addressing the Risk of a
Limitation of Scope
Introduction and rationale for the guidance
The impact of COVID-19 on all the public services has been considerable and for internal auditors it has
raised the question of whether they will be able to undertake sufficient internal audit work to gain assurance
during 2020/21. This is a key consideration to fulfil the requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards (PSIAS) for the head of internal audit (HIA) to issue an annual opinion on the overall adequacy
and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control. This opinion
is in turn one of the sources of assurance that the public body relies on for its annual governance statement.
CIPFA recognises that local government bodies are struggling with considerable challenges and are having
to make difficult decisions on how best to use their available staff and financial resources to meet critical
needs. However, the professional and regulatory expectations on local government bodies to ensure that
their internal audit arrangements conform with PSIAS have not changed. In this difficult situation, heads of
internal audit will need to consider whether they can still issue the annual opinion or whether there will need
to be a limitation of scope. A limitation of scope arises where the HIA is unable to draw on sufficient
assurance to issue a complete annual opinion in accordance with the professional standards. This is an
issue not only for the HIA but also for the leadership team and the audit committee who normally rely on that
opinion. It may also have wider consequences for stakeholder assessments of the organisation.
While the limitation of scope will only be formally published in 2021 as part of the HIA’s annual report, this
guidance addresses the importance of early identification of the risk. It suggests mitigating actions to be
taken now to avoid a limited scope where possible. If a limited scope does become necessary the guidance
suggests possible wording to use in the report.

Status of the CIPFA guidance
This guidance is prepared by CIPFA for internal auditors working in or for local government in the UK. CIPFA
is the Relevant Internal Audit Standard Setter (RIASS) for local government and works with the other UK
RIASS1 to mandate the PSIAS across the public sector. This guidance has been shared with the other
RIASS and other members of the Internal Audit Standards Advisory Board including the Chartered Institute
of Internal Auditors. Other sectors should look to the appropriate RIASS for guidance.
This guidance is a sector specific requirement for local government in the UK.

1

The Relevant Internal Audit Standard Setters are: HM Treasury in respect of central government; the Scottish
Government, the Department of Finance Northern Ireland and the Welsh Government in respect of central government
and the health sector in their administrations; the Department of Health and Social Care in respect of the health sector
in England (excluding foundation trusts); and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy in respect of
local government across the UK.

Page 159
CIPFA, registered with the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales No. 231060 and the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator No.SCO37963.
CIPFA Business Limited, the trading arm of CIPFA, registered in England and Wales no.2376684. Registered Office 77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN.

Key requirements for local government bodies
The key requirements that heads of internal audit, leadership teams and audit committees should follow are
set out below and are supported by additional explanation.
1.

2.
3.
4.

5.
6.

The HIA should plan to obtain sufficient assurance to support the annual opinion, taking into account
both internal audit work and other sources of assurance. The reliance the HIA is placing on other
sources of assurance should be disclosed in the overall opinion.
The HIA, leadership team and audit committee should review and discuss internal audit capacity
where there are concerns and develop an action plan to mitigate the risk.
The HIA should make best use of their audit resources to maximise assurance.
Where the HIA considers that a limitation of scope is likely, the leadership team and audit committee
should be advised promptly. The HIA should set out the likely consequences assessed and advise on
remedial action to avoid a limitation of scope.
The HIA annual report should contain a clear explanation of any limitation of scope along with its
causes and plans to address the situation going forward.
Where the HIA annual report and opinion contains a limitation of scope the authority should state this
in the annual governance statement.

Detailed guidance to support implementation
Planning adequate assurance to support the annual opinion
Just as in more normal times the HIA should plan audit work to ensure that sufficient assurance will be
available to support the annual opinion. This guidance will not go into details about risk-based audit planning
but it emphasises that the professional requirements of PSIAS have not changed. It is likely that internal
audit plans will be more fluid than normal as a result of the impact of the pandemic on the organisation. Head
of internal audit should already have agreed new audit priorities to cover the new risks and changes from the
impact of COVID-19 and that work will provide support for the annual opinion.
CIPFA recognises that the impact of COVID-19 and the capacity of the organisation to respond will vary as a
result of a number of factors. Alongside direct internal audit work the HIA can also place reliance on other
assurance providers, as set out in PSIAS 250. However it is important to recognise that the quality and
availability of that other assurance may also be impacted adversely by the pandemic in some organisations.
These factors are likely to be beyond the control of the HIA.
The factors impacting on the availability of assurance from internal audit and other sources of assurance
include:






the changing risks and impacts on the organisation itself
whether key governance, risk management and internal control arrangements have deteriorated or
been maintained
changes to the resource base of internal audit, whether staff or budget related
demands on internal audit for any advisory or non-audit support that will not directly support the HIA
opinion
operational disruptions that impact on the access of internal auditors to key staff, information or
systems resulting in greater inefficiency and reduced outputs.

Where an organisation has adopted a comprehensive assurance framework then this may be used by the
HIA to support the opinion, if those other sources of assurance are demonstrated to be robust. CIPFA’s
Financial Management Code (FM Code), which is applicable to all UK local government bodies, has

Page 160

assurance as one of its key principles. Principle C of the FM Code clearly sets out the responsibility of the
leadership team to establish and support appropriate arrangements:
The leadership team demonstrates in its actions and behaviours responsibility for governance and
internal control.
The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit also emphasises the responsibility of the
leadership team for establishing wider frameworks of assurance and accountability.

Engagement between the leadership team, audit committee and HIA
The PSIAS require regular communication and engagement with the leadership team and audit committee
on the development of the internal audit plan (PSIAS 2010 and 2020), its execution (PSIAS 2060) and the
results of the audit engagements (PSIAS 2400). Each organisation will have its own agreed arrangements in
place that will also take into account the terms of reference of the audit committee. The CIPFA Position
Statement on Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police (2018) sets out the responsibility for the audit
committee to provide oversight of the independence, performance and professionalism of internal audit.
PSIAS 2030 requires the HIA to ensure that internal audit resources are appropriate, sufficient and
effectively deployed to achieve the approved plan. If the HIA believes that the level of agreed resources will
impact adversely on the provision of the internal audit opinion, the consequences must be brought to the
attention of the leadership team and audit committee promptly. The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the
Head of Internal Audit is clear that to perform their role effectively the HIA must lead and direct an internal
audit service that is resourced appropriately, sufficiently and effectively (Principle 4).
It is the responsibility of the organisation’s leadership team to provide the HIA with the resources, expertise
and systems necessary to perform their role effectively. Therefore it is essential for there to be meaningful
engagement between the HIA, leadership team and audit committee. If the HIA has concerns about the
quantity or calibre of internal audit resources available or there are other operational barriers to the delivery
of the audit plan, they should assess the impact and likely consequences for the annual opinion and work
with the leadership team and audit committee to find solutions to bridge the gap.

Making effective use of internal audit resources
When delivering the risk-based audit plan the HIA, supported by the leadership team, should make every
effort to make best use of available internal audit resources over the remainder of the year. Possible actions
could include:








Streamlining audit processes to increase capacity.
Narrowing the focus of audit scopes to examine only key risks
Filling vacant audit posts, whether permanently, on a temporary basis or buying in audit expertise from
an external provider.
Exploring opportunities for internal secondments or other support for the audit team from non-internal
audit staff who can nevertheless undertake some internal audit work.
Evaluating any requests for advisory work and prioritising assurance work and advisory work that
supports the annual opinion.
Avoiding diversion of internal audit staff on to counter fraud work, or other non-core audit work,
beyond that which is already accommodated within the plan.
Increasing communication with client services to help ensure good co-operation from client services
and avoid unnecessary delays in undertaking engagements.

Page 161

Where the internal audit service provides services to partner bodies or on a commercial basis then
agreements in place may provide little scope to amend resourcing in the short term.

Early identification of a limitation of scope
A limitation of scope arises where the HIA is unable to draw on sufficient assurance to issue a complete
annual opinion. This should not be confused with an adverse opinion, which arises when sufficient work has
been completed to enable the HIA to conclude that arrangements are not adequate and effective.
There are three possible scenarios for a limitation of scope:
1. The HIA has obtained insufficient assurance across each of the three aspects of the opinion:
governance, risk management and internal control, and is therefore unable to issue an opinion.
2. The HIA has obtained insufficient assurance across one of the three aspects of the opinion. The
limitation of scope will be restricted to that aspect only.
3. The HIA has obtained insufficient assurance across a significant subset of risk or area of operation
that is material. An example might be where there were significant engagements set out in the plan
that the audit service could not complete.
Where one of these situations is a risk then the HIA should take steps to inform the leadership team and
audit committee of it as soon as possible and identify the underlying reasons. As part of the discussions with
the leadership team and audit committee the HIA should identify the following:





the extent of limitation of scope that is likely
the reasons for limitation being necessary
remedial steps planned or sought to minimise the extent of the limitation
consequences of not addressing the risk that a limitation of scope will impact on the opinion.

Understanding the consequences of a limitation of scope
The primary consequence is that the leadership team and those charged with governance do not receive
independent assurance that the framework of governance, risk management and control is adequate and
effective. Without this assurance the organisation should consider the risk of significant control weaknesses,
inefficiencies or poor performance remaining unidentified. In addition, opportunities for improvement may be
lost. While internal audit can only offer reasonable assurance, not a 100% guarantee, the presence of that
reasonable assurance is rightly valued.
Other consequences to consider:





The organisation will need to highlight the limitation in its annual governance statement when referring
to the HIA opinion
Where the reason for the limitation also results in significant non-conformance with PSIAS during the
year, then the HIA must report that as part of the quality assurance and improvement programme
(QAIP) (PSIAS 1320). The results of the QAIP must be included in the annual report (PSIAS 2450).
CIPFA’s view is that if the limitation of scope is so significant that the HIA cannot provide an annual
opinion that fulfils the PSIAS requirement then it is likely that there are other areas of nonconformance. Taken as a whole the internal audit service may no longer conform with PSIAS.
The internal audit team is only able to state that they conform with the PSIAS if the results of the QAIP
can demonstrate that. So if the last EQA concluded that the service conformed, but this year’s QAIP
demonstrates that the internal audit service does not, then it cannot claim to conform with PSIAS.
Non-conformance should be considered for inclusion in the annual governance statement.

Page 162








Non-conformance with the PSIAS should also be taken into account when assessing the strength of
assurance and the organisation’s compliance with the CIPFA FM Code.
If the internal audit service bids for or supplies its services to other organisations or partner bodies
then losing conformance with the standards may have commercial consequences.
The organisation’s external auditor may take the limitation on the audit opinion or non-conformance
with PSIAS into account when reviewing overall governance arrangements under the value for money
or best value scope of the external audit. Different external audit arrangements apply across the UK
and audit committees may wish to discuss this matter with their local auditors to understand the
consequences.
Internal audit will have a smaller than anticipated knowledge base to support future audit planning.
The HIA will need to consider the implications for planning and resources as a consequence.
Outside bodies who may have looked to the internal audit opinion as evidence for the organisation’s
sound governance may draw adverse inferences from the reported opinion.

Suggested wording of the limitation
In the annual report the HIA should detail the impact of COVID-19 on internal audit and the underlying
causes of the limitation of scope. It should set out steps taken to mitigate or compensate, for example where
additional reliance has been placed on other assurance providers.
The PSIAS do not specify the wording to use for the opinion section within the annual report but it should be
clearly linked to the PSIAS requirement of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s
framework of governance, risk management and control. The suggested wordings below apply when there is
a need to accommodate a limitation of scope.

Page 163

Type of limitation

Suggested wording

The HIA has obtained
insufficient assurance across
each of the three aspects of
the opinion: governance, risk
management and internal
control, and is therefore
unable to issue an opinion.

The results of the work carried out by internal audit, taken
together with other sources of assurance, are not sufficient to
support an HIA annual opinion on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk
management and control. This opinion is a requirement of PSIAS.
The results of internal audit work concluded during the year and a
summary of where it is possible to place reliance on the work of
other assurance providers is presented in the annual report but
this does not result in a comprehensive opinion.
This limitation of scope has arisen because of… [reasons]
To avoid similar limitations in future the HIA plans to… [actions].

The HIA has obtained
insufficient assurance across
one of the three aspects of the
opinion: governance, risk
management and internal
control. The limitation of scope
will be restricted to that aspect
only.

The results of the work carried out by internal audit, taken
together with other sources of assurance, are not sufficient to
support an HIA annual opinion on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of [specify one of
governance, or risk management or control].
The results of internal audit work concluded during the year and a
summary of where it is possible to place reliance on the work of
other assurance providers in respect of [governance or risk
management or control] is presented in the annual report but this
does not result in an opinion on this aspect.
[The HIA can then present their opinion on the remaining two
aspects required.]
This limitation of scope has arisen because of… [reasons]
To avoid similar limitations in future the HIA plans to… [actions].

The HIA has obtained
insufficient assurance across a
significant subset of risk or
area of operation that is
material.

The HIA opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the
organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and
control is [set out opinion].
The HIA opinion however must exclude [specify area excluded]
as there is insufficient assurance available for the HIA to offer
reasonable assurance.
This limitation of scope has arisen because of… [reasons]
To avoid similar limitations in future the HIA plans to… [actions].

Page 164

Note it is possible for the HIA to separate out their annual opinions on governance, risk management and
control if it is more meaningful to do so. This might arise for example where one aspect was significantly
weaker than the other.

Ensuring there is a robust plan for future years
The HIA, leadership team and audit committee should work together to ensure that internal audit will be
sustainable in 2021/22 and onwards. Specifically, they should ensure that the HIA can develop a risk-based
plan that will support the annual opinion. Regular reporting and monitoring should take place to ensure that
achievement of the plan is on track.
Where the organisation has identified weaknesses in any assurance arrangements beyond internal audit
then the leadership team should develop appropriate improvement plans and the audit committee should
monitor these regularly.
For further information please contact Diana Melville, Governance Advisor CIPFA
diana.melville@cipfa.org
Approved by the Public Financial Management Board, CIPFA
19 November 2020

Page 165

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
8th June 2022
Report of the Executive Director Finance
REVIEW OF THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, MINIMUM
REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT STATEMENT
2022/23 and the
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT
STRATEGY MID-YEAR REVIEW REPORT 2021/22
Purpose
To review the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision
Statement and Annual Investment Statement 2022/23 and the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2021/22 approved by
Council on 22nd February 2022 and 14th December 2021 respectively.
Recommendation
That Members consider the Treasury Management Reports, as detailed within the reports
attached at Appendix A and Appendix B and highlight any changes for recommendation
to Cabinet.
Executive Summary
At its meeting in February each year, the Council approve the Treasury Management Strategy and
Prudential Indicators including, as required by the Code, that the Audit & Governance Committee be
given the opportunity to scrutinise the strategy and policies, as well as receiving regular monitoring
reports.
With regard to the appointment of a Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the
Treasury Management Strategy and Policies, the code suggests:
•
•
•
•

•

This involves reviewing the Treasury Management policy and procedures and making
recommendations to the responsible body;
Public Service Organisations have a responsibility to ensure that those charged with
governance have access to the skills and knowledge they require to carry out this role
effectively;
Those charged with Governance also have a personal responsibility to ensure they have the
appropriate skills and training in their role;
The procedures for monitoring Treasury Management activities through audit, scrutiny and
inspection should be sound and rigorously applied, with an openness of access to information
and well-defined arrangements for the review and implementation of recommendations for
change; and
This includes the provision of monitoring information and regular review by Councillors in both
executive and Scrutiny functions.

In compliance with the above, a copy of the Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators
for 2022/23 is attached at Appendix A, together with a copy of the Mid-year Report on the Treasury
Management Service 2021/22 at Appendix B.

Page 167

Equalities implications
There are no equalities implications arising from the report.
Legal implications
Approval of Prudential Indicators and an Annual Investment Strategy is a legal requirement of
the Local Government Act 2003. Members are required under the CIPFA Code of Practice to
have ownership and understanding when making decisions on Treasury Management matters.
Resource and Value for Money implications
All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.
Risk implications
Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been adopted
throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes.
Report Author:
Please contact Jo Goodfellow, Assistant Director Finance or Stefan Garner, Executive Director
Finance, extension 241 or 242.

Background Papers:-

Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term
Financial Strategy 2022/23 (Including Treasury Management
Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy
Statement and Annual Investment Statement 2022/23, and
Corporate Capital Strategy, Council 22nd February 2022)
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual
Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2021/22,
Council 14th December 2021

Page 168

APPENDIX A

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, TREASURY MANAGEMENT
POLICY STATEMENT, MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND
ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2022/23

Purpose
To comply with the requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Policy in reporting to
Council the proposed strategy for the forthcoming year and the Local Government Act 2003 with
the reporting of the Prudential Indicators.
Executive Summary
The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to produce prudential indicators in line
with the Prudential Code.
This report outlines the Council’s prudential indicators for 2022/3 – 2024/25 and sets out the
expected Treasury operations for this period. This report and associated tables fulfil the
statutory requirement of the Local Government Act 2003 by:
•

Reporting the prudential indicators as required by the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local
Authorities;

•

Setting the Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy, which defines how the
Council will pay for capital assets through revenue contributions each year (as required
by Regulation under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007);

•

Setting the Treasury Management Strategy in accordance with the CIPFA Code of
Practice on Treasury Management;

•

Adopting the Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement as recommended within
the CIPFA Code of Practice 2017;

•

Setting the Investment Strategy (in accordance with the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) investment guidance); and

•

Affirming the effective management and responsibility for the control of risk and clearly
identifying our appetite for risk. The Council’s risk appetite is low in order to give priority
to Security, Liquidity then Yield (or return on investments).

Under the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice and associated Guidance Notes 2017,
the following four clauses have been adopted:
a) This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury
management:

Page 169

A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and
approach to risk management of its treasury management activities; and
Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs) setting out the manner in which the
organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how
it will manage and control those activities.
b) This Council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and
activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the
year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close.
c) This Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring
of its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution
and administration of treasury management decisions to the Executive Director
Finance, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and
TMPs.
d) This Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible for
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.
Equalities Implications
There are no equalities implications arising from the report.
Legal Implications
Approval of Prudential Indicators and an Annual Investment Strategy is a legal requirement of
the Local Government Act 2003. Members are required under the CIPFA Code of Practice to
have ownership and understanding when making decisions on Treasury Management matters.
Resource and Value for Money Implications
All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital Strategy.
Risk Implications
Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been
adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes.
A Glossary of terms utilised within the report can be found at ANNEX 9.
Report Author Please contact Jo Goodfellow, Head of Finance, ext 241 or Stefan Garner,
Executive Director Finance, ext 242

Page 170

Background Papers:-

Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23
Mid-year Treasury Report 2021/22 Council, 14/12/21
Annual Treasury Report 2020/21 Council 21/09/21
Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Treasury
Management Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue
Provision Policy Statement & Annual Investment Statement
2021/22 Council 23/02/21
Treasury Management Training slides 20th November 2019
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public
Services 2017
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public
Services 2021
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local
Authorities 2021
DCLG Guidance on Local Government Investments March
2010
Local Government Act 2003
Treasury Management Practices 2022/23 (Operational
Detail)

Page 171

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised during
the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the Treasury Management operation is to ensure that
this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies
are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk
appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.
The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the Council’s
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially
the longer term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending
obligations. This management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans,
or using longer term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is critical, as the balance
of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending commitments as
they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects. The treasury operations
will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash
deposits affecting the available budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves and
balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal
will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.
CIPFA defines treasury management as:
The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking,
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.
Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function, these
activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually from capital expenditure),
and are separate from the day to day treasury management activities.
1.2 Reporting Requirements
1.2.1 Capital Strategy
The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local authorities to
prepare a capital strategy report which will provide the following:
•

a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services;

•

an overview of how the associated risk is managed;

•

the implications for future financial sustainability.

Page 172

The aim of the capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full Council fully
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements,
governance procedures and risk appetite.
The capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This ensures the
separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the
policy and commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset.
1.2.2 Treasury Management Reporting
The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports
each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.
Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy (this report) –
The first, and most important, report is forward looking and covers:
•
•
•
•

the capital plans (including prudential indicators);
a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy (how residual capital expenditure is charged to
revenue over time);
the Treasury Management Strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be
organised) including treasury indicators; and
an Investment Strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

A Mid Year Treasury Management Report
This is primarily a progress report and will update Members on the capital position, amending
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision.
An Annual Treasury Report
This is a backward looking review document and provides details of a selection of actual
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates
within the strategy.
Scrutiny
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being recommended to the
Council. This role is undertaken by the Audit and Governance Committee.
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23
The strategy for 2022/23 covers two main areas:
Capital Issues
•
•

the capital expenditure plans and the associated Prudential Indicators;
the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy.

Treasury Management Issues
• the current treasury position;

Page 173

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

treasury indicators which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
prospects for interest rates;
the borrowing strategy;
policy on borrowing in advance of need;
debt rescheduling;
the investment strategy;
creditworthiness policy; and
policy on use of external service providers.

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, DLUHC Investment
Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIFPA Prudential Code, and the CIPFA Treasury
Management Code.
1.4 Training
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with responsibility for
treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management. This especially applies to
Members responsible for scrutiny. Training on Treasury Management issues was most recently
delivered for Members in November 2019, with training on the Corporate Capital Strategy in
February 2020, and will be provided as and when required. Further training is planned in February
2022. The training needs of Treasury Management officers are regularly reviewed.
1.5 Treasury Management Consultants
The Council uses Link Group, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury management advisors.
The Council recognises that responsibility for Treasury Management decisions remains with the
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon the services of our
external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all available information,
including, but not solely, our treasury advisors.
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of Treasury Management
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly
agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.
1.6 Updated Treasury Management and Prudential Codes
CIPFA released new editions of the Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code on 20th
December 2021. CIPFA has stated that there will be a soft launch of the codes and that Councils
may defer introducing revised reporting requirements until 2023/24 financial year. Annex 11 sets
out a summary of the revised requirements. We are working to ensure that the Council is fully
compliant by that date.
2. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2022/23 – 2024/25
The Council’s Capital Expenditure plans are the key driver of Treasury Management activity.
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are
designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.

Page 174

2.1 Capital Expenditure
This prudential Indicator is a summary of the Council’s Capital Expenditure plans, both those
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. Members are asked to approve
the capital expenditure forecasts:
Capital
Expenditure

2020/21

2021/22

2021/22

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

£m

Actual

Predicted
Outturn*

Budget

Reprofiling

Estimate**

Estimate

Estimate

Non-HRA

1.133

5.942

18.020

11.974

11.790

3.313

1.201

HRA

8.396

10.588

21.458

10.173

10.715

6.925

9.000

-

-

-

22.505

10.238

10.200

Commercial
Activities/NonFinancial
Investments ***
Total

-

9.529

4.083

12.849

4.718

20.613

52.327

26.865

* Actual Projected at Period 9

** excludes projected slippage from 2021/22

*** commercial activities/non-financial investments relate to areas such as capital expenditure
on investment properties & investments in property funds.
The projected slippage into 2022/23 of £26.865m relates mainly to Future High Street Funds
(FHSF) schemes, Solway LATC, and Regeneration & Affordable Housing schemes.
Other long-term liabilities - the above financing need excludes other long-term liabilities, such
as PFI and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments.
The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are
being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding
(borrowing) need.
Capital
Financing
(GF/HRA)
Capital
Receipts
Capital Grants
Capital
Reserves
Revenue
Reserves
Revenue
Contributions
Net financing
need for the
year
Total

2020/21
Actual

2021/22

2021/22

2021/22

Predicted Budget
Outturn*

Reprofiling

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Estimate** Estimate Estimate

1.130

7.065

19.365

8.133

0.663

2.733

1.580

1.917

4.884

12.699

7.815

11.722

0.601

0.571

2.190

4.355

13.260

8.248

5.751

3.921

5.086

2.581

3.505

4.695

1.171

4.117

2.934

2.934

0.151

0.066

0.066

-

-

-

-

1.561

0.737

2.242

1.499

0.252

0.050

0.030

9.529

20.613

52.327

26.865

22.505

10.238

10.200

* Actual Projected at Period 9

** excludes projected slippage from 2021/22

Page 175

The net financing need for commercial activities/non-financial investments included in the
above table against expenditure is shown below:
Commercial
Activities/NonFinancial
Investments

2020/21

2021/22

2021/22

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Actual

Predicted
Outturn*

Budget

ReEstimate
profiling

Estimate

Estimate

-

4.083

12.849

4.718

-

-

-

-

(4.083)

(12.849)

(4.718)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Capital
Expenditure
Financing Costs
Net financing
need for the
year
Percentage of
total net
financing need

2.2 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The
CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for
from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s
indebtedness and so its underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure above, which has
not immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will increase the CFR.
The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each
asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used.
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases). Whilst
these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of
scheme include a borrowing facility by the PFI lease provider and so the Council is not
required to separately borrow for these schemes. The Council currently has no such schemes
within the CFR.
The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below:
£m

Capital Financing
Requirement
CFR – non housing
CFR – housing
CFR - commercial
activities/non-financial
investments
Total CFR
Movement in CFR

2020/21
Actual

2021/22
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate
Estimate

3.612
69.893

4.096
69.990

5.029
70.590

4.800
70.590

4.584
70.590

73.506

74.085

75.619

75.389

75.174

1.450

0.580

1.534

(0.230)

(0.215)

Page 176

Movement in CFR
represented by
Net financing need for the year
(above)
Less MRP/VRP and other
financing movements
Movement in CFR

1.561

0.737

1.751

0.050

0.030

(0.110)

(0.158)

(0.217)

(0.280)

(0.245)

1.450

0.580

1.534

(0.230)

(0.215)

* CFR 2019/20 £72.055m
A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members are aware of
the size and scope of any commercial activity in relation to the Council’s overall financial
position. The capital expenditure figures shown in 2.1 and the details above demonstrate the
scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider the scale proportionate to the
Council’s remaining activity.
2.3 Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset
sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and
anticipated day to day cash flow balances.
Year End Resources

2020/21

2021/22

£m

Actual

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Fund Balances/Reserves
Capital Receipts
Provisions*
Other
Total Core Funds
Working Capital**
(Under)/Over Borrowing
Expected Investments

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

42.972
20.282
2.637
65.891
6.171
(10.445)

43.250
14.528
2.637
60.415
9.350
(11.025)

22.039
6.943
2.637
31.618
(3.23)
(12.559)

20.017
7.269
2.637
29.923
(7.88)
(12.329)

16.748
6.899
2.637
26.284
(5.31)
(12.114)

61.617

58.740

15.829

9.712

8.860

* Includes full provision for NNDR appeals
** Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher mid year.
2.4 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund Capital spend
each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP),
although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary
revenue provision - VRP).
DLUHC Regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve an MRP
Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to councils, so long as
there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP
Statement:

Page 177

For Capital Expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be Supported
Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be:
•

Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined in former DLUHC
regulations (option 1)

This option provides for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) each year.
From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP
policy will be:
•

Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in
accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure
capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) (option 3);

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.
There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but there is a
requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although there are transitional
arrangements in place). Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as
MRP.
MRP Overpayments – a change introduced by the revised DLUHC MRP Guidance was the
allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum revenue provision (MRP),
voluntary revenue provision or overpayments, can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if
deemed necessary or prudent. In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget,
this policy must disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. The Council has made
no VRP overpayments.
3. BORROWING
The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity of the
Council. The Treasury Management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in
accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this
service activity and the Council’s capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash
flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of approporiate borrowing facilities. The
strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions
and the annual investment strategy.
3.1 Current Portfolio Position
The overall Treasury Management portfolio as at 31st March 2021 and for the position as at 31st
December 2021 are shown below for both borrowing and investments.

Page 178

TREASURY PORTFOLIO
ACTUAL AT 31/3/21
CURRENT AT 31/12/21
£m
£m
%
%
Treasury Investments
Banks
Building Societies
Local Authorities
DMADF (H M Treasury)
Money Market Funds
Certificates of Deposit
Total Managed in-House
Bond Funds
Property Funds
Total Managed Externally
Total Treasury Investments
Treasury External
Borrowing
Local Authorities
PWLB
Total External Borrowing

23.268
24.000
10.000
57.268
8.643
8.643
65.911

35.30
36.41
15.17
86.89
13.11
13.11
100

38.004
15.000
25.183
78.187
11.962
11.962
90.149

42.16
16.64
27.93
86.73
13.27
13.27
100

63.060
63.060

100
100

63.060
63.060

100
100

Net Treasury
Investments/(Borrowing)

2.851

27.089

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table shows the actual
external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.
Treasury Portfolio

2020/21
Actual
£000's

2021/22
Estimate
£000's

2022/23
Estimate
£000's

2023/24
Estimate
£000's

2024/25
Estimate
£000's

External Debt
Debt at 1st April
Expected change in Debt
Actual gross debt at 31st
March

63.060
-

63.060
-

63.060
-

63.060
-

63.060
-

63.060

63.060

63.060

63.060

63.060

The Capital Financing
Requirement

73.506

74.085

75.619

75.389

75.174

Under / (over) borrowing

10.445

11.025

12.559

12.329

12.114

Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the
Council operates its activities within well defined limits. One of these is that the Council needs to
ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2022/23 and the following two financial
years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that

Page 179

borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.
The Executive Director Finance (the Section 151 Officer) reports that the Council complied
with this prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this
budget report.
3.2. Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity
The Operational Boundary - This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally
expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower
or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by
other cash resources.
Operational Boundary

Borrowing
Other long term liabilities
Commercial Activities/nonfinancial Investments
Total

2021/22
Estimate
£m

2022/23
Estimate
£m

2023/24
Estimate
£m

2024/25
Estimate
£m

63.060
-

63.060
-

63.060
-

63.060
-

63.060

63.060

63.060

63.060

The Authorised Limit for external debt – This is a key prudential indicator and represents a
control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a legal limit beyond which external
debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council. It reflects the
level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not
sustainable in the longer term.
This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.
The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a
specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised.
The Council is asked to approve the following Authorised Limit:
Authorised limit

Borrowing
Total

2021/22
Estimate
£m

2022/23
Estimate
£m

2023/24
Estimate
£m

2024/25
Estimate
£m

86.503
86.503

87.436
87.436

87.207
87.207

86.991
86.991

Page 180

3.3.

Prospects for Interest Rates

A more detailed interest rate view and economic commentary are at ANNEXES 2 & 3.
The Council has appointed Link Group as its Treasury Advisor and part of their service is to
assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. Link provided the following forecasts
on 20te December 2021. These are forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80bps:

Over the last two years, the coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK
and to economies around the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in
March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent
meetings until raising it to 0.25% at its meeting on 16th December 2021.

Page 181

As shown in the forecast table above, the forecast for Bank Rate now includes four increases,
one in December 2021 to 0.25%, then quarter 2 of 2022 to 0.50%, quarter 1 of 2023 to 0.75%,
quarter 1 of 2024 to 1.00% and, finally, one in quarter 1 of 2025 to 1.25%.
Significant risks to the forecasts
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Mutations of the virus render current vaccines ineffective, and tweaked vaccines to combat
these mutations are delayed, or cannot be administered fast enough to prevent further
lockdowns. 25% of the population not being vaccinated is also a significant risk to the NHS
being overwhelmed and lockdowns being the only remaining option.
Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress
economic activity.
The Monetary Policy Committee acts too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to
raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker
than we currently anticipate.
The Monetary Policy Committee tightens monetary policy too late to ward off building
inflationary pressures.
The Government acts too quickly to cut expenditure to balance the national budget.
UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and financial
services due to complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out significant remaining
issues.
Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than forecast.
Major stock markets e.g., in the US, become increasingly judged as being over-valued
and susceptible to major price corrections. Central banks become increasingly exposed
to the “moral hazard” risks of having to buy shares and corporate bonds to reduce the
impact of major financial market selloffs on the general economy.
Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine, Iran, North Korea, but also in Europe and
Middle Eastern countries; on-going global power influence struggles between
Russia/China/US. These could lead to increasing safe-haven flows.

The balance of risks to the UK economy: •

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside, including
risks from Covid and its variants - both domestically and their potential effects worldwide.

Forecasts for Bank Rate
It is not expected that Bank Rate will go up fast after the initial rate rise as the supply potential
of the economy is not likely to have taken a major hit during the pandemic: it should, therefore,
be able to cope well with meeting demand after supply shortages subside over the next year,
without causing inflation to remain elevated in the medium-term, or to inhibit inflation from
falling back towards the MPC’s 2% target after the spike up to around 5%. The forecast
includes four increases in Bank Rate over the three-year forecast period to March 2025,
ending at 1.25%. However, it is likely that these forecasts will need changing within a relatively
short timeframe for the following reasons: •
•

We do not know how severe an impact Omicron could have on the economy and
whether there will be another lockdown or similar and, if there is, whether there would
be significant fiscal support from the Government for businesses and jobs.
There were already increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as running
out of steam during the autumn and now into the winter. And then along came Omicron

Page 182

•
•

•
•

•
•

to pose a significant downside threat to economic activity. This could lead into
stagflation, or even into recession, which would then pose a dilemma for the MPC as to
whether to focus on combating inflation or supporting economic growth through keeping
interest rates low.
Will some current key supply shortages spill over into causing economic activity in some
sectors to take a significant hit?
Rising gas and electricity prices in October and next April and increases in other prices
caused by supply shortages and increases in taxation next April, are already going to
deflate consumer spending power without the MPC having to take any action on Bank
Rate to cool inflation.
On the other hand, consumers are sitting on over £160bn of excess savings left over
from the pandemic so when will they spend this sum, in part or in total?
It looks as if the economy coped well with the end of furlough on 30 th September. It is
estimated that there were around 1 million people who came off furlough then and there
was not a huge spike up in unemployment. The other side of the coin is that vacancies
have been hitting record levels so there is a continuing acute shortage of workers. This
is a potential danger area if this shortage drives up wages which then feed through into
producer prices and the prices of services i.e., a second-round effect that the MPC
would have to act against if it looked like gaining significant momentum.
We also recognise there could be further nasty surprises on the Covid front beyond the
Omicron mutation.
If the UK invokes article 16 of the Brexit deal over the dislocation in trading
arrangements with Northern Ireland, this has the potential to end up in a no-deal Brexit.

In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts, we expect
to have to revise our forecasts again - in line with whatever the new news is.
It should also be borne in mind that Bank Rate being cut to 0.25% and then to 0.10%, were
emergency measures to deal with the Covid crisis hitting the UK in March 2020. At any time,
the MPC could decide to simply take away such emergency cuts on no other grounds than
they are no longer warranted, and as a step forward in the return to normalisation. In addition,
any Bank Rate under 1% is both highly unusual and highly supportive of economic growth.
Forecasts for PWLB rates and gilt and treasury yields
Since the start of 2021, we have seen a lot of volatility in gilt yields, and hence PWLB rates. As
the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is forecast to be a
steady, but slow, rise in both Bank Rate and gilt yields during the forecast period to March
2025, though there will doubtless be a lot of unpredictable volatility during this forecast period.
While monetary policy in the UK will have a major impact on gilt yields, there is also a need to
consider the potential impact that rising treasury yields in America could have on our gilt yields.
As an average since 2011, there has been a 75% correlation between movements in US
10-year treasury yields and UK 10-year gilt yields. This is a significant UPWARD RISK
exposure to our forecasts for longer term PWLB rates. However, gilt yields and treasury
yields do not always move in unison.
US treasury yields. During the first part of 2021, US President Biden’s, and the Democratic
party’s, determination to push through a $1.9trn (equivalent to 8.8% of GDP) fiscal boost for
the US economy as a recovery package from the Covid pandemic was what unsettled financial
markets. However, this was in addition to the $900bn support package already passed in

Page 183

December 2020. This was then followed by additional Democratic ambition to spend $1trn on
infrastructure, (which was eventually passed by both houses later in 2021), and an even larger
sum on an American families plan over the next decade; this is still caught up in Democrat /
Republican haggling. Financial markets were alarmed that all this stimulus was happening at
a time when: 1. A fast vaccination programme had enabled a rapid opening up of the economy during
2021.
2. The economy was growing strongly during the first half of 2021 although it has
weakened overall during the second half.
3. It started from a position of little spare capacity due to less severe lockdown measures
than in many other countries.
4. And the Fed was still providing substantial stimulus through monthly QE purchases
during 2021.
It was not much of a surprise that a combination of these factors would eventually cause an
excess of demand in the economy which generated strong inflationary pressures. This has
eventually been recognised by the Fed at its December meeting with an aggressive response
to damp inflation down during 2022 and 2023.
At its 3rd November Fed meeting, the Fed decided to make a start on tapering its $120bn per
month of QE purchases so that they ended next June. However, at its 15th December
meeting it doubled the pace of tapering so that they will end all purchases in February. These
purchases are currently acting as downward pressure on treasury yields and so it would be
expected that Treasury yields will rise over the taper period and after the taper ends, all other
things being equal. The Fed also forecast that it expected there would be three rate rises in
2022 of 0.25% from near zero currently, followed by three in 2023 and two in 2024, taking
rates back above 2% to a neutral level for monetary policy.
There are also possible DOWNSIDE RISKS from the huge sums of cash that the UK populace
have saved during the pandemic; when savings accounts earn little interest, it is likely that
some of this cash mountain could end up being invested in bonds and so push up demand for
bonds and support their prices i.e., this would help to keep their yields down. How this will
interplay with the Bank of England eventually getting round to not reinvesting maturing gilts
and then later selling gilts, will be interesting to monitor.
There is likely to be exceptional volatility and unpredictability in respect of gilt yields and
PWLB rates due to the following factors: •

•

How strongly will changes in gilt yields be correlated to changes in US treasury yields
(see below). Over 10 years since 2011 there has been an average 75% correlation
between movements in US treasury yields and gilt yields. However, from time to time
these two yields can diverge. Lack of spare economic capacity and rising inflationary
pressures are viewed as being much greater dangers in the US than in the UK. This
could mean that central bank rates will end up rising earlier and higher in the US than in
the UK if inflationary pressures were to escalate; the consequent increases in treasury
yields could well spill over to cause (lesser) increases in gilt yields. There is, therefore,
an upside risk to forecasts for gilt yields due to this correlation. The Link Group
forecasts have included a risk of a 75% correlation between the two yields.
Will the Fed take action to counter increasing treasury yields if they rise beyond a yet
unspecified level?

Page 184

•
•
•
•
•

Would the MPC act to counter increasing gilt yields if they rise beyond a yet unspecified
level?
How strong will inflationary pressures actually turn out to be in both the US and the UK
and so put upward pressure on treasury and gilt yields?
How will central banks implement their new average or sustainable level inflation
monetary policies?
How well will central banks manage the withdrawal of QE purchases of their national
bonds i.e., without causing a panic reaction in financial markets as happened in the
“taper tantrums” in the US in 2013?
Will exceptional volatility be focused on the short or long-end of the yield curve, or both?

As the US financial markets are, by far, the biggest financial markets in the world, any upward
trend in treasury yields will invariably impact and influence financial markets in other countries.
Inflationary pressures and erosion of surplus economic capacity look much stronger in the US
compared to those in the UK, which would suggest that Fed rate increases eventually needed
to suppress inflation, are likely to be faster and stronger than Bank Rate increases in the UK.
This is likely to put upward pressure on treasury yields which could then spill over into putting
upward pressure on UK gilt yields.
The forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the Eurozone
or EU within the forecasting period, despite the major challenges that are looming up, and that
there are no major ructions in international relations, especially between the US and Russia,
China / North Korea and Iran, which have a major impact on international trade and world GDP
growth.
The balance of risks to medium to long term PWLB rates: •

There is a balance of upside risks to forecasts for medium to long term PWLB rates.

A new era for local authority investing
– a fundamental shift in central bank monetary policy
One of the key results of the pandemic has been a fundamental rethinking and shift in
monetary policy by major central banks like the Fed, the Bank of England and the ECB, to
tolerate a higher level of inflation than in the previous two decades when inflation was the
prime target to bear down on so as to stop it going above a target rate. There is now also a
greater emphasis on other targets for monetary policy than just inflation, especially on
‘achieving broad and inclusive “maximum” employment in its entirety’ in the US, before
consideration would be given to increasing rates.
•

•
•

The Fed in America has gone furthest in adopting a monetary policy based on a clear
goal of allowing the inflation target to be symmetrical, (rather than a ceiling to keep
under), so that inflation averages out the dips down and surges above the target rate,
over an unspecified period of time.
The Bank of England has also amended its target for monetary policy so that inflation
should be ‘sustainably over 2%’ before starting on raising Bank Rate and the ECB now
has a similar policy.
For local authorities, this means that investment interest rates and very short
term PWLB rates will not be rising as quickly or as high as in previous decades

Page 185

•

•

when the economy recovers from a downturn and the recovery eventually runs
out of spare capacity to fuel continuing expansion.
Labour market liberalisation since the 1970s has helped to break the wage-price spirals
that fuelled high levels of inflation and has now set inflation on a lower path which
makes this shift in monetary policy practicable. In addition, recent changes in flexible
employment practices, the rise of the gig economy and technological changes, will all
help to lower inflationary pressures.
Governments will also be concerned to see interest rates stay lower as every rise in
central rates will add to the cost of vastly expanded levels of national debt; (in the UK
this is £21bn for each 1% rise in rates). On the other hand, higher levels of inflation will
help to erode the real value of total public debt.

Investment and borrowing rates
•

Investment returns are expected to improve in 2022/23. However, while markets are
pricing in a series of Bank Rate hikes, actual economic circumstances may see the MPC fall
short of these elevated expectations.

•

Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result of the COVID crisis
and the quantitative easing operations of the Bank of England and still remain at historically
low levels. The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has
served local authorities well over the last few years.

•

On 25.11.20, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the review of margins over gilt
yields for PWLB rates which had been increased by 100 bps in October 2019. The standard
and certainty margins were reduced by 100 bps but a prohibition was introduced to deny
access to borrowing from the PWLB for any local authority which had purchase of assets for
yield in its three-year capital programme. The current margins over gilt yields are as follows: -.
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)
PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)
Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

•

Borrowing for capital expenditure. Our long-term (beyond 10 years), forecast for Bank
Rate is 2.00%. As some PWLB certainty rates are currently below 2.00%, there remains
value in considering long-term borrowing from the PWLB where appropriate. Temporary
borrowing rates are likely, however, to remain near Bank Rate and may also prove attractive
as part of a balanced debt portfolio. In addition, there are also some cheap alternative
sources of long-term borrowing if an authority is seeking to avoid a “cost of carry” but also
wishes to mitigate future re-financing risk.

•

While this authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new capital expenditure,
to replace maturing debt and the rundown of reserves, there will be a cost of carry, (the
difference between higher borrowing costs and lower investment returns), to any new
borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash balances.

3.4 Borrowing Strategy
The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that the capital
borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan debt, as
cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary

Page 186

measure. This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an
issue that needs to be considered.
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted with the
2022/23 treasury operations. The Executive Director Finance will monitor interest rates in financial
markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances:
* if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates, then
borrowing will be postponed.
*

if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in borrowing rates than
that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate of increase in central
rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in
inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding
will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next few
years.

Any decisions will be reported to Council at the next available opportunity.
3.5

Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit from the
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward
approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that
value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal and
subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism.
3.6.

Debt Rescheduling

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as there is still a very
large difference between premature redemption rates and new borrowing rates, even though
the general margin of PWLB rates over gilt yields was reduced by 100 bps in November 2020.
If rescheduling was to be done, it will be reported to the Council at the earliest meeting following its
action.
3.7

New Financial Institutions as a Source of Borrowing

Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both HRA and non-HRA
borrowing. Where appropriate, consideration will be given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates
from the following in order to finance capital expenditure for non-HRA and infrastructure
purposes:
•

Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities out to 3 years or so – still cheaper
than the Certainty Rate).

•

Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also some
banks, out of forward dates where the objective is to avoid a “cost of carry” or to achieve
refinancing certainty over the next few years)
Municipal Bonds Agency
UK Infrastructure Bank

•
•

Page 187

Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of these alternative funding
sources.
3.8 Approved Sources of Long and Short term Borrowing
On Balance Sheet

Fixed

Variable

PWLB
Municipal bond agency
Local authorities
Banks
Pension funds
Insurance companies
UK Infrastructure Bank

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Market (long-term)
Market (temporary)
Market (LOBOs)
Stock issues

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•

Local temporary
Local Bonds
Local authority bills
Overdraft
Negotiable Bonds

•

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)
Commercial Paper
Medium Term Notes
Finance leases

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY
4.1 Investment Policy – Management of Risk
The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC – this was formerly the
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)) and CIPFA have extended the
meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial investments. This report deals
solely with treasury (financial) investments (as managed by the treasury management team). Nonfinancial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital
Strategy.
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following:•

DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)

•

CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)

•

CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018

Page 188

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second, and then yield
(return). The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk appetite. In the
current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash
flow needs. However, where appropriate (from an internal as well as external perspective), the
Council will also consider the value available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated
financial institutions, as well as wider range fund options.
The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the management of risk.
This Council has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the
following means:1)

Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly
creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and
Long Term ratings.

2)

Other Information: Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it
is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and
macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions
operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the
markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a
monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on
top of the credit ratings.

3)

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such
information pertaining to the financial sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny
process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

4)

This Council has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the Treasury
Management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in Annex 4 under the
categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.
•

Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a
maturity limit of one year, or have less than a year left to run to maturity if they were
originally classified as being non-specified investments solely due to the maturity
period exceeding one year.

•

Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for periods in
excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater
consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use.

5)

Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the maximum
total exposure to non-specified investments as being 35% of the total investment portfolio
(see paragraph 4.3)

6)

Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set though applying the
matrix table in paragraph 4.2

7)

Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2

Page 189

8)

This Council will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for longer
than 365 days (see paragraph 4.4)

9)

Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified minimum
sovereign rating (see paragraph 4.3)

10)

This Council has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 1.5) to provide expert
advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the
risk appetite of this Council in the context of the expected level of cash balances and need
for liquidity throughout the year.

11)

All investments will be denominated in sterling.

12)

As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2020/21 under IFRS 9, this Council will
consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in an adverse
movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year
to the General Fund. In November 2018, MHCLG concluded consultation for a temporary
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled
investments by announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five
years ending 31st March 2023.

This Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will monitor the yield
from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment performance (see
paragraph 4.5). Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year.
Changes in risk management policy from last year. The above criteria are unchanged from last
year.
4.2 Creditworthiness Policy
This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by the Link Group. This service employs
a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies
- Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented
with the following overlays:
•
•
•

‘watches’ and ‘outlooks’ from credit rating agencies;
CDS spreads that may give early warning of changes in credit ratings;
sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, and any assigned watches and outlooks in a
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads. The end product
of this is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of
counterparties. These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration
for investments. The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands:
•

Yellow

5 years *

•

Dark pink

5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25

•

Light pink

5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5

•

Purple

2 years

Page 190

•

Blue

1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)

•

Orange

1 year

•

Red

6 months

•

Green

100 days

•

No colour

not to be used

Y
1
Up to 5yrs

Pi1

Pi2

P

B

O

1.25

1.5

2

3

4

Up to 5yrs

Up to 5yrs

Up to 2yrs

Up to 1yr

Up to 1yr

R

G

N/C

5

6

7

Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

The Link creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information other than just primary ratings.
Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance to just
one agency’s ratings.
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council uses will be a short term rating (Fitch or
equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A -. There may be occasions when the counterparty
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used. In
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical
market information, to support their use.
All credit ratings will be monitored on a daily basis/as and when notified. The Council is alerted to
changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness service:
•

if a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer meeting the
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn
immediately;

•

in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in
movements in Credit Default Swap spreads against the iTraxx European Financials
benchmark and other market data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided
exclusively to it by Link. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an
institution or removal from the Council’s lending list.

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition this Council will also
use market data and market information, as well as information on any external support for banks,
to help support its decision making process.
Counterparty

Colour (and long
term rating where
applicable)

Money
and/or %
Limit

Time Limit

Banks/Building Societies *

Yellow

£10m

5yrs

Banks/Building Societies

Purple

£10m

2 yrs

Page 191

Banks/Building Societies

Orange

£10m

1 yr

Banks – part nationalised

Blue

£10m

1 yr

Banks/Building Societies

Red

£10m

6 mths

Banks/Building Societies

Green

£10m

100 days

Banks/Building Societies

No colour

Not to be
used

Council’s banker (where “No
Colour”)

No colour

£2m

1 day

UK sovereign
rating

£10m

6 months

n/a

£10m

5yrs

Fund Rating **

Money
and/or %
Limit

Time Limit

Money Market Funds CNAV

AAA

£10m

Liquid

Money Market Funds LVNAV

AAA

£10m

Liquid

Money Market Funds VNAV

AAA

£10m

Liquid

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds
with a credit score of 1.25

Dark pink / AAA

£10m

Liquid

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds
with a credit score of 1.50

Light pink / AAA

£10m

Liquid

DMADF

Local authorities

* The yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, money market funds and
collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt – see Annex 4.
** ‘Fund’ ratings are different to individual counterparty ratings, coming under either specific ‘MMF’
or ‘Bond Fund’ rating criteria.

Page 192

Creditworthiness
Significant levels of downgrades to Short- and Long-Term credit ratings have not materialised
since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any alterations were limited
to Outlooks. However, as economies are beginning to reopen, there have been some
instances of previous lowering of Outlooks being reversed.
CDS prices
Although bank CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), spiked upwards at the
end of March/early April 2020 due to the heightened market uncertainty and ensuing liquidity
crisis that affected financial markets, they have returned to more average levels since then.
However, sentiment can easily shift, so it will remain important to undertake continual
monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the current circumstances. Link monitor CDS
prices as part of their creditworthiness service to local authorities and the Council has access
to this information via its Link-provided Passport portal.
4.3 Other Limits
Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment portfolio to nonspecified investments, countries, groups and sectors.
a)

Non-specified treasury management investment limit. The Council has determined that
it will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 35% of the
total investment portfolio.

b)

Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from
the UK and from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of ‘AA-‘ from Fitch. The list
of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in
Annex 5. This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in
accordance with this policy.

c)

Other limits. In addition:•

no more than 25% will be placed with any non-UK country at any time;

•

a limit of £14m per group will apply to a group of companies;

•

sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness.

4.4 Investment Strategy
In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12
months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash
balances are required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash flows, where cash sums can
be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term
investments will be carefully assessed.
•

If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being short
term or variable.

Page 193

•

Conversely, if is is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period,
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer periods.

Investment Returns Expectations
The current forecast shown in paragraph 3.3 includes a forecast for a first increase in Bank Rate in
May 2022, though it could come in February.
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods
up to about three months during each financial year, (based on a first increase in Bank Rate in
quarter 2 of 2022), are as follows:
Average earnings in each year

Now

Previously

2022/23

0.50%

0.50%

2023/24

0.75%

0.75%

2024/25

1.00%

1.00%

2025/26

1.25%

1.25%

Long term later years

2.00%

2.00%

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business reserve instant
access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits (overnight to 100 days)
in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.
Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need
for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end.
The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: Upper limit for principal sums invested for longer than 365 days
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
£m
£m
£m
Principal sums invested > 365
days
Current investments as at
31.12.21 in excess of 1 year
maturing in each year

5.540

3.399

3.101

5.000

-

-

4.5 Investment Risk Benchmarking
This Council will use an investment benchmark to assess the investment performance of its
investment portfolio of 3 month SONIA.
4.6 End of year investment report
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its Annual
Treasury Report.

Page 194

5. ANNEXES
1. Prudential and Treasury Indicators
2. Interest Rate Forecasts
3. Economic Background
4. TMP 1 Credit & Counterparty Risk Management
5. Approved Countries for investments
6. Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation
7. The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer
8. Treasury Management Practices
9. Treasury Management Glossary of Terms
10. Prudential Indicators – Definitions/Interpretation
11. Revised Treasury Management and Prudential Codes

Page 195

ANNEX 1
THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2022/23 – 2024/25
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity.
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are
designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.
1 Capital expenditure
A breakdown of capital expenditure by Directorate is detailed within the Performance
Healthcheck reported quarterly to Cabinet.
2 Affordability Prudential Indicators
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators,
but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the
capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment
plans on the Council’s overall finances. The Council is asked to approve the following
indicators:
a) Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream.
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream (net cost of services).
Ratio of financing costs
to net revenue stream.

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Actual %

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
%
%
%
%

Non-HRA

(7.31)%

(3.60)%

(0.17)%

0.27%

0.56%

HRA
Commercial
Activities/non-Financial
Investments

28.38%

28.93%

28.09%

27.33%

26.78%

(3.60)%

(3.50)%

(5.69)%

(7.98)%

(5.53)%

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this budget
report.
Commercial Activities/non-Financial Investments includes investments in property funds and
the return on the Gungate Site purchase.

Page 196

b) Housing Revenue Account Debt Ratios
HRA Debt to
Revenues Ratio
HRA Debt £m
HRA Revenues
£m
Ratio of Debt to
Revenues %

HRA Debt per
Dwelling
HRA Debt £m
Number of HRA
Dwellings
Debt per Dwelling
£'000

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Actual
69.893

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
69.990
70.590
70.590
70.590

18.636

19.303

20.071

20.563

21.066

375

363

352

343

335

2020/21
Actual
69.893

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
69.990
70.590
70.590
70.590

4,140

4,122

4,092

4,062

4,032

16.882

16.980

17.251

17.378

17.507

4 Maturity Structure of Borrowing
These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due
for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits.
The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits:
Maturity structure of Fixed Interest Rate borrowing 2022/23
Timeline
Lower
Upper
Under 12 months
0%
20%
12 months to 2 years
0%
20%
2 years to 5 years
0%
25%
5 years to 10 years
0%
75%
10 years and above
0%
100%
Maturity structure of Variable Interest Rate borrowing 2022/23
Timeline
Lower
Upper
Under 12 months
0%
20%
12 months to 2 years
0%
20%
2 years to 5 years
0%
25%
5 years to 10 years
0%
75%
10 years and above
0%
100%
5. Control of Interest Rate Exposure
Please see paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 4.4

Page 197

ANNEX 2 Interest Rate Forecasts 2021 – 2025
PWLB forecasts shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012.
Link Group Interest Rate View

20.12.21

Dec-21

Mar-22

Jun-22

Sep-22

Dec-22

Mar-23

Jun-23

Sep-23

Dec-23

Mar-24

Jun-24

Sep-24

Dec-24

Mar-25

0.25

0.25

0.50

0.50

0.50

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.75

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.25

3 month ave earnings

0.20

0.30

0.50

0.50

0.60

0.70

0.80

0.90

0.90

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

6 month ave earnings

0.40

0.50

0.60

0.60

0.70

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.00

1.10

1.10

1.10

1.10

1.10

12 month ave earnings

0.70

0.70

0.70

0.70

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.10

1.10

1.20

1.20

1.20

1.20

1.20

5 yr PWLB

1.40

1.50

1.50

1.60

1.60

1.70

1.80

1.80

1.80

1.90

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.00

10 yr PWLB

1.60

1.70

1.80

1.80

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.00

2.00

2.10

2.10

2.10

2.20

2.30

25 yr PWLB

1.80

1.90

2.00

2.10

2.10

2.20

2.20

2.20

2.30

2.30

2.40

2.40

2.50

2.50

50 yr PWLB

1.50

1.70

1.80

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.00

2.00

2.10

2.10

2.20

2.20

2.30

2.30

Link

0.25

0.25

0.50

0.50

0.50

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.75

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.25

Capital Economics

0.25

0.25

0.50

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.75

1.00

1.00

-

-

-

-

-

Link

1.40

1.50

1.50

1.60

1.60

1.70

1.80

1.80

1.80

1.90

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.00

Capital Economics

1.40

1.40

1.50

1.50

1.60

1.70

1.70

1.80

1.90

-

-

-

-

-

Link

1.60

1.70

1.80

1.80

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.00

2.00

2.10

2.10

2.10

2.20

2.30

Capital Economics

1.60

1.60

1.70

1.70

1.80

1.80

1.90

2.00

2.00

-

-

-

-

-

Link

1.80

1.90

2.00

2.10

2.10

2.20

2.20

2.20

2.30

2.30

2.40

2.40

2.50

2.50

Capital Economics

1.80

1.80

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.10

2.10

2.20

2.30

-

-

-

-

-

Link

1.50

1.70

1.80

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.00

2.00

2.10

2.10

2.20

2.20

2.30

2.30

Capital Economics

1.40

1.50

1.60

1.70

1.80

1.90

2.00

2.20

2.30

-

-

-

-

-

BANK RATE

Page 198

Bank Rate

5yr PWLB Rate

10yr PWLB Rate

25yr PWLB Rate

50yr PWLB Rate

ANNEX 3 ECONOMIC BACKGROUND
COVID-19 vaccines.
These were the game changer during 2021 which raised high hopes that life in the UK
would be able to largely return to normal in the second half of the year. However, the
bursting onto the scene of the Omicron mutation at the end of November, rendered the
initial two doses of all vaccines largely ineffective in preventing infection. This has dashed
such hopes and raises the spectre again that a fourth wave of the virus could overwhelm
hospitals in early 2022. What we now know is that this mutation is very fast spreading with
the potential for total case numbers to double every two to three days, although it possibly
may not cause so much severe illness as previous mutations. Rather than go for full
lockdowns which heavily damage the economy, the government strategy this time is
focusing on getting as many people as possible to have a third (booster) vaccination after
three months from the previous last injection, as a booster has been shown to restore a
high percentage of immunity to Omicron to those who have had two vaccinations. There is
now a race on between how quickly boosters can be given to limit the spread of Omicron,
and how quickly will hospitals fill up and potentially be unable to cope. In the meantime,
workers have been requested to work from home and restrictions have been placed on
large indoor gatherings and hospitality venues. With the household saving rate having been
exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March 2020, there is plenty of pent-up
demand and purchasing power stored up for services in sectors like restaurants, travel,
tourism and hotels which had been hit hard during 2021, but could now be hit hard again by
either, or both, of government restrictions and/or consumer reluctance to leave home.
Growth will also be lower due to people being ill and not working, similar to the pingdemic
in July. The economy, therefore, faces significant headwinds although some sectors have
learned how to cope well with Covid. However, the biggest impact on growth would come
from another lockdown if that happened. The big question still remains as to whether any
further mutations of this virus could develop which render all current vaccines ineffective,
as opposed to how quickly vaccines can be modified to deal with them and enhanced
testing programmes be implemented to contain their spread until tweaked vaccines
become widely available.
A SUMMARY OVERVIEW OF THE FUTURE PATH OF BANK RATE
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

In December, the Bank of England became the first major western central bank to put
interest rates up in this upswing in the current business cycle in western economies as
recovery progresses from the Covid recession of 2020.
The next increase in Bank Rate could be in February or May, dependent on how severe
an impact there is from Omicron.
If there are lockdowns in January, this could pose a barrier for the MPC to putting Bank
Rate up again as early as 3rd February.
With inflation expected to peak at around 6% in April, the MPC may want to be seen to
be active in taking action to counter inflation on 5th May, the release date for its
Quarterly Monetary Policy Report.
The December 2021 MPC meeting was more concerned with combating inflation over
the medium term than supporting economic growth in the short term.
Bank Rate increases beyond May are difficult to forecast as inflation is likely to drop
sharply in the second half of 2022.
However, the MPC will want to normalise Bank Rate over the next three years so that it
has its main monetary policy tool ready to use in time for the next down-turn; all rates
under 2% are providing stimulus to economic growth.

Page 199

•
•
•
•

We have put year end 0.25% increases into Q1 of each financial year from 2023 to
recognise this upward bias in Bank Rate - but the actual timing in each year is difficult to
predict.
Covid remains a major potential downside threat in all three years as we ARE likely to
get further mutations.
How quickly can science come up with a mutation proof vaccine, or other treatment, –
and for them to be widely administered around the world?
Purchases of gilts under QE ended in December. Note that when Bank Rate reaches
0.50%, the MPC has said it will start running down its stock of QE.

MPC MEETING 16H DECEMBER 2021
•

The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 8-1 to raise Bank Rate by 0.15% from
0.10% to 0.25% and unanimously decided to make no changes to its programme of
quantitative easing purchases due to finish in December 2021 at a total of £895bn.

•

The MPC disappointed financial markets by not raising Bank Rate at its November
meeting. Until Omicron burst on the scene, most forecasters, therefore, viewed a Bank
Rate increase as being near certain at this December meeting due to the way that
inflationary pressures have been comprehensively building in both producer and
consumer prices, and in wage rates. However, at the November meeting, the MPC
decided it wanted to have assurance that the labour market would get over the end of
the furlough scheme on 30th September without unemployment increasing sharply; their
decision was, therefore, to wait until statistics were available to show how the economy
had fared at this time.

•

On 10th December we learnt of the disappointing 0.1% m/m rise in GDP in October
which suggested that economic growth had already slowed to a crawl even before the
Omicron variant was discovered in late November. Early evidence suggests growth in
November might have been marginally better. Nonetheless, at such low rates of growth,
the government’s “Plan B” COVID-19 restrictions could cause the economy to contract
in December.

•

On 14th December, the labour market statistics for the three months to October and
the single month of October were released. The fallout after the furlough scheme was
smaller and shorter than the Bank of England had feared. The single-month data were
more informative and showed that LFS employment fell by 240,000, unemployment
increased by 75,000 and the unemployment rate rose from 3.9% in September to 4.2%.
However, the weekly data suggested this didn’t last long as unemployment was falling
again by the end of October. What’s more, the 49,700 fall in the claimant count and the
257,000 rise in the PAYE measure of company payrolls suggests that the labour market
strengthened again in November. The other side of the coin was a further rise in the
number of vacancies from 1.182m to a record 1.219m in the three months to November
which suggests that the supply of labour is struggling to keep up with demand, although
the single-month figure for November fell for the first time since February, from 1.307m
to 1.227m.

•

These figures by themselves, would probably have been enough to give the MPC the
assurance that it could press ahead to raise Bank Rate at this December meeting.
However, the advent of Omicron potentially threw a spanner into the works as it poses a

Page 200

major headwind to the economy which, of itself, will help to cool the economy. The
financial markets, therefore, swung round to expecting no change in Bank Rate.
•

On 15th December we had the CPI inflation figure for November which spiked up
further from 4.2% to 5.1%, confirming again how inflationary pressures have been
building sharply. However, Omicron also caused a sharp fall in world oil and other
commodity prices; (gas and electricity inflation has generally accounted on average for
about 60% of the increase in inflation in advanced western economies).

•

Other elements of inflation are also transitory e.g., prices of goods being forced up
by supply shortages, and shortages of shipping containers due to ports being clogged
have caused huge increases in shipping costs. But these issues are likely to clear
during 2022, and then prices will subside back to more normal levels. Gas prices and
electricity prices will also fall back once winter is passed and demand for these falls
away.

•

Although it is possible that the Government could step in with some fiscal support for
the economy, the huge cost of such support to date is likely to pose a barrier to
incurring further major economy wide expenditure unless it is very limited and targeted
on narrow sectors like hospitality, (as announced just before Christmas). The
Government may well, therefore, effectively leave it to the MPC, and to monetary policy,
to support economic growth – but at a time when the threat posed by rising inflation is
near to peaking!

•

This is the adverse set of factors against which the MPC had to decide on Bank Rate.
For the second month in a row, the MPC blind-sided financial markets, this time with a
surprise increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25%. What’s more, the hawkish
tone of comments indicated that the MPC is now concerned that inflationary pressures
are indeed building and need concerted action by the MPC to counter. This indicates
that there will be more increases to come with financial markets predicting 1% by the
end of 2022. The 8-1 vote to raise the rate shows that there is firm agreement that
inflation now poses a threat, especially after the CPI figure hit a 10-year high this week.
The MPC commented that “there has been significant upside news” and that “there
were some signs of greater persistence in domestic costs and price pressures”.

•

On the other hand, it did also comment that “the Omicron variant is likely to weigh
on near-term activity”. But it stressed that at the November meeting it had said it
would raise rates if the economy evolved as it expected and that now “these conditions
had been met”. It also appeared more worried about the possible boost to inflation from
Omicron itself. It said that “the current position of the global and UK economies was
materially different compared with prior to the onset of the pandemic, including elevated
levels of consumer price inflation”. It also noted the possibility that renewed social
distancing would boost demand for goods again, (as demand for services would fall),
meaning “global price pressures might persist for longer”. (Recent news is that the
largest port in the world in China has come down with an Omicron outbreak which is not
only affecting the port but also factories in the region).

•

On top of that, there were no references this month to inflation being expected to be
below the 2% target in two years’ time, which at November’s meeting the MPC
referenced to suggest the markets had gone too far in expecting interest rates to rise to
over 1.00% by the end of the year.

Page 201

•

•

These comments indicate that there has been a material reappraisal by the MPC of the
inflationary pressures since their last meeting and the Bank also increased its forecast
for inflation to peak at 6% next April, rather than at 5% as of a month ago. However, as
the Bank retained its guidance that only a “modest tightening” in policy will be
required, it cannot be thinking that it will need to increase interest rates that much
more. A typical policy tightening cycle has usually involved rates rising by 0.25% four
times in a year. “Modest” seems slower than that. As such, the Bank could be thinking
about raising interest rates two or three times next year to 0.75% or 1.00%.
In as much as a considerable part of the inflationary pressures at the current time are
indeed transitory, and will naturally subside, and since economic growth is likely to be
weak over the next few months, this would appear to indicate that this tightening cycle is
likely to be comparatively short.

•

As for the timing of the next increase in Bank Rate, the MPC dropped the comment from
November’s statement that Bank Rate would be raised “in the coming months”. That
may imply another rise is unlikely at the next meeting in February and that May is more
likely. However, much could depend on how adversely, or not, the economy is affected
by Omicron in the run up to the next meeting on 3 rd February. Once 0.50% is reached,
the Bank would act to start shrinking its stock of QE, (gilts purchased by the Bank would
not be replaced when they mature).

•

The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank Rate
versus selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows: o Raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most circumstances”.
o Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings.
o Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts.
o Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings.

US.
Shortages of goods and intermediate goods like semi-conductors, have been fuelling
increases in prices and reducing economic growth potential. In November, CPI inflation hit a
near 40-year record level of 6.8% but with energy prices then falling sharply, this is probably
the peak. The biggest problem for the Fed is the mounting evidence of a strong pick-up in
cyclical price pressures e.g., in rent which has hit a decades high.
Shortages of labour have also been driving up wage rates sharply; this also poses a
considerable threat to feeding back into producer prices and then into consumer prices
inflation. It now also appears that there has been a sustained drop in the labour force which
suggests the pandemic has had a longer-term scarring effect in reducing potential GDP.
Economic growth may therefore be reduced to between 2 and 3% in 2022 and 2023 while core
inflation is likely to remain elevated at around 3% in both years instead of declining back to the
Fed’s 2% central target.
Inflation hitting 6.8% and the feed through into second round effects, meant that it was near
certain that the Fed’s meeting of 15th December would take aggressive action against
inflation. Accordingly, the rate of tapering of monthly $120bn QE purchases announced at its
November 3rd meeting was doubled so that all purchases would now finish in February 2022.
In addition, Fed officials had started discussions on running down the stock of QE held by the
Fed. Fed officials also expected three rate rises in 2022 of 0.25% from near zero currently,
followed by three in 2023 and two in 2024, taking rates back above 2% to a neutral level for

Page 202

monetary policy. The first increase could come as soon as March 2022 as the chairman of the
Fed stated his view that the economy had made rapid progress to achieving the other goal of
the Fed – “maximum employment”. The Fed forecast that inflation would fall from an average
of 5.3% in 2021 to 2.6% in 2023, still above its target of 2% and both figures significantly up
from previous forecasts. What was also significant was that this month the Fed dropped its
description of the current level of inflation as being “transitory” and instead referred to
“elevated levels” of inflation: the statement also dropped most of the language around the
flexible average inflation target, with inflation now described as having exceeded 2 percent “for
some time”. It did not see Omicron as being a major impediment to the need to take action
now to curtail the level of inflationary pressures that have built up, although Fed officials did
note that it has the potential to exacerbate supply chain problems and add to price pressures.
See also comments in paragraph 3.3 under PWLB rates and gilt yields.
EU.
The slow role out of vaccines initially delayed economic recovery in early 2021 but the
vaccination rate then picked up sharply. After a contraction of -0.3% in Q1, Q2 came in with
strong growth of 2%. With Q3 at 2.2%, the EU recovery was then within 0.5% of its pre Covid
size. However, the arrival of Omicron is now a major headwind to growth in quarter 4 and the
expected downturn into weak growth could well turn negative, with the outlook for the first two
months of 2022 expected to continue to be very weak.
November’s inflation figures breakdown shows that the increase in price pressures is not
just due to high energy costs and global demand-supply imbalances for durable goods as
services inflation also rose. Headline inflation reached 4.9% in November, with over half of that
due to energy. However, oil and gas prices are expected to fall after the winter and so energy
inflation is expected to plummet in 2022. Core goods inflation rose to 2.4% in November, its
second highest ever level, and is likely to remain high for some time as it will take a long time
for the inflationary impact of global imbalances in the demand and supply of durable goods to
disappear. Price pressures also increased in the services sector, but wage growth remains
subdued and there are no signs of a trend of faster wage growth which might lead
to persistently higher services inflation - which would get the ECB concerned. The upshot is
that the euro-zone is set for a prolonged period of inflation being above the ECB’s target of 2%
and it is likely to average 3% in 2022, in line with the ECB’s latest projection.
ECB tapering. The ECB has joined with the Fed by also announcing at its meeting on 16th
December that it will be reducing its QE purchases - by half from October 2022, i.e., it will still
be providing significant stimulus via QE purchases for over half of next year. However, as
inflation will fall back sharply during 2022, it is likely that it will leave its central rate below zero,
(currently -0.50%), over the next two years. The main struggle that the ECB has had in recent
years is that inflation has been doggedly anaemic in sticking below the ECB’s target rate
despite all its major programmes of monetary easing by cutting rates into negative territory and
providing QE support.
The ECB will now also need to consider the impact of Omicron on the economy, and it stated
at its December meeting that it is prepared to provide further QE support if the pandemic
causes bond yield spreads of peripheral countries, (compared to the yields of northern EU
countries), to rise. However, that is the only reason it will support peripheral yields, so this
support is limited in its scope.
The EU has entered into a period of political uncertainty where a new German government
formed of a coalition of three parties with Olaf Scholz replacing Angela Merkel as Chancellor in

Page 203

December 2021, will need to find its feet both within the EU and in the three parties
successfully working together. In France there is a presidential election coming up in April
2022 followed by the legislative election in June. In addition, Italy needs to elect a new
president in January with Prime Minister Draghi being a favourite due to having suitable
gravitas for this post. However, if he switched office, there is a significant risk that the current
government coalition could collapse. That could then cause differentials between Italian and
German bonds to widen when 2022 will also see a gradual running down of ECB support for
the bonds of weaker countries within the EU. These political uncertainties could have
repercussions on economies and on Brexit issues.
CHINA.
After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 2020, economic recovery was
strong in the rest of 2020; this enabled China to recover all the initial contraction. During 2020,
policy makers both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal
support that was particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth. At the same time,
China’s economy benefited from the shift towards online spending by consumers in developed
markets. These factors helped to explain its comparative outperformance compared to western
economies during 2020 and earlier in 2021.
However, the pace of economic growth has now fallen back in 2021 after this initial surge of
recovery from the pandemic and looks likely to be particularly weak in 2022. China has been
struggling to contain the spread of the Delta variant through using sharp local lockdowns which depress economic growth. Chinese consumers are also being very wary about leaving
home and so spending money on services. However, with Omicron having now spread to
China, and being much more easily transmissible, this strategy of sharp local lockdowns to
stop the virus may not prove so successful in future. In addition, the current pace of providing
boosters at 100 billion per month will leave much of the 1.4 billion population exposed to
Omicron, and any further mutations, for a considerable time. The People’s Bank of China
made a start in December 2021 on cutting its key interest rate marginally so as to stimulate
economic growth. However, after credit has already expanded by around 25% in just the last
two years, it will probably leave the heavy lifting in supporting growth to fiscal stimulus by
central and local government.
Supply shortages, especially of coal for power generation, were causing widespread power
cuts to industry during the second half of 2021 and so a sharp disruptive impact on some
sectors of the economy. In addition, recent regulatory actions motivated by a political agenda
to channel activities into officially approved directions, are also likely to reduce the dynamism
and long-term growth of the Chinese economy.
JAPAN.
2021 has been a patchy year in combating Covid. However, recent business surveys indicate
that the economy has been rebounding rapidly in 2021 once the bulk of the population had
been double vaccinated and new virus cases had plunged. However, Omicron could reverse
this initial success in combating Covid.
The Bank of Japan is continuing its very loose monetary policy but with little prospect of
getting inflation back above 1% towards its target of 2%, any time soon: indeed, inflation was
actually negative in July. New Prime Minister Kishida, having won the November general
election, brought in a supplementary budget to boost growth, but it is unlikely to have a major
effect.

Page 204

WORLD GROWTH.
World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021 until starting to lose
momentum in the second half of the year, though overall growth for the year is expected to be
about 6% and to be around 4-5% in 2022. Inflation has been rising due to increases in gas and
electricity prices, shipping costs and supply shortages, although these should subside during
2022. While headline inflation will fall sharply, core inflation will probably not fall as quickly as
central bankers would hope. It is likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a
reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on
China to supply products, and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from those
in prior decades.
SUPPLY SHORTAGES.
The pandemic and extreme weather events, followed by a major surge in demand after
lockdowns ended, have been highly disruptive of extended worldwide supply chains. Major
queues of ships unable to unload their goods at ports in New York, California and China built
up rapidly during quarters 2 and 3 of 2021 but then halved during quarter 4. Such issues have
led to a misdistribution of shipping containers around the world and have contributed to a huge
increase in the cost of shipping. Combined with a shortage of semi-conductors, these issues
have had a disruptive impact on production in many countries. The latest additional disruption
has been a shortage of coal in China leading to power cuts focused primarily on producers
(rather than consumers), i.e., this will further aggravate shortages in meeting demand for
goods. Many western countries are also hitting up against a difficulty in filling job vacancies. It
is expected that these issues will be gradually sorted out, but they are currently contributing to
a spike upwards in inflation and shortages of materials and goods available to purchase.

Page 205

ANNEX 4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICE (TMP1) CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY
RISK MANAGEMENT
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up
to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. (Nonspecified investments which would be specified investments apart from originally being for a period
longer than 12 months, will be classified as being specified once the remaining period to maturity
falls to under twelve months.)
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the specified
investment criteria. A maximum of 35% will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments.
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and,
depending on the type of investment made, it will fall into one of the above categories.
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:

Counterparty

Minimum credit
criteria / colour
band

£ limit per
institution

Max. maturity period

DMADF – UK Government

Yellow

£10m

6 months (max is set
by the DMO*)

UK Government gilts

Yellow

£10m

5 years

UK Government Treasury bills

Yellow

£10m

364 days (max is set
by the DMO*)

Bonds issued by multilateral
development banks

Yellow

£10m

5 years

Money Market Funds CNAV

AAA

£10m

Liquid

Money Market Funds LVNAV

AAA

£10m

Liquid

Money Market Funds VNAV

AAA

£10m

Liquid

Local authorities

Yellow

£10m

5 years

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds
with a credit score of 1.25

Dark pink / AAA

£10m

Liquid

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds
with a credit score of 1.50

Light pink / AAA

£10m

Liquid

Page 206

Counterparty

Term deposits with banks and
building societies

CDs or corporate bonds with
banks and building societies

Gilt funds

Minimum credit
criteria / colour
band

£ limit per
institution

Max. maturity period

Blue

12 months

Orange

12 months

Red

£10m

6 months

Green

100 days

No Colour

Not for use

Blue

12 months

Orange

12 months

Red

£10m

6 months

Green

100 days

No Colour

Not for use

UK sovereign
rating

£10m

Non-Specified Investments

Property Funds - the use of
these instruments can be
deemed as capital expenditure
and as such will be an
application (spending) of capital
resources

Wider Investment Funds - the
use of these instruments can be
deemed as capital expenditure
and as such will be an
application (spending) of capital
resources

£10m

Limit will be set based
on level of reserves
and balances going
forward and
appropriate due
diligence will be
undertaken before
investment of this type

£10m

Limit will be set based
on level of reserves
and balances going
forward and
appropriate due
diligence will be
undertaken before
investment of this type

* DMO – is the Debt Management Office of HM Treasury
Accounting treatment of investments. The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken.

Page 207

Page 208

ANNEX 5 APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENT
This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (showing the
lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also (except - at the time of writing – for Hong
Kong, Norway and Luxembourg) have banks operating in sterling markets which have credit
ratings of green or above in the Link credit worthiness service.
Based on lowest available rating
AAA
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Australia
Denmark
Germany
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Singapore
Sweden
Switzerland

AA+
•
•
•

Canada
Finland
U.S.A.

AA
•
•

Abu Dhabi (UAE)
France

AA•
•
•
•

Belgium
Hong Kong
Qatar
UK *

(Per Link 22/12/21)

* At its meeting of the 15th September 2009, full Council approved a recommendation that;
‘authorises the use of institutions currently supported by the UK Government should its
Sovereign rating be downgraded below the current requirement for a ‘AAA’ rating by all
three rating agencies’
this approval continues to form part of the strategy in 2022/23.

Page 209

ANNEX 6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION
(i)

Full Council
•

receiving and reviewing reports on Treasury Management policies, practices and activities.

•

approval of annual strategy.

•

approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, Treasury Management
Policy statement and Treasury Management practices.

•

budget consideration and approval.

•

approval of the division of responsibilities.

•

receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations.

(ii)

Cabinet
•

receiving and reviewing Treasury Management policy statement and Treasury Management
practices and making recommendations to the full Council.

•

receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and making recommendations to the full
Council.

•

approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of appointment.

(iii)

Audit and Governance Committee
•

reviewing the Treasury Management policy and procedures and making recommendations
to the Cabinet.

•

receiving and reviewing regular monitoring and making recommendations to the Cabinet.

Page 210

ANNEX 7 THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER
The S151 (responsible) Officer is responsible for
•

recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the
same regularly, and monitoring compliance

•

submitting regular treasury management policy reports

•

submitting budgets and budget variations

•

receiving and reviewing management information reports

•

reviewing the performance of the treasury management function

•

ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function

•

ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit

•

recommending the appointment of external service providers

•

preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, nonfinancial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe

•

ensuring that the capital strategy is sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long-term and
provides value for money

•

ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority

•

ensuring that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on nonfinancial assets and their financing

•

ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a
level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its
financial resources

•

ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring and
ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities

•

provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees

•

ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken
on by an authority

•

ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided, to
carry out the above

•

creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non treasury
investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following o Risk management (TMP1), including investment and risk management criteria for
any material non-treasury investment portfolios;
o Performance measurement and management (TMP2), including methodology
and criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury
investments;
o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5), including a statement of
the governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury

Page 211

investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due
diligence is carried out to support decision making;
o Reporting and management information (TMP6), including where and how often
monitoring reports are taken;
o Training and qualifications (TMP10), including how the relevant knowledge and
skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

Page 212

ANNEX 8
TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
The Treasury Management Practices document (TMPs) forms detailed operational procedures and
processes for the Treasury Management function. This document can be found on the Council’s
Internet by following the following link;
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/treasury-practices
and clicking on the TMPs folder.
The items below are summaries of the individual TMPs which the Council has to produce and
adopt under the Treasury Code of Practice.
TMP1 : RISK MANAGEMENT
General Statement
The Section 151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification,
management and control of Treasury Management risk; will report at least annually on the
adequacy/suitability of the arrangements and will report, as a matter of urgency, the circumstances
of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the Council’s objectives. The reports will be in
accordance with the procedures contained in TMP6.
1.1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management
Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual
obligations to the organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital project or partnership
financing, particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the resulting
detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or current (revenue) resources.
This organisation regards a key objective of its Treasury Management activities to be the
security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and
limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with which funds may be deposited, and
will limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in
TMP4 Approved Instruments Methods and Techniques and detailed in the TMP Operational
document.
It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in
respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other
financing arrangements.
1.2 Liquidity Risk Management
This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management of
liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s business/service
objectives will be thereby compromised.

Page 213

This organisation will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds
available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service objectives. This
organisation will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so
and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt maturities.
1.3 Interest Rate Risk Management
The risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden
on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect itself adequately.
This organisation will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing
its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts provided in its
budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and
management information arrangements.
It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments,
methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the
same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. This should be subject to the
consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.
1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management
The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on
the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect itself adequately.
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels.
1,5 Inflation Rate Risk Management
Inflation risk, also called purchasing power risk, is the chance that cash flows from an investment
won’t be worth as much in the future because of changes in purchasing power due to inflation.
The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to
inflation, and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s
inflation exposures.
1.6 Refinancing Risk Management
The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot be refinanced on
terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those refinancings, both capital and
current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent with prevailing market conditions at the
time.
The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements are
negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised is
managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are
competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of
market conditions prevailing at the time.

Page 214

It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a
manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid over reliance on any one source of funding if this
might jeopardise achievement of the above.
1.7 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management
The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its Treasury
Management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or regulatory requirements,
and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly.
The Council will ensure that all of its Treasury Management activities comply with its statutory
powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all
parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit and counterparty policy under
TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk management, it will ensure that there is evidence of
counterparties’ powers, and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect with the
organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged.
This organisation recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its
Treasury Management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise
the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation.
1.8 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management
The risk that an organisation fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be exposed to the
risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management
dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures and maintain effective contingency
management arrangements to these ends. It includes the area of risk commonly referred to as
operational risk.
This organisation will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the risk
of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management dealings.
Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective contingency
management arrangements, to these ends.
The Council will therefore:a)

Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at all times of an
adequate level of internal check which minimises such risks.

b)

Fully document all its Treasury Management activities so that there can be no possible
confusion as to what proper procedures are.

c)

Ensure that staff will not be allowed to take up Treasury Management activities until they have
had proper training in procedures and are then subject to an adequate and appropriate level
of supervision.

Records will be maintained of all Treasury Management transactions so that there is a full audit trail
and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out.

Page 215

1.9 Price Risk Management
The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums an organisation
borrows and invests, its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives are compromised,
against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately.
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives will not
be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests, and
will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations.
TMP2 : PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT
The Council is committed to the pursuit of best value in its Treasury Management activities,
and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out
in the Treasury Management Policy Statement.
The Treasury Management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value it adds
in support of the Council’s stated service objectives. It will be the subject of regular
examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal, grant or
subsidy incentives, and the scope for other potential improvements. The performance of the
Treasury Management function will be measured using the criteria set out in the detailed TMP
Operational document.
TMP3 : DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS
The Council will maintain full records of its Treasury Management decisions, and of the
processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning
from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues
relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time. The issues to be addressed
and processes and practices to be pursued in reaching decisions are set out in the detailed
TMP Operational document.
TMP4 : APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES
The Council will undertake its Treasury Management activities by employing only those
instruments, methods and techniques set out in the detailed TMP Operational document and
within the limits and parameters defined in TMP1.
TMP5 : ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES, AND
DEALING ARRANGEMENTS
The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of
its Treasury Management activities, for the reduction of risk of fraud or error, and for the
pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully
integrated manner, and that there is at all times clarity of Treasury Management
responsibilities.
The principle on which this will be based is the clear distinction between those charged with
setting Treasury Management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling
these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the

Page 216

recording and administering of Treasury Management decisions and the audit and review of
the Treasury Management function.
If and when this organisation intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances,
to depart from these principles, the Section 151 Officer will ensure that the reasons are
properly reported in accordance with TMP6 and the implications properly considered and
evaluated.
The Section 151 Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the
responsibilities for each post engaged in Treasury Management, and the arrangements for
absence cover. He will also ensure that at all times those engaged in Treasury Management
will follow the policies and procedures set out. The present arrangements are set out in the
detailed TMP Operational document.
The Section 151 Officer will ensure that there is proper documentation for all deals and
transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds. The present
arrangements are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document.
The delegations to the Section 151 Officer in respect of Treasury Management are set out in
the detailed TMP Operational document. He will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance
with the Council’s policy statement and TMPs and, if a CIPFA member, the Standard of
Professional Practice on Treasury Management.
TMP6 : REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION
ARRANGEMENTS
The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the
implementation of its Treasury Management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and
transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; implications of changes, particularly
budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its Treasury
Management activities; and on the performance of the Treasury Management function.
As a minimum Cabinet and Council will receive:

• An annual report on the planned strategy to be pursued in the coming year and the
reporting of Prudential Indicators.

• A mid-year review
• An annual report on the performance of the Treasury Management function including the
performance against the Prudential Indicators, the effects of the decisions taken and the
transactions executed in the past year and on any circumstances of non-compliance with
the Council’s Treasury Management policy statement and TMPs.
Cabinet will receive regular monitoring reports on Treasury Management activities and risks.
The Audit and Governance Committee will have responsibility for the scrutiny of Treasury
Management policies and practices.

Page 217

The Treasury Management indicators will be considered together with the Treasury
Management indicators in the Prudential Code as part of the budget approval process.
The present arrangements and the form of these reports are set out in the detailed TMP
Operational document.
TMP7 : BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS
The Section 151 Officer will prepare and Council will approve and, if necessary from time to
time, will amend, an annual budget for Treasury Management, which will bring together all of
the costs involved in running the Treasury Management function together with associated
income. The matters to be included will at minimum be those required by statute or regulation,
together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP1, TMP2 and TMP4.
The Section 151 Officer will exercise effective controls over this budget and report upon and
recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6.
The Council will account for its Treasury Management activities, for decisions made and
transactions executed in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and
with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being.
TMP8 : CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT
Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the
Council will be under the control of the Section 151 Officer and will be aggregated for cash flow
and investment management purposes. Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular
and timely basis and the Section 151 Officer will ensure that these are adequate for the
purpose of monitoring compliance with TMP1. The present arrangements for preparing cash
flow projections, and their form, are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document.
TMP9 : MONEY LAUNDERING
The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it
in a transaction involving the laundering of money. The Council will, therefore, maintain
procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions,
and will ensure that all staff involved are properly trained. The present arrangements, including
the name of the officer to whom reports should be made, are set out in the detailed TMP
Operational document.
TMP10 : TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS
The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the Treasury
Management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated
to them. It will seek to appoint individuals, who are both capable and experienced and will
provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an appropriate level of
expertise, knowledge and skills. The Section 151 Officer will recommend and implement the
necessary arrangements.

Page 218

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that Council members tasked with Treasury Management
responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to
their needs and those responsibilities.
Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure that they
have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively.
TMP11 : USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS
The Council recognises that responsibility for the Treasury Management decisions remains
with the Council at all times. It recognises that there may be potential value in employing
external providers of Treasury Management services, in order to acquire access to specialist
skills and resources. When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for
reasons which will have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and benefits. Terms of
appointment will be properly agreed, documented and subject to regular review. It will ensure,
where feasible and necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid over
reliance on one or a small number of companies. Where services are subject to formal tender
or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed. The monitoring of
such arrangements rests with the Section 151 Officer, and details of the current arrangements
are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document.
TMP12 : CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its
services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be achieved.
Accordingly the Treasury Management function and its activities will be undertaken with
openness, transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.
The Council has adopted and implemented the key recommendations of the Code. This,
together with the other arrangements are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document
and are considered vital to the achievement of proper governance in Treasury Management,
and the Section 151 Officer will monitor and, if and when necessary, report upon the
effectiveness of these arrangements.
TMP 13: MANAGEMENT PRACTICES FOR NON-TREASURY INVESTMENTS
This Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily for
financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful investment
management. Such activity includes loans supporting service outcomes, investments in
subsidiaries, and investment property portfolios.
The Council will ensure that all of its investments are covered in the capital strategy and/or
investment strategy, and will set out, where relevant, the Council’s risk appetite and specific
policies and arrangements for non-treasury investments. It will be recognised that the risk
appetite for these activities may differ from that for treasury management.
The Council maintains a schedule setting out a summary of existing material investments,
subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities including financial guarantees and the Council’s risk
exposure.
The following TMPs will apply with regard to non-treasury management investments:-

Page 219

TMP1 - Risk management - including investment and risk management criteria for material
non-treasury investment portfolios
TMP2 - Performance measurement and management - including methodology and criteria
for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury investments
TMP5 - Decision making and analysis - including a statement of the governance
requirements for decision-making in relation to non-treasury investments, and arrangements to
ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision making
TMP6 - Reporting and management information - including where and how often monitoring
reports are taken
TMP10 - Training and qualifications - including how the relevant knowledge and skills in
relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

Page 220

ANNEX 9
Treasury Management Glossary of Terms

Bank Rate

The Official Bank rate paid on commercial bank
reserves i.e. reserves placed by commercial banks
with the Bank of England as part of the Bank’s
operations to reduce volatility in short term interest
rates in the money markets.

Base Rate

Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution
in the UK.

Capital Financing Requirement

The Council’s underlying need for borrowing for a
capital purpose.

Counterparty

The organisations responsible for repaying the
Council’s investment upon maturity and for making
interest payments.

Credit Default Swap (CDS)

A specific kind of counterparty agreement which
allows the transfer of third party credit risk from one
party to the other. One party in the swap is a lender
and faces credit risk from a third party, and the
counterparty in the credit default swap agrees to
insure this risk in exchange for regular periodic
payments (essentially an insurance premium). If the
third party defaults, the party providing insurance will
have to purchase from the insured party the defaulted
asset. In turn, the insurer pays the insured the
remaining interest on the debt, as well as the principal.

Credit Rating

This is a scoring system that lenders issue
organisations with, to determine how credit worthy
they are.

Gilts

These are issued by the UK Government in order to
finance public expenditure. Gilts are generally issued
for a set period and pay a fixed rate of interest for the
period.

iTraxx

This is an index published by Markit who are a leading
company in CDS pricing and valuation. The index is
based on an equal weighting of the CDS spread of 25

Page 221

European financial companies.
Clients can use the iTraxx to see where an institution’s
CDS spread is relative to that of the market and judge
its creditworthiness in that manner, as well as looking
at the credit ratings.
Liquidity

An asset is perfectly liquid if one can trade
immediately, at a price not worse than the uninformed
expected value, the quantity one desires.

Long term

A period of one year or more.

Maturity

The date when an investment is repaid or the period
covered by a fixed term investment.

Minimum Revenue Provision

Capital expenditure is generally expenditure on assets
which have a life expectancy of more than one year
e.g. buildings, vehicles, machinery etc. It would be
impractical to charge the entirety of such expenditure
to revenue in the year in which it was incurred
therefore such expenditure is spread over several
years in order to try to match the years over which
such assets benefit the local community through their
useful life. The manner of spreading these costs is
through an annual Minimum Revenue Provision.

Monetary Policy Committee (MPC)

Interest rates are set by the Bank’s Monetary Policy
Committee. The MPC sets an interest rate it judges
will enable the inflation target to be met. Their primary
target (as set by the Government) is to keep inflation
at or around 2%.

Security

An investment instrument, issued by a corporation,
government, or other organization which offers
evidence of debt or equity.

Short Term

A period of 364 days or less

Supranational Bonds

A supranational entity is formed by two or more
central governments with the purpose of promoting
economic development for the member countries.
Supranational institutions finance their activities by
issuing debt, such as supranational bonds.
Examples of supranational institutions include the

Page 222

European Investment Bank and the World Bank.
Similar to government bonds, the bonds issued by
these institutions are considered very safe and
have a high credit rating.
Treasury Management

The management of the local authority’s investments
and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital
market transactions; the effective control of the risks
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of
optimum performance consistent with those risks.

Working Capital

Cash and other liquid assets needed to finance the
everyday running of a business such as the payment
of salaries and purchases.

Yield

The annual rate of return on an investment, expressed
as a percentage.

Page 223

ANNEX 10
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS – DEFINITIONS / INTERPRETATION
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance requires local authorities to prepare Prudential
Indicators of their intended capital spending plans for the forthcoming and future years. The
indicators are intended to help the decision making process within an authority and must be
approved by the full Council before the beginning of the financial year. The indicators are
neither comparative statistics nor performance indicators. Different Councils will have different
figures reflecting their history and local circumstances.
1. Estimate of total capital expenditure to be incurred – This summarises the Council’s
current plans for the total capital expenditure over the next 3 years. Details of individual
schemes are contained within the capital estimate pages.
2. Estimates of Capital Financing Summary – This details the capital financing sources for
the next 3 years.
3. Estimated Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream - This indicator has been
calculated as debt interest, borrowing refinancing costs, minimum revenue provision,
depreciation for HRA, net of investment income and divided by the General Fund (GF) budget
requirement for the GF element of costs and the total of HRA income for the HRA costs. For
GF Account, the indicator has been calculated gross of government support in the form of
RSG for the proportion of capital expenditure funded from supported level of borrowing.
4. Capital Financing Requirement – This represents the Council’s underlying need to borrow
to finance historic capital expenditure and is derived by aggregating specified items from the
Council’s balance sheet. The actual net borrowing is lower than this because of the current
strategy to use internal borrowing rather than replace maturing debt.
5. Actual External Debt –This is a key indicator and Section 3 of the Local Government Act
2003 requires the Council to ensure that gross external debt does not, except in the short term,
exceed the total of the Capital Financing Requirement in the preceding year plus estimates of
any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.
6. Authorised Borrowing Limit for external debt - This indicator represents the maximum
amount the Council may borrow at any point in time in the year and has to be set at a level the
Council considers is prudent. It allows for uncertain cash flow movements and borrowing in
advance for future requirements. The Council does not currently have any finance lease
liabilities.
The recommended authorised limits for external debt are gross of investments and are
consistent with the Council’s current commitments, existing plans and the current treasury
management policy and strategy. The authorised limit determined for 2021-22 is the statutory
limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003.
7. Operational Boundary for external debt - The proposed operational boundary for external
debt is calculated on the same estimates as the authorised limit but reflects estimates of the
most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario, without the additional headroom included
within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash movements, and equates to

Page 224

the maximum of external debt projected by this estimate. Within the operational boundary,
figures for borrowing and other long term liabilities are separately identified.
8. Treasury Management – these indicators form part of the treasury management strategy
and policy statement approved by the Council each year before the beginning of the financial
year. The main indicators are:
(a) The adoption of CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management, which the Council
adopted before the current Prudential System was introduced.
(b) Interest Rate Exposure - The approved Treasury Policy Statement and Strategy contains
upper and lower limits for fixed and variable interest rate exposure for net outstanding principal
sums.
(c) Maturity Structure of Borrowing – The approved treasury management strategy also sets
out the maturity structure of the Council’s borrowing to ensure the Council is not exposed to
risks of having to refinance large level of debt at a time in future when interest rates may be
volatile or uncertain.
(d) Investments longer than 365 days – The approved treasury management strategy
includes a limit of £20m for investments maturing beyond 365 days.

Page 225

ANNEX 11 REVISED TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND PRUDENTIAL CODES
CIPFA released the new editions of the Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code on 20th
December 2021. CIPFA have set out the legal status of both Codes with clarification on the areas
that have to be complied with in Bold and reminder that the rest is guidance to support authorities
manage risks associated with their own Treasury and Capital Financing strategies.
Prudential Code
•

•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•

CIPFA make it clear that 2021 Code applies with immediate effect, except that authorities
may defer introducing revised reporting requirements until 2023/24 financial year (these
include changes in capital strategy, prudential indicators and investment reporting). The
ongoing principles including paragraph 51 that an authority must not borrow to invest
primarily for financial return, apply with immediate effect.
Objectives - capital plans and investment plans are affordable and proportionate; all
borrowing/other long-term liabilities are within prudent and sustainable levels; risks
associated with investment are proportionate to financial capacity and treasury management
decisions are in accordance with good professional practice.
Further strengthening on matters to be taken into account when setting and revising
prudential indicators particularly decision making on capital investment, determining a capital
strategy, prudence and affordability.
ESG in Capital Strategy - broadened to make clear the strategy should be address
environmental sustainability in a manner which is consistent with their own corporate
policies on the issue.
Commercial Property - makes clear historical asset base not impacted and that plans to
divest should be part of an annual review with views on immediate disposal being removed.
Investment Practices - will remain a requirement but some amendments will be made to
wording in documents circulated in consultation with clarity around Commercial and Service
Investment risk management framework.
Definition of Investment - separate categories for Treasury Investment, Service Investment
and Commercial Investment.
CIPFA leaves any decision to maintain long term Treasury Investment to each
Authority/S151 to justify (assumption being that these are not borrowed for) and any longer
term Treasury Investment to be linked to Business Model (e.g. a link to cash flow
management or treasury risk management).
CIPFA key concern continues to be regarding leverage and borrowing to invest particularly
for Commercial and Service Investment -with a clear statement regarding not being prudent
to make any investment or spending decision that will increase capital financing
requirement, and so lead to new borrowing, unless directly and primarily related to the
functions of the authority and where any financial returns are either related to the financial
viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose.
Capital Financing Requirement - Gross Debt and the capital financing requirement still a key
indicator, small changes to calculation of CFR to include Heritage Assets etc agreed and
noted the CFR can be a negative figure.

Treasury Management Code
•

Unlike the Prudential Code, there is no reference to effective date within the new edition of
the Treasury Management Code. CIPFA do state The TM Code, which is market guidance,
has no statutory underpinning, and there are no arrangements for supervision or
enforcement and also add that authorities do have to have regard to guidance under

Page 226

•
•
•

•

•
•

provisions of Local Government Act 2003 and in Scotland this is tightened further by finance
circular 5/2010 which requires local authorities to have regard to the TM Code.
Investment Management Practices (IMPs) implemented in TM Code for Non-Treasury
Investment and expected to follow same format used for Treasury Management Practices.
TMP1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management - some further clarification on ESG
requirements
Knowledge and Skills - TMP10 strengthened and a requirement to retain an aims and
objectives schedule added - may need some further clarification provided on proportionate
process for the smaller entities that have to comply.
TM Reporting and TM Code makes clear that reporting should set out Service and
Commercial investment risks especially where this is supported by borrowing/leverage (this
seems to be the key concern for CIPFA) with proportionate level of any borrowing a decision
for Authority/S151. Also emphasis placed that Local authorities must not borrow to invest for
the primary purpose of financial return. Other public service organisations may decide that
the same principle concerning the prudent use of public funds also applies to them.
TM Code reporting frequency - a minimum annual reports before, mid-year and after the
year-end.
Liability Benchmark - CIPFA have advised that it is a benchmark and not prescriptive and if
an Authority can justify that it is prudent to maintain a position above or below benchmark
that is up to them. It will clarify that where a LOBO is held, the maturity date will be used for
the liability benchmark. CIPFA have said that if a local authority wants to maintain longer
term treasury investments in the portfolio and that is in conflict with the Liability Benchmark
they will have to justify that is a prudent approach.

CIPFA has achieved the timeline they set themselves and issued the revised Treasury
Management and Prudential Codes and cross-sectoral guidance notes on 20th Dec 2021 with
a clear statement to say there is a soft launch with formal adoption for 2023/24 financial year but
note that the Prudential Code does state that it applies with immediate effect, except that
authorities may defer introducing revised reporting requirements until 2023/24 financial year. This
does mean each authority will have to determine if any of the changes implemented today will
impact on the ability to deliver any capital schemes that they have in the current programme for
2021/22 and future years.
It is suggested that the TMSS for 2022/23 is based on the existing templates as issued by Link
Asset Services and that the Council look to approve new versions that adopt the requirements on
the revised TM Code and Prudential Code as soon as is practicable in the new financial year. The
deadline for adopting revised reporting requirements is 31st March 2023 and we will continue to
work to ensure that the Council is fully compliant by that date.

Page 227

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B
COUNCIL
TUESDAY 14th DECEMBER 2021
REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR FINANCE AND CUSTOMER
SERVICES
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL
INVESTMENT STRATEGY MID-YEAR REVIEW REPORT 2021/22
EXEMPT INFORMATION

None
PURPOSE

To present to Members the Mid-year Review of the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy.
RECOMMENDATIONS

That Council be requested to approve the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2021/22.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This mid-year report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on
Treasury Management (revised 2017), and covers the following:•

An economic update for the half of the 2021/22 financial year;

•

A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual
Investment Strategy;

•

The Council’s Capital expenditure as set out in the Capital Strategy, and
Prudential Indicators;

•

A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22;

•

A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22;

•

A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2021/22;

•

A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2021/22.

The main issues for Members to note are:
1. The Council has complied with the professional codes, statutes and guidance.
2. There are no issues to report regarding non-compliance with the approved
prudential indicators.
3. The investment portfolio yield, excluding property fund returns, for the first six
months of the year is 0.26% (0.77% for the same period in 2020/21) compared to

Page 229
1

the 3 Month LIBID benchmark rate of -0.043% (0.11% for the same period in
2020/21).
The aim of this report is to inform Members of the treasury and investment
management issues to enable all Members to have ownership and understanding
when making decisions on Treasury Management matters. In order to facilitate this,
training on Treasury Management issues was most recently delivered for Members in
November 2019 with further training on the Corporate Capital Strategy in February
2020, and will be provided as and when required. Further training is planned in
February 2022.
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to o
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND
Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been
adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes.
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
None
BACKGROUND INFORMATION
In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. These require all local
authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy which is to provide the following:•
•
•

A high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury
management activity contribute to the provision of services
An overview of how the associated risk is managed
The implications for future financial sustainability

A report setting out our updated Capital Strategy will be included with the Budget and
Medium Term Financial Strategy report presented to Cabinet and Council in February
2022.
The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised 2017) suggests that
Members should be informed of Treasury Management activities at least twice a year,
but preferably quarterly. This is the second monitoring report for 2021/22 presented to
Members this year and therefore ensures the Council is embracing best practice.
Cabinet also receives regular monitoring reports as part of the quarterly healthcheck on
Treasury Management activities and risks.
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the
year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the Treasury Management operations ensure

Page 230
2

this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising
investment return.
The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the
Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can meet
its capital spending operations. This management of longer term cash may involve
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on
occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost
objectives.
Accordingly, Treasury Management is defined as:
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with
those risks.”
Introduction
This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury
Management (revised 2017), which was adopted by this Council on 27th February 2018.
The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:
1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets
out the policies and objectives of the Council’s Treasury Management activities.
2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.
3. Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual Report (stewardship
report) covering activities during the previous year.
4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring
Treasury Management policies and practices and for the execution and
administration of Treasury Management decisions.
5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of Treasury Management strategy
and policies to a specific named body. For this Council the delegated body is the
Audit and Governance Committee.

1.

Economic Update and Interest Rates
1.1 MPC meeting 24.9.21

Page 231
3

The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to leave Bank Rate unchanged
at 0.10% and made no changes to its programme of quantitative easing purchases due to
finish by the end of this year at a total of £895bn; two MPC members voted to stop the last
£35bn of purchases as they were concerned that this would add to inflationary pressures.
There was a major shift in the tone of the MPC’s minutes at this meeting from the previous
meeting in August which had majored on indicating that some tightening in monetary policy
was now on the horizon, but also not wanting to stifle economic recovery by too early an
increase in Bank Rate. In his press conference after the August MPC meeting, Governor
Andrew Bailey said, “the challenge of avoiding a steep rise in unemployment has been
replaced by that of ensuring a flow of labour into jobs” and that “the Committee will be
monitoring closely the incoming evidence regarding developments in the labour market,
and particularly unemployment, wider measures of slack, and underlying wage pressures.”
In other words, it was flagging up a potential danger that labour shortages could push up
wage growth by more than it expects and that, as a result, CPI inflation would stay above
the 2% target for longer. It also discounted sharp increases in monthly inflation figures in
the pipeline in late 2021 which were largely propelled by events a year ago e.g., the cut in
VAT in August 2020 for the hospitality industry, and by temporary shortages which would
eventually work their way out of the system: in other words, the MPC had been prepared
to look through a temporary spike in inflation.
So, in August the country was just put on alert. However, this time the MPC’s words
indicated there had been a marked increase in concern that more recent increases in
prices, particularly the increases in gas and electricity prices in October and due again next
April, are, indeed, likely to lead to faster and higher inflation expectations and
underlying wage growth, which would in turn increase the risk that price pressures
would prove more persistent next year than previously expected. Indeed, to
emphasise its concern about inflationary pressures, the MPC pointedly chose to
reaffirm its commitment to the 2% inflation target in its statement; this suggested that
it was now willing to look through the flagging economic recovery during the summer to
prioritise bringing inflation down next year. This is a reversal of its priorities in August and a
long way from words at earlier MPC meetings which indicated a willingness to look through
inflation overshooting the target for limited periods to ensure that inflation was ‘sustainably
over 2%’. Indeed, whereas in August the MPC’s focus was on getting through a winter of
temporarily high energy prices and supply shortages, believing that inflation would return to
just under the 2% target after reaching a high around 4% in late 2021, now its primary
concern is that underlying price pressures in the economy are likely to get embedded over
the next year and elevate future inflation to stay significantly above its 2% target and for
longer.
Financial markets are now pricing in a first increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in
February 2022, but this looks ambitious as the MPC has stated that it wants to see what
happens to the economy, and particularly to employment once furlough ends at the end of
September. At the MPC’s meeting in February it will only have available the employment
figures for November: to get a clearer picture of employment trends, it would need to wait
until the May meeting when it would have data up until February. At its May meeting, it will
also have a clearer understanding of the likely peak of inflation.
The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank Rate
versus selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows: -

Page 232
4

Placing the focus on raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most
circumstances”.
2. Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings.
3. Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts.
4. Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings.
1.

COVID-19 vaccines. These have been the game changer which have enormously boosted
confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal during the summer after a
third wave of the virus threatened to overwhelm hospitals in the spring. With the household
saving rate having been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March 2020, there is
plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for services in hard hit sectors
like restaurants, travel and hotels. The big question is whether mutations of the virus could
develop which render current vaccines ineffective, as opposed to how quickly vaccines can
be modified to deal with them and enhanced testing programmes be implemented to
contain their spread.
US. See comments below on US treasury yields.
EU. The slow role out of vaccines initially delayed economic recovery in early 2021 but the
vaccination rate has picked up sharply since then. After a contraction in GDP of -0.3% in
Q1, Q2 came in with strong growth of 2%, which is likely to continue into Q3, though some
countries more dependent on tourism may struggle. Recent sharp increases in gas and
electricity prices have increased overall inflationary pressures but the ECB is likely to see
these as being only transitory after an initial burst through to around 4%, so is unlikely to be
raising rates for a considerable time.
German general election. With the CDU/CSU and SDP both having won around 24-26%
of the vote in the September general election, the composition of Germany’s next coalition
government may not be agreed by the end of 2021. An SDP-led coalition would probably
pursue a slightly less restrictive fiscal policy, but any change of direction from a CDU/CSU
led coalition government is likely to be small. However, with Angela Merkel standing down
as Chancellor as soon as a coalition is formed, there will be a hole in overall EU leadership
which will be difficult to fill.
China. After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 2020, economic
recovery was strong in the rest of the year; this enabled China to recover all the initial
contraction. During 2020, policy makers both quashed the virus and implemented a
programme of monetary and fiscal support that was particularly effective at stimulating
short-term growth. At the same time, China’s economy benefited from the shift towards
online spending by consumers in developed markets. These factors helped to explain its
comparative outperformance compared to western economies during 2020 and earlier in
2021. However, the pace of economic growth has now fallen back after this initial surge of
recovery from the pandemic and China is now struggling to contain the spread of the Delta
variant through sharp local lockdowns - which will also depress economic growth. There
are also questions as to how effective Chinese vaccines are proving. In addition, recent
regulatory actions motivated by a political agenda to channel activities into officially
approved directions, are also likely to reduce the dynamism and long-term growth of the
Chinese economy.
Japan. 2021 has been a patchy year in combating Covid. However, after a slow start,
nearly 50% of the population are now vaccinated and Covid case numbers are falling. After

Page 233
5

a weak Q3 there is likely to be a strong recovery in Q4. The Bank of Japan is continuing its
very loose monetary policy but with little prospect of getting inflation back above 1%
towards its target of 2%, any time soon: indeed, inflation was negative in July. New Prime
Minister Kishida has promised a large fiscal stimulus package after the November general
election – which his party is likely to win.
World growth. World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021 until
starting to lose momentum more recently. Inflation has been rising due to increases in gas
and electricity prices, shipping costs and supply shortages, although these should subside
during 2022. It is likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of
world globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to
supply products, and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from those in
prior decades.
Supply shortages. The pandemic and extreme weather events have been highly
disruptive of extended worldwide supply chains. At the current time there are major
queues of ships unable to unload their goods at ports in New York, California and China.
Such issues have led to mis-distribution of shipping containers around the world and have
contributed to a huge increase in the cost of shipping. Combined with a shortage of semiconductors, these issues have had a disruptive impact on production in many countries.
Many western countries are also hitting up against a difficulty in filling job vacancies. It is
expected that these issues will be gradually sorted out, but they are currently contributing
to a spike upwards in inflation and shortages of materials and goods on shelves.
1.2 Interest rate forecasts
The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Group, provided the following forecasts on 29 th
September 2021 (PWLB rates are certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80bps):

LIBOR and LIBID rates will cease from the end of 2021. Work is currently progressing to
replace LIBOR with a rate based on SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average). In the
meantime, forecasts are based on expected average earnings by local authorities for 3 to
12 months.
Forecasts for average earnings are averages i.e., rates offered by individual banks may
differ significantly from these averages, reflecting their different needs for borrowing short
term cash at any one point in time.

Page 234
6

The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and to economies
around the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March 2020 to cut
Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings.
As shown in the forecast table above, one increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% has
now been included in quarter 2 of 2022/23, a second increase to 0.50% in quarter 2 of
23/24 and a third one to 0.75% in quarter 4 of 23/24.
Significant risks to the forecasts
• COVID vaccines do not work to combat new mutations and/or new vaccines take
longer than anticipated to be developed for successful implementation.
• The pandemic causes major long-term scarring of the economy.
• The Government implements an austerity programme that supresses GDP growth.
• The MPC tightens monetary policy too early – by raising Bank Rate or unwinding
QE.
• The MPC tightens monetary policy too late to ward off building inflationary
pressures.
• Major stock markets e.g. in the US, become increasingly judged as being overvalued and susceptible to major price corrections. Central banks become
increasingly exposed to the “moral hazard” risks of having to buy shares and
corporate bonds to reduce the impact of major financial market sell-offs on the
general economy.
• Geo-political risks are widespread e.g. German general election in September 2021
produces an unstable coalition or minority government and a void in high-profile
leadership in the EU when Angela Merkel steps down as Chancellor of Germany;
on-going global power influence struggles between Russia/China/US.
The balance of risks to the UK economy: The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside, including
residual risks from Covid and its variants - both domestically and their potential effects
worldwide.
Forecasts for Bank Rate
Bank Rate is not expected to go up fast after the initial rate rise as the supply potential of
the economy has not generally taken a major hit during the pandemic, so should be able to
cope well with meeting demand without causing inflation to remain elevated in the mediumterm, or to inhibit inflation from falling back towards the MPC’s 2% target after the surge to
around 4% towards the end of 2021. Three increases in Bank rate are forecast in the
period to March 2024, ending at 0.75%. However, these forecasts may well need changing
within a relatively short time frame for the following reasons: •
•
•

There are increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as running out of
steam during the summer and now into the autumn. This could lead into stagflation
which would create a dilemma for the MPC as to which way to face.
Will some current key supply shortages e.g., petrol and diesel, spill over into causing
economic activity in some sectors to take a significant hit?
Rising gas and electricity prices in October and next April and increases in other

Page 235
7

•
•

•

prices caused by supply shortages and increases in taxation next April, are already
going to deflate consumer spending power without the MPC having to take any
action on Bank Rate to cool inflation. Then we have the Government’s budget in
October, which could also end up in reducing consumer spending power.
On the other hand, consumers are sitting on around £200bn of excess savings left
over from the pandemic so when will they spend this sum, in part or in total?
There are 1.6 million people coming off furlough at the end of September; how many
of those will not have jobs on 1st October and will, therefore, be available to fill
labour shortages in many sectors of the economy? So, supply shortages which have
been driving up both wages and costs, could reduce significantly within the next six
months or so and alleviate the MPC’s current concerns.
There is a risk that there could be further nasty surprises on the Covid front, on top
of the flu season this winter, which could depress economic activity.

In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts, it is
likely that these forecasts will need to be revised again soon - in line with what the new
news is.
It also needs to be borne in mind that Bank Rate being cut to 0.10% was an emergency
measure to deal with the Covid crisis hitting the UK in March 2020. At any time, the MPC
could decide to simply take away that final emergency cut from 0.25% to 0.10% on the
grounds of it no longer being warranted and as a step forward in the return to
normalisation. In addition, any Bank Rate under 1% is both highly unusual and highly
supportive of economic growth.
Forecasts for PWLB rates and gilt and treasury yields
As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is likely to be a
steady rise over the forecast period, with some degree of uplift due to rising treasury yields
in the US.
There is likely to be exceptional volatility and unpredictability in respect of gilt yields
and PWLB rates due to the following factors: •

How strongly will changes in gilt yields be correlated to changes in US treasury
yields?

•

Will the Fed take action to counter increasing treasury yields if they rise beyond a
yet unspecified level?

•

Would the MPC act to counter increasing gilt yields if they rise beyond a yet
unspecified level?

•

How strong will inflationary pressures turn out to be in both the US and the UK and
so impact treasury and gilt yields?

•

How will central banks implement their new average or sustainable level inflation
monetary policies?

•

How well will central banks manage the withdrawal of QE purchases of their national
bonds i.e., without causing a panic reaction in financial markets as happened in the
“taper tantrums” in the US in 2013?

•

Will exceptional volatility be focused on the short or long-end of the yield curve, or

Page 236
8

both?
The forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the
Eurozone or EU within our forecasting period, despite the major challenges that are
looming up, and that there are no major ructions in international relations, especially
between the US and China/North Korea and Iran, which have a major impact on
international trade and world GDP growth.
Gilt and treasury yields
Since the start of 2021, there has been a lot of volatility in gilt yields, and hence PWLB
rates. During the first part of the year, US President Biden’s, and the Democratic party’s
determination to push through a $1.9trn (equivalent to 8.8% of GDP) fiscal boost for the US
economy as a recovery package from the Covid pandemic was what unsettled financial
markets. However, this was in addition to the $900bn support package already passed in
December 2020 under President Trump. This was then followed by additional Democratic
ambition to spend further huge sums on infrastructure and an American families plan over
the next decade which are caught up in Democrat / Republican haggling. Financial
markets were alarmed that all this stimulus, which is much bigger than in other western
economies, was happening at a time in the US when: 1. A fast vaccination programme has enabled a rapid opening up of the economy;
2. The economy had already been growing strongly during 2021;
3. It started from a position of little spare capacity due to less severe lockdown
measures than in many other countries. A combination of shortage of labour and
supply bottle necks is likely to stoke inflationary pressures more in the US than in
other countries; and
4. The Fed was still providing monetary stimulus through monthly QE purchases.
These factors could cause an excess of demand in the economy which could then unleash
stronger and more sustained inflationary pressures in the US than in other western
countries. This could then force the Fed to take much earlier action to start tapering
monthly QE purchases and/or increasing the Fed rate from near zero, despite their stated
policy being to target average inflation. It is notable that some Fed members have moved
forward their expectation of when the first increases in the Fed rate will occur in recent Fed
meetings. In addition, more recently, shortages of workers appear to be stoking underlying
wage inflationary pressures which are likely to feed through into CPI inflation. A run of
strong monthly jobs growth figures could be enough to meet the threshold set by the Fed of
“substantial further progress towards the goal of reaching full employment”. However, the
weak growth in August, (announced 3.9.21), has spiked anticipation that tapering of
monthly QE purchases could start by the end of 2021. These purchases are currently
acting as downward pressure on treasury yields. As the US financial markets are, by far,
the biggest financial markets in the world, any trend upwards in the US will invariably
impact and influence financial markets in other countries. However, during June and July,
longer term yields fell sharply; even the large non-farm payroll increase in the first week of
August seemed to cause the markets little concern, which is somewhat puzzling,
particularly in the context of the concerns of many commentators that inflation may not be
as transitory as the Fed is expecting it to be. Indeed, inflation pressures and erosion of
surplus economic capacity look much stronger in the US than in the UK. As an average
since 2011, there has been a 75% correlation between movements in 10 year
treasury yields and 10 year gilt yields. This is a significant UPWARD RISK exposure
to our forecasts for longer term PWLB rates. However, gilt yields and treasury yields

Page 237
9

do not always move in unison.
There are also possible DOWNSIDE RISKS from the huge sums of cash that the UK
populace have saved during the pandemic; when savings accounts earn little interest, it is
likely that some of this cash mountain could end up being invested in bonds and so push
up demand for bonds and support their prices i.e., this would help to keep their yields
down. How this will interplay with the Bank of England eventually getting round to not
reinvesting maturing gilts and then later selling gilts, will be interesting to keep an eye on.
The balance of risks to medium to long term PWLB rates: There is a balance of upside risks to forecasts for medium to long term PWLB rates.
A new era – a fundamental shift in central bank monetary policy
One of the key results of the pandemic has been a fundamental rethinking and shift in
monetary policy by major central banks like the Fed, the Bank of England and the ECB, to
tolerate a higher level of inflation than in the previous two decades when inflation was the
prime target to bear down on so as to stop it going above a target rate. There is now also a
greater emphasis on other targets for monetary policy than just inflation, especially on
‘achieving broad and inclusive “maximum” employment in its entirety’ in the US before
consideration would be given to increasing rates.
•

•
•

•

•

The Fed in America has gone furthest in adopting a monetary policy based on a
clear goal of allowing the inflation target to be symmetrical, (rather than a ceiling to
keep under), so that inflation averages out the dips down and surges above the
target rate, over an unspecified period of time.
The Bank of England has also amended its target for monetary policy so that
inflation should be ‘sustainably over 2%’ and the ECB now has a similar policy.
For local authorities, this means that investment interest rates and very short
term PWLB rates will not be rising as quickly or as high as in previous
decades when the economy recovers from a downturn and the recovery
eventually runs out of spare capacity to fuel continuing expansion.
Labour market liberalisation since the 1970s has helped to break the wage-price
spirals that fuelled high levels of inflation and has now set inflation on a lower path
which makes this shift in monetary policy practicable. In addition, recent changes in
flexible employment practices, the rise of the gig economy and technological
changes, will all help to lower inflationary pressures.
Governments will also be concerned to see interest rates stay lower as every rise in
central rates will add to the cost of vastly expanded levels of national debt; (in the
UK this is £21bn for each 1% rise in rates). On the other hand, higher levels of
inflation will help to erode the real value of total public debt.

2. Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy
Update
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22 was approved by

Page 238
10

Council on 23rd February 2021.
There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position
in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already approved.
3. The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)
This part of the report is structured to update:
•

The Council’s capital expenditure plans;

•

How these plans are being financed;

•

The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and

•

Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

3.1 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure
This table below shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes
since the capital programme was agreed at the Budget.
2021/22
Original
Programme

Budget
B’fwd
from
2020/21

Virements
in Year

Total
2021/22
Budget

Actual
Spend @
Period 6

Predicted
Outturn

2021/22
Revised
Estimate*

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

General
Fund

15.211

15.548

0.095

30.854

1.625

16.108

30.779

HRA

9.461

11.997

-

21.458

7.372

12.381

20.865

Total

24.672

27.545

0.095

52.312

8.997

28.489

51.644

Capital
Expenditure

* Includes potential expenditure slippage into 2022/23 of £23.155m

3.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme
The following table draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure
plans (above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the capital
programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital expenditure. Any
borrowing element of the table increases the underlying indebtedness of the Council by
way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), although this will be reduced in part by
revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision). This direct
borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury
requirements.
Capital Expenditure

2021/22

2021/22

2021/22

Capital
Programme

Predicted
Outturn

Budget *

Page 239
11

£m

£m

£m

Unsupported

0.666

1.317

2.242

Supported

24.006

27.172

50.070

Total spend

24.672

28.489

52.312

Grants - Disabled Facilities

0.481

0.922

0.922

Section 106's

0.120

0.737

0.890

GF Receipts

2.050

9.219

14.968

GF Reserve

-

0.032

0.152

Sale of Council House Receipts

0.212

0.271

0.510

HRA Receipts

0.600

0.633

0.712

HLF/Donation - Castle Mercian Trail

-

0.066

0.066

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

-

-

0.030

Other Grants/Contributions

11.682

3.641

11.777

MRR

2.809

3.625

3.760

HRA 1-4-1 Replacements Receipts

0.527

2.623

3.175

HRA Reserve

3.960

4.912

10.528

HRA Regeneration Fund

1.564

0.367

2.456

-

0.124

0.124

Total Financing

24.006

27.172

50.070

Borrowing need

0.666

1.317

2.242

Financed by:

HRA Affordable Housing Reserve

* includes schemes re-profiled from 2020/21 of £27.545m

3.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement,
External Debt and the Operational Boundary
The following table shows the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), which is the
underlying external need to incur borrowing for a capital purpose. It also shows the
expected debt position over the period, which is termed the Operational Boundary.

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement
We are on target to achieve the original forecast Capital Financing Requirement.

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for External Debt
2020/21

2021/22

Page 240
12

2021/22

2021/22

CFR – Non Housing
CFR – Housing
Total CFR
Net movement in CFR
Operational Boundary
Expected Borrowing
Other long term liabilities
Total Debt 31st March

3.4

Outturn

Capital
Programme

Projected
Outturn

Budget

£m
3.612
69.893
73.506
1.450

£m
4.736
70.396
75.132
0.871

£m
4.674
69.991
74.665
1.160

£m
4.963
70.596
75.559
2.053

63.060
63.060

63.060
63.060

63.060
63.060

63.060
63.060

Limits to Borrowing Activity

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over
the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital
purpose. Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of
CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2021/22 and next
two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.
The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered
to if this proves prudent.
2020/21

Gross borrowing
Less investments
Net borrowing
CFR (year end position)

Outturn
£m
63.060
61.615
1.445
73.506

2021/22
Original
Estimate
£m
63.060
27.197
35.863
75.132

2021/22
Projected
Outturn
£m
63.060
59.666
3.395
74.665

2021/22
Budget
£m
63.060
58.740
4.320
75.559

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised Limit
which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set and
revised by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is the expected maximum
borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit
determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.
Authorised Limit for External
Debt

2021/22
Original
Indicator

Current
Position

Page 241
13

2021/22
Revised
Indicator

Borrowing

87.143

87.143

87.143

Total

87.143

87.143

87.143

4. Borrowing
The Council’s estimated revised capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2021/22 is
£74.665m. The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.
If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external
borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing). The
balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions. Table
3.4 shows the Council has borrowings of £63.060m and plans to utilise £11.605m of cash
flow funds in lieu of borrowing. This is a prudent and cost effective approach in the current
economic climate but will require ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt
yields prevails.
It is not anticipated that any additional borrowing will be undertaken during 2021/22.
PWLB maturity certainty rates (gilts plus 80bps) year to date to 30th September 2021

Page 242
14

Gilt yields and PWLB rates were on a falling trend between May and August. However,
they rose sharply towards the end of September.
The 50 year PWLB target certainty rate for new long-term borrowing started 2021/22 at
1.90%, rose to 2.00% in May, fell to 1.70% in August and returned to 2.00% at the end of
September after the MPC meeting of 23rd September.
•

The current PWLB rates are set as margins over gilt yields as follows: -.
• PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
• PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)
• PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
• PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)
• Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

5. Debt Rescheduling
Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic climate and

Page 243
15

following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields which have impacted
PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt rescheduling has therefore been
undertaken to date in the current financial year.
6. Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits
It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable
borrowing limits. During the half year ended 30th September 2021, the Council has
operated within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy Statement for 2021/22. The Executive Director Finance reports that
no difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in complying with these
indicators.
All treasury management operations have also been conducted in full compliance with the
Council's Treasury Management Practices.
7. Annual Investment Strategy
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22, which includes the
Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 23rd February 2021. In
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice, it sets out the
Council’s investment priorities as being:
• Security of capital
• Liquidity
• Yield
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk
appetite. In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep investments
short term to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value available in periods up to 12
months with high credit rated financial institutions, using the Link suggested
creditworthiness approach, including a minimum sovereign credit rating and Credit Default
Swap (CDS) overlay information.
As shown by the interest rate forecasts in section 1.2, it is now impossible to earn the level
of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as all short-term money market
investment rates have only risen weakly since Bank Rate was cut to 0.10% in March 2020
until the MPC meeting on 24th September 2021 when 6 and 12 month rates rose in
anticipation of Bank Rate going up in 2022. Given this environment and the fact that Bank
Rate may only rise marginally, or not at all, before mid-2023, investment returns are
expected to remain low.
Creditworthiness
Significant levels of downgrades to Short and Long Term credit ratings have not
materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any
alterations were limited to Outlooks. However, as economies are beginning to reopen,
there have been some instances of previous lowering of Outlooks being reversed.
Investment Counterparty criteria
The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the

Page 244
16

requirement of the treasury management function.
CDS prices
Although CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), for banks (including those
from the UK) spiked at the outset of the pandemic in 2020, they have subsequently
returned to near pre-pandemic levels. However, sentiment can easily shift, so it remains
important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the current
circumstances.
Investment balances
The Council held £79.333m of investments as at 30th September 2021, excluding
investments in property funds (£57.972m at 31st March 2021) and the investment portfolio
yield for the first six months of the year is 0.26% against a benchmark of the 3 months
LIBID of -0.043%. A full list of investments held as at 30th September 2021 is detailed in
APPENDIX 1.
The Executive Director Finance confirms that the approved limits within the Annual
Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 2021/22.
The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2021/22 is £94.7k.
Investment Counterparty Criteria
The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS and as
approved by Council on 23rd February 2021 meets the requirements of the Treasury
Management function.
8.Changes in risk appetite
The 2018 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes have placed enhanced importance on risk
management. Where an authority changes its risk appetite e.g. for moving surplus cash
into or out of certain types of investment funds or other types of investment instruments,
this change in risk appetite and policy should be brought to members’ attention in treasury
management update reports. There are no such changes to report to Members at this
stage.
9. Property Funds
To date, the Council has invested £1.85m with Schroders UK Real Estate Fund and £2m
with Threadneedle Property Unit Trust, total investment £3.85m. Although the capital
values of the funds did initially fall, mainly since 31st March 2020, they have since
recovered and as at 30th September 2021 there is an overall gain of £39k. It should be
noted that investments in property are subject to fluctuations in value over the economic
cycle and should yield capital growth in the longer term as the economy grows.

Page 245
17

Table 1: Fund Valuations
Schroders UK Real Estate Fund
Valuation Increase / (reduction)
Threadneedle Property Unit
Trust
Valuation Increase / (reduction)
Total
Gain / (loss)

Investment
1,848,933

2,000,249
3,849,182

Valuation
31/03/2021
1,848,933
0

Valuation
30/09/2021
1,970,287
121,354

1,794,439
(205,810)
3,643,372
(205,810)

1,917,790
(82,459)
3,888,077
38,895

The following table details the dividend returns achieved from the property fund
investments, which support the revenue budget. The Council received £128k in dividends
from its property fund investments in 2020/21 (£147k in 2019/20), and has received £67k
for the current financial year as at 30th September 2021.
Dividend
Returns
31/03/2021

Dividend
Returns
30/09/2021

Estimated
Return
p.a. %

52,898
157,654

28,483
186,137

3.1%

Threadneedle
Property
Unit
Trust
Cumulative Return
Total
Cumulative Return

75,452
225,781
128,350
383,435

38,292
264,073
66,775
450,210

3.8%

Annual % Return

3.3%

3.5%

3.5%

Investment
Returns
Schroders UK Real
Estate Fund
Cumulative Return

Half year only to
30/9/21
for
2021/22

The funds achieved an estimated return of 3.3% in 2020/21 and 3.8% during 2019/20
compared to internal investments with banks and other Councils of less than 1%.
The MTFS includes budgeted income of £300k for 2021/22 (£420k pa from 2022/23)
arising from investment of the full £12m budgeted. Following a review of the further
investment in property funds (due to uncertainty around arrangements for Brexit and the
associated impact on the economy, and then further uncertainty over the impact of the
coronavirus on future property fund returns), Council approved the investment of the
remaining £8.131m on 21st September 2021.
Further property fund investments totalling £8.113m were therefore made at the end
October 2021 – an additional £4.057m with Threadneedle Property Unit Trust and £4.056m
with Hermes Federated Property Unit. Both property funds are diverse across the
industrial/office/warehouse/other sectors, with relatively low exposure to retail.
Threadneedle’s forecast revenue return is 4.2% and Hermes is 3.98%.

Page 246
18

REPORT AUTHOR
Please contact Stefan Garner, Executive Director Finance, extension 242, or Jo
Goodfellow, Head of Finance, extension 241.
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Background Papers -

Local Government Act 2003
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management in Public Services 2017
Annual Report on the Treasury Management
Service and Actual Prudential Indicators 2020/21
– Council 21st September 2021
Treasury Management Strategy & Prudential
Indicators Report 2021/22 - Council 23rd
February 2021
Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy
2021/22 - Council 23rd February 2021
Financial Healthcheck Period 6, September 2021

Page 247
19

APPENDIX 1
Investments held as at 30th September 2021:
Borrower

Deposit

£

Rate

%

From

To

Notice

Thurrock Council

5,000,000

0.65%

09-Oct-20

07-Oct-22

-

Plymouth City Council

5,000,000

0.35%

30-Oct-20

29-Oct-21

-

Goldman Sachs

5,000,000

0.23%

29-Apr-21

29-Oct-21

-

Thurrock Council

5,000,000

0.20%

15-Jul-21

15-Jul-22

Standard Chartered

10,000,000

0.13%

13-May-21

15-Nov-21

-

Goldman Sachs

5,000,000

0.16%

12-Aug-21

14-Feb-22

-

Lloyds Bank

8,003,529

0.05%

-

-

95 day

Santander

10,000,000

0.6%

-

-

180 day

MMF – Aberdeen

10,000,000

0.01%*

-

-

On call

MMF – PSDF

10,000,000

0.02%*

-

-

On call

MMF – Federated

6,329,000

0.01%*

-

-

On call

79,332,529

0.20%

-

-

-

Schroders UK Real Estate
Fund

1,848,933

3.08%

-

-

On call

Threadneedle Property Unit
Trust

2,000,249

3.83%

-

-

On Call

83,181,711

0.35%

-

-

-

Total

Total

* Interest rate fluctuates daily dependant on the funds investment portfolio, rate quoted is approximate 7 day average.

Property Fund Investments held as at 30th September 2021:

Fund

Initial Investment

Fund Value 30/9/21

2021/22 Return
(to Sept 21)

Schroders UK Real Estate Fund

£1,848,933.03

£1,970,286.90

£28,483.26

3.08%

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust

£2,000,248.90

£1,917,789.91

£38,291.88

3.83%

Total

£3,849,181.93

£3,888,076.81

£66,775.14

3.47%

Page 248
20

Agenda Item 11
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Wednesday 8th June 2022
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FINANCE
RISK MANAGEMENT QUARTERLY UPDATE

Purpose
To report on the Risk Management process and progress for Quarter 4 of the
2021/22 financial year
Recommendations
•

That the Committee endorses the Corporate Risk Register.

Executive Summary
One of the functions of the Audit & Governance Committee is to monitor the
effectiveness of the Authority’s Strategic risk management arrangements. This report
includes the actions taken to manage those risks and raise issues of concern that
may impact the Authority. Corporate risks are identified, managed and monitored by
the Corporate Management Team (CMT) on a quarterly basis.
A copy of the current Corporate Risk Register is attached, as Appendix A. There has
been little change on the risk register for the last quarter. As reported in the last
quarter the peer review has been removed and will be re-instated when it is
rescheduled.
The Operational risk champions group have met to discuss cross service risks and
will report items of significance that could affect the strategic risks. From the recent
meeting of the group the issue of note raised was the growing impact of supply
shortages and increased costs. This issue will be monitored, and mitigating
measures adopted where possible.
The various national shortages over a range of goods and services continue and are
areas for concern and consideration, these include HGV drivers, gas supplies, fuel
costs, construction materials, and the general shortages of skilled workers leading to
increased staff costs in many industries. These do not all directly affect the provision
of our services but continue to have an upward pressure on costs levels as inflation
increases, or lengthen project delivery timetables. There is also a heightened risk of
cyber-attacks as a result of the conflict in the Ukraine for which the Information
Technology team are taking steps to mitigate.
At the same time as rising supply costs there is also the potential for a fall in income
as the disposable income of the general public reduces due to the pressures on the
household purse. This has the potential to affect collection rates for Council Tax and
Housing rents it is also possible that income to attractions and events will reduce. It is
Page
1 249

early in the year to determine what the effect, if any, will be but the situation will be
monitored.
Options Considered
None.
Resource Implications
None.
Legal / Risk Implications
There are no direct legal implications from this report but failure to manage strategic
risks could lead to issues in delivering strategic priorities.
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
None
BACKGROUND INFORMATION
None
REPORT AUTHOR
Roger Bennett Head of Finance ext. 246
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
None
APPENDICES
Appendix A Corporate Risk Register

Page 2250

Corporate Risks Summary Page
Generated on: 20 May 2022
Corporate Risk Heading

Status

Status

Current Risk Matrix

Executive Leadership Team

Warning

Stefan Garner

Modernisation and commercial agenda

OK

Anica Goodwin

Governance

Warning

Anica Goodwin

Community Focus

Warning

Rob Barnes

Page 251

Finance/Financial stability

1

Corporate Risk Heading

Status

Status

Current Risk Matrix

Executive Leadership Team

Economic Growth and Sustainability

Warning

Stefan Garner

Organisational Resilience

Warning

Rob Barnes

Page 252
2

1. Finance/Financial Viability
Generated on: 20 May 2022
Corporate Risk

To ensure that the Council is financially sustainable as an organisation

Original Matrix

Current Risk Matrix

Target Risk Matrix

Severity

4

Severity

3

Severity

3

Likelihood

4

Likelihood

3

Likelihood

2

Risk Score

16

Risk Score

9

Risk Score

6

Date Reviewed

05-May-2022

Target Date

Page 253

Causes

* Austerity cuts/Major variances to the level of
Consequences
grant/subsidy
* The uncertainty and financial disruption from External
economic influences - mainly on income levels and
current cost / inflationary pressures (and potential
contractual cost increases)
* Poor Procurement practices and weak or ineffective
Contract Management meaning VFM not maximised
and TBC exposed to unnecessary liabilities.

Risk Control Measure

Risk Control Measure Due
Date

Manage impact of Welfare benefit reforms

31-Mar-2022

Corporate Project
Tina Mustafa
completed and now part of
wider self assessment
improvement plan

Maximise Business rate retention including equalisation
reserves

30-Jun-2022

Year end NNDR3 return
Joanne Goodfellow
being prepared during May
2022

Monthly budget management

30-Jun-2022

Updated MTFS approved
by Council in February
2022 Qtr 4. Provisional
outturn due to be reported
during June 2022

3

Risk Control Measure
Status

* Inability to plan long term due to uncertainty over
future Local Government funding. The planned funding
reforms, Fair Funding Review, business rates reset and
the revised business rates retention scheme has been
deferred again although no timescales have been
released.
* Unplanned cost reductions / savings requirements
* Financial issues leading to the Authority being taken
over by Government appointed officers
Risk Control Measure Note Assistant Director

Joanne Goodfellow

Recovery and Reset Programme

31-Mar-2025

Highlight reports shared
Tina Mustafa
with corporate scrutiny as
part of wider R&R reporting
arrangements

Robust monitoring process for MTFS in place and
Quarterley Healtcheck update to Members

30-Jun-2022

Updated MTFS approved
by Council in February
2022 Qtr 4. Provisional
outturn due to be reported
during June 2022

Latest Note

Joanne Goodfellow

As part of the recent Spending Review, no announcement was made about the Government’s plans for funding reform or a reset of the
Business Rates Retention (BRR) system, both of which were originally expected to be implemented in 2019/20, but which have been delayed
a number of times.
The 2022/23 local government finance settlement has now been published, for one year only and is based on the Spending Review 2021
(SR21) funding levels. No detailed announcements are made on funding reform, though the Government have stated that it is committed to
ensuring that funding allocations for councils are based on an up-to-date assessment of their needs and resources and over the coming
months, they will work closely with the sector to look at the challenges and opportunities facing the sector before consulting on any potential
changes.

Page 254

While this means the Council will be able to retain its business rate growth for 2022/23, it also means that the uncertainty continues and
potentially the Council still faces losing this growth from 2023/24 as, over the coming months, the Government have stated that they will work
with the sector before consulting on funding reform.

Corporate Priority affected

To be financially stable

The impact of the current cost pressures will be monitored and updates reported to Members on a Quarterly basis within the Quarterly
Performance Report.

To ensure our decisions are driven by evidence and knowledge
To facilitate sustainable growth and economic prosperity

4

2. Modernisation and Commercialisation Agenda
Generated on: 20 May 2022
Corporate Risk

Failure to Develop and implement Continuous Service improvement and develop
employees to perform the right work

Original Matrix

Current Risk Matrix

Target Risk Matrix

2

Severity

2

Severity

1

Likelihood

2

Likelihood

2

Likelihood

2

Risk Score

4

Risk Score

4

Risk Score

2

Date Reviewed

29-Apr-2022

Target Date

Page 255

Severity

Causes

Risk Control Measure

* Slow or no progress on commercial investment
Consequences
strategy
* Under utilisation of Assets
* The uncertainty and financial disruption from External
Economic influences and current cost / inflationary
pressures (and potential contractual cost increases.
* Failure to have the organisational structure and a
skilled and motivated workforce
Risk Control Measure Due
Date

Continue with channel shift to digital across all
31-Mar-2022
departments and Implement Corporate customer portals

Risk Control Measure
Status

* Tamworth not seen as a positive place to live or
invest in
* Lack of economic and commercial growth
* General community malaise
* Unable to deliver agreed strategies

Risk Control Measure Note Assistant Director
portal live
digital development plan
corporate project from April
2022

5

Zoe Wolicki

Corporate Project Management

31-Mar-2022

corporate plan
implemented

Zoe Wolicki

corporate project
management review
complete
pentana development to
support new reporting
underway
First quarterly report due
early July
Delivery of the planned commercialisation strategy

31-Mar-2022

Management of Assets - deliver Corporate Capital
Strategy and Asset Management Strategy actions

31-Dec-2021

Page 256

31-Mar-2022

Workforce Planning

Draft Strategy written

Paul Weston
Corporate Capital Strategy
and action plan approved
by Council in February
2022. Condition survey and
Gap analysis completed.
Data to be analysed during
2022.
various activities around
covid
SMART working project,
A number of service
reviuews supported by HR
Ongoing dialogue with
trade unions
succession planning
process to be implemented
2022-23

Latest Note

6

Joanne Goodfellow

Zoe Wolicki

Corporate Priority affected

To be financially stable
To ensure our employees have the right skills and culture to help our residents, visitors and businesses
To ensure our service delivery is consistent, clear, and focused
To ensure our decisions are driven by evidence and knowledge
To facilitate sustainable growth and economic prosperity
To create a new and developing vision for the continued evolution of Tamworth, including a Town Centre fit for the 21st century

Page 257
7

3. Governance
Generated on: 20 May 2022
Corporate Risk

Avoid bad practices and contravention of legislative requirements and ensure the
authority is held to account

Original Matrix

Current Risk Matrix

Target Risk Matrix

Severity

4

Severity

3

Severity

1

Likelihood

3

Likelihood

2

Likelihood

2

Page 258

12

Risk Score

6

Risk Score

2

Date Reviewed

04-May-2022

Target Date

Consequences

* Prosecution of individuals
* Loss of reputation
* Authority taken over by Government appointed officers

Risk Score
Causes

* Failure of democratic process
* Non-adherence to legislation - Ultra-vires actions and
decisions
* Cyber Attack due to lack of preparedness
* No horizon scanning of legislative changes

Risk Control Measure

Risk Control Measure Due
Date

Audit and Scrutiny Committees

31-Mar-2022

Cyber Security

31-Mar-2022

* Increase in costs, Legal and settlement
Risk Control Measure
Status

Risk Control Measure Note Assistant Director
Joanne Goodfellow
PSN compliance achieved

Zoe Wolicki

Grant funding for cyber
qualifications achieved
Data Protection

31-Mar-2022

no further reports to ICO

Policies and Procedures

31-Mar-2022

Policies are managed via Zoe Wolicki
astute policy management
system - updates provided
to CMT

Latest Note

8

score reduced on the review of this risk.

Zoe Wolicki

Corporate Priority affected

To ensure our employees have the right skills and culture to help our residents, visitors and businesses
To ensure our service delivery is consistent, clear, and focused
To ensure our decisions are driven by evidence and knowledge

Page 259
9

4. Community Focus
Generated on: 20 May 2022
Corporate Risk

Safety, health and wellbeing of the citizens of the borough

Original Matrix

Current Risk Matrix

Target Risk Matrix

3

Severity

3

Severity

2

Likelihood

4

Likelihood

3

Likelihood

2

Risk Score

12

Risk Score

9

Risk Score

4

Date Reviewed

19-May-2022

Target Date

Consequences

*
*
*
*
*

Risk Control Measure
Status

Risk Control Measure Note Assistant Director

Page 260

Severity

Causes

*
*
*
*

Lack of Community cohesion and engagement
Children & Adults at Risk of Abuse & Neglect
Modern Slavery
Lack of Affordable homes

Increase in crime and disorder
Increased tensions in the community
Death or serious injury
Poor and overcrowded housing
Increased demand for social housing

Risk Control Measure

Risk Control Measure Due
Date

Financial Inclusion policy

31-Mar-2022

Partnership Groups around Vulnerabilty

31-Mar-2022

Joanne Sands

Partnership Working

31-Mar-2022

Joanne Sands

Training for Staff and Members

31-Mar-2022

Financial Inclusion
Tina Mustafa
Corporate Project closed
and management of
improvement plan now part
of HQN assessments

member induction planned Zoe Wolicki
for 12 May
additional training as
required via e learning on
astute

10

Latest Note
Corporate Priority affected

To ensure our service delivery is consistent, clear, and focused
To ensure our decisions are driven by evidence and knowledge
To meet housing needs through a variety of approaches and interventions
To facilitate sustainable growth and economic prosperity

Page 261
11

5. Economic Growth and Sustainability
Generated on: 20 May 2022
Corporate Risk

Lack of economic growth and sustainability in the Borough at the levels required

Original Matrix

Current Risk Matrix

Target Risk Matrix

4

Severity

3

Severity

2

Likelihood

3

Likelihood

3

Likelihood

2

Risk Score

12

Risk Score

9

Risk Score

4

Date Reviewed

05-May-2022

Target Date

Consequences

* Economic prosperity declines
* Deprivation
* Reduced Business Rates income

Risk Control Measure
Status

Risk Control Measure Note Assistant Director

Page 262

Severity

Causes

Risk Control Measure

* Lack of investment in the Borough
* General downturn in the economy due to factors
beyond our control
* Failure to recognise economic changes
Risk Control Measure Due
Date

Develop a Master plan for the Town Centre & delivery of 31-Mar-2022
a co-ordinated Town Centre Programme

It is anticipated that a
masterplan for the town
centre will be delivered
with the assistance of
Homes England.

Longterm Investment / Prepare a viable deliverable plan 31-Mar-2022
that delivers the regeneration of Gungate

Significant work is
Anna Miller
underway to deliver
Gungate. A report will be
going to Cabinet in the
summer setting out a plan,
how to fund it and what
partnership arrangements
are being negotiated.
Homes England will be
partnering with TBA - a
Heads of Terms have
already been signed an an
MOU is imminent.

12

Anna Miller

Support to local business

31-Mar-2022

A business support
workplan was approved at
Cabinet in March 2022
which seeks to deliver
direct support and a new
tourism strategy with
deliverable actions.

Anna Miller

Latest Note

The project for the town centre regeneration financed by the Future High street fund and being undertaken in conjunction with the Tamworth
College represents a major contribution to the town centre programme and therefore a high profile risk area

Corporate Priority affected

To be financially stable
To ensure our employees have the right skills and culture to help our residents, visitors and businesses
To ensure our service delivery is consistent, clear, and focused
To ensure our decisions are driven by evidence and knowledge
To facilitate sustainable growth and economic prosperity
To create a new and developing vision for the continued evolution of Tamworth, including a Town Centre fit for the 21st century

Page 263
13

6. Organisational Resilience
Generated on: 20 May 2022
Corporate Risk

Failure to provide services or maintain the continued wellbeing and operations within the
Borough

Original Matrix

Current Risk Matrix

Target Risk Matrix

Severity

3

Severity

3

Severity

1

Likelihood

4

Likelihood

3

Likelihood

1

Page 264

12

Risk Score

9

Risk Score

1

Date Reviewed

19-May-2022

Target Date

Consequences

*
*
*
*

Risk Control Measure
Status

Risk Control Measure Note Assistant Director

Risk Score
Causes

* Significant event outside of our control e.g. major
disaster, pandemic etc.
* Staff not aware of action to be taken in the event of
an emergency/disaster
* Lack of sufficient agile operational options

Services not delivered
Life and property put in harms way
Reduced 'economic attractiveness'
Loss of reputation

Risk Control Measure

Risk Control Measure Due
Date

Business Continuity Planning

31-Mar-2022

Detailed plan of action in
place to review wider BC
plans.

Emergency Planning

31-Mar-2022

Desk top review approved Tina Mustafa
by CMT with an agreed
Improvement Plan for 3
years. Being managed via
the EM/BC Planning group
with qtrly updates

Latest Note

14

Paul Weston

Corporate Priority affected

To be financially stable
To ensure our employees have the right skills and culture to help our residents, visitors and businesses
To ensure our service delivery is consistent, clear, and focused
To ensure our decisions are driven by evidence and knowledge
To meet housing needs through a variety of approaches and interventions
To facilitate sustainable growth and economic prosperity
To create a new and developing vision for the continued evolution of Tamworth, including a Town Centre fit for the 21st century

Page 265
15

This page is intentionally left blank

Audit and Governance Committee

Agenda Item 12

Wednesday, 8 June 2022

Report of the Monitoring Officer

Update on the new updated LGA Model Code of Conduct

Exempt Information
None.
Purpose
To inform members and bring to their attention the new Local Government Association Model
(LGA) Code of Conduct in response the recommendations made by the Office for Standards
in Public Life so the Committee can consider whether to adopt it in full or in part, or to retain
the Council’s current Code of Conduct for Councillors (“Code of Conduct”).
Recommendations
It is recommended that:
1. That members note the new LGA model code of conduct.
2. That the Council’s current Code of Conduct and Procedure for dealing with Code of
Conduct complaints is reviewed by the Monitoring Officer and legal (where
required) and revised code be presented to the Audit & Governance Committee in
January 2023. This may incorporate specific elements of the LGA Model Code.
3. Welcome a number of all member workshops prior to the final draft being
presented to A&G in January 2023.
4. Note and approve the timetable for review
Reason for recommendation
To ensure that the Council’s Code of Conduct is and continues to be fit for purpose
Executive Summary
Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires local authority must adopt ‘a code dealing
with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members of the authority when
they are acting in that capacity.

Options Considered
N/A

Resource Implications
N/A

Legal/Risk Implications Background
Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011, requires each local authority has to adopt a Members’
Code of Conduct
Equalities Implications
None identified.

Page 267

Environment and Sustainability Implications (including climate change)
N/A

Background Information
Members will recall a report from the Office for Standards in Public Life that made a number
of recommendations in relation to the form and content of codes of conduct for member
behaviour.
Partially in response to this report the Local Government Association commissioned a new
model code of conduct document in December 2020, with guidance on the application of the
Model Code due to be available in March 2021 however this was delayed until July 2021.
A link is provided to the model code and updated guidance below.
•
•

Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020 | Local
Government Association
Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct |
Local Government Association

In addition to the guidance and in response to the LGA’s request for views (21 September
2021) on what training support would be helpful, the LGA developed (15 March 2022) further
resource to support councils to deliver comprehensive and bespoke training to Councillors on
the Member Code of Conduct.
Members are not being asked to recommend the model code for adoption, but it is being
shared at this time to ensure members of the Audit & Governance Committee can familiarise
themselves with it.
It isn’t considered appropriate to adopt the new LGA code or propose a revised Council Code
in the middle of the municipal year. It would be more appropriate for the Monitoring Officer to
review the Council’s code between September and November, incorporating a number of all
member workshops to capture members views and these fed into the draft code, with the
view to present to final draft to A&G Committee (January 2023) and the Full Council (March
2023). The revised code coming into effect in time for the new municipal year 2023/2024.
This will provide a clear transition date and can be built into the training for new Councillors
post-election.
The Monitoring Officer also intends to review the Procedure for Dealing with Code of
Conduct Complaints and to bring a revised procedure to Audit & Governance Committee in
January 2023.
The Council has a code of conduct in place and there is no legal requirement for this to be
replaced or for the Council to adopt the new LGA Model, however it is acknowledged that
there are some potential positives in the new updated LGA Code which can be added to the
Council’s Code.
Timetable
September 2022 – November 2022
• Review of the current code of conduct by the Monitoring Officer with the consideration
of including any new elements of the new LGA Model code.
• Review of code of conduct complaints process
• 2 x all member workshops to be arranged so members views can be taken as part of
the drafting process.
January 2023
• Revised code of conduct presented to A&G for consideration and potential referral to
the Full Council

Page 268

•

Revised code of conduct complaints process presented to A&G for consideration and
potential referral to the Full Council
February 2023
• Revised code conduct and procedures presented to Full Council for consideration
and approval
May 2024
• Implementation of new code of conduct
• Revised code of conduct training all Councillors

Report Author
Nicola Hesketh – Information Governance Manager (Monitoring Officer)

List of Background Papers
None

Appendices
None

Page 269

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, 8 JUNE 2022

REPORT OF THE AUDIT MANAGER

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND QUARTERLY UPDATE OF PROGRESS

EXEMPT INFORMATION
None.

PURPOSE
This report comprises Internal Audit’s Annual Report (Appendix1), which includes results for
the quarter 4 to 31 March 2022.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee notes Internal Audit’s Annual Report (Appendix 1), which includes
the results for the quarter 4 to 31 March 2022.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require councils to undertake an effective
internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of their risk management, control and
governance processes, taking into account Public Sector Internal Auditing Standardsor
guidance.
This opinion forms part of the framework of assurances that is received by the council and
should be used to help inform the annual governance statement. Internalaudit also has an
independent and objective consultancy role to help managers improve risk management,
governance and control.
In giving the annual audit opinion 2020/21, it should be noted that assurance can never be
absolute. The most that the internal audit service can provide the council isa reasonable
assurance that there are no major weaknesses in risk management, governance and
control processes.
Annual Internal Audit Opinion
On the basis of audit work completed, Internal audit’s opinion on the council’s framework of
governance, risk management and internal control is reasonable in its overall design and
effectiveness. Certain weaknesses and exceptions were highlighted by audit work. These
matters have been discussed with management, towhom recommendations have been
made. All of these have been, or are in the process of being addressed.
Specific Issues
No specific issues have been highlighted through the work undertaken by internal audit
during the year.

Page 271

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None.
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND
Failure to report would lead to non-compliance with the requirements of the Annual
Governance Statement and the Public Internal Audit Standards.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATION
None.

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (INCLUDING CLIMATE
CHANGE)
None.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
None.

REPORT AUTHOR
Andrew Wood – Audit Manager
Andrew-wood@tamworth.gov.uk

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Annual Report (including Quarter 4 2021/22 Progress
Results)

Page 272

Appendix 1

Internal Audit Annual Report (including Quarter 4 2021/22
Progress Results)
May 2022
Page 273

Contents
01 Introduction
02 Internal Audit Work Undertaken
03 Opinion
04 Follow Up
05 Performance of Internal Audit

Page 274

Appendices
01 Summary of Internal Audit Work Undertaken in 2021/22
02 Assurance and Recommendation Classifications

In the event of any questions arising from this report please contact Andrew Wood, Audit Manager andrew-wood@tamworth.gov.uk

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during our internal audit work. Whilst every care has been
taken to ensure that the information provided in this report is as accurate as possible, Internal Audit have only been able to base
findings on the information and documentation provided and consequently no complete guarantee can be given that this report is
necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist, or of all the improvements that may be required. This report
was produced solely for the use and benefit of Tamworth Borough Council. The Council accepts no responsibility and disclaims all
liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason whatsoever on the report, its contents, conclusions, any extract,
reinterpretation, amendment and/or modification.

01 INTRODUCTION
BACKGROUND
This report comprises Internal Audit’s Annual Report, including
results for quarter 4 to 31 March 2022.
SCOPE AND PURPOSE OF INTERNAL AUDIT
The Accounts and Audit Regulations require councils to undertake
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of their risk
management, control and governance processes, taking into
account Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards or guidance.
This opinion forms part of the framework of assurances that is
received by the council and should be used to help inform the
annual governance statement. Internal Audit also has an
independent and objective consultancy role to help managers
improve risk management, governance and control.

Climate Change has been programmed within the Audit Plan for
2022/2023. Recovery & Reset audit will be completed in early
2022/2023.
The audit findings of each review, together with recommendations
for action and the management response are set out in our detailed
reports. A summary of the reports we have issued during the year is
included at Appendix 01. Progress against the plan and
performance against internal performance measures is at section
05.
During 2021/22 we have completed 80% of the Audit Plan against a
target of 90%. This was due to issues previously reported to the
committee in relation to the procurement of IT and general auditor
services, with these being delivered from mid September.
3 further targets were also not achieved due to the current agile
working arrangements and affects of the pandemic on staff
availability.

Page 275

Internal Audit’s professional responsibilities as auditors are set out
within Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) produced by
the Internal Audit Standards Advisory Board.

03 OPINION

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In giving the annual audit opinion 2021/22, it should be noted that
assurance can never be absolute. The most that the internal audit
service can provide to the Council is a reasonable assurance that
there are no major weaknesses in risk management, governance
and control processes.

Internal audit is grateful to the directors, heads of service, service
managers and other staff throughout the council for their help
during the period.
02 INTERNAL AUDIT WORK UNDERTAKEN
The internal audit plan for 2021/22 was approved by the Audit &
Governance Committee at its meeting in March 2021. The plan was
for a total of 17 audits.
Two audits (Climate Change/Recovery & Reset) were removed
from the plan during the year. This was due to the ongoing
progress being made by the Council in this area. The audit of

SCOPE OF THE OPINION

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our
attention during our internal audit work and are not necessarily a
comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist, or of all
the improvements that may be required.
In arriving at an opinion, the following matters have been taken into
account:

•
•
•
•
•

The outcomes of all audit activity undertaken during the
period.
The effects of any material changes in the organisation’s
objectives or activities.
Whether or not any limitations have been placed on the
scope of internal audit.
Whether there have been any resource constraints imposed
upon us which may have impinged on our ability to meet the
full internal audit needs of the organisation.
What proportion of the organisation’s internal audit needs
have been covered to date.

INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION

On theIssues
basis of audit work completed, the Audit
Specific

Page 276

Manager’s opinion on the council’s framework of
Nogovernance,
specific issues
been highlighted
through
the work
riskhave
management
and internal
control
is
undertaken by Internal Audit during the second quarter of
reasonable in its overall design and effectiveness. Certain
2019/20.
weaknesses and exceptions were highlighted by audit
These
04work.
Follow
Up matters have been discussed with
management, to whom recommendations have been
made. All of these have been, or are in the process of
being addressed.

Specific Issues
No specific issues have been highlighted through the work
undertaken by internal audit during the period.
Fraud & Irregularity
No matters of fraud or irregularity have been reported during the
period.

Consultancy & Advice
The audit team may be requested by managers to undertake
consultancy and advice on governance, risk management and
internal control matters from time to time. No major pieces of
consultancy work were undertaken during the year.

04 Follow Up
As previously agreed by the Committee for 2021/2022, all high
priority actions and those arising from no and limited overall
assurance reports are followed up by audit, managers confirmation
applies to the rest.
The total outstanding actions at the end of quarter four are 93 (24
high, 51 medium, 18 low). During Quarter 4 the Audit Manager held
meetings with all Assistant Directors to review all outstanding
recommendations as at 31 March 2022.
Priority
of Recs

Number
of O/S
recs – 31
December
2021

High
Medium
Low

25
46
8

Number
of recs
closed
during
the
period
Q3 to Q4
5
5
2

Number
of
additional
recs
made
during Q4
4
10
12

Number
of
current
O/S recs
as at 31
March
2022
24
51
18

Overall
movement
of rec
numbers
between
Q2 and
Q3
-1
+5
+10

As at 31 March 2022 there were 24 high priority recommendations
however of these 16 were overdue and these were all followed up
by Audit as part of the Quarter 1 review with Assistant Directors.
During this review it was identified that a number of these
recommendations had been completed and closed off with the

remaining recommendations reviewed. The current high priority
recommendations which are overdue relate Property Compliance
(1), Housing Repairs (1) and PCI DSS (1). The remaining
recommendations have been confirmed by audit to be in progress
and management are working towards completion.

Of those audits which received a no or limited assurance opinion
which require follow up, a summary of progress to date is given at
Appendix 01.

Outstanding Audit
Recommendations

Audit & Governance Committee asked for further detail relating to
currently overdue audit recommendations and this is provided
below, taking into account the comments and observations received
by audit during our management discussions;

130
116

Property Compliance - A DFA Policy should be introduced to
ensure that there is consistency across all DFA awards. This
recommendation was scheduled for completion by 31 March 2022.
As required by the agreed recommendation, the policy has been
included within the new Council Housing Repairs Policy which has
concluded its consultation period. Publication is expected to be
complete by 30 June 2022.

Page 277

Housing Repairs – The Housing Repairs Policy is reviewed and
updated. This was scheduled for completion by 30 April 2022. As
required by the agreed recommendation, the policy has been
included within the new Council Housing Repairs Policy which has
concluded its consultation period. Publication is expected to be
complete by 30 June 2022.
PCI DSS – repairs required to 2 Chip & PIN machines held at
Tourist Information. This recommendation was scheduled for
completion by 28 February 2022 and was reported as completed
May 2022.
The reviews being undertaken have closed off a number of
recommendations and this is reflected in the current number of
outstanding recommendations. Where high priority
recommendations were closed evidence was obtained from
management to confirm implementation. It should be noted that
due to ongoing audits the numbers of outstanding audit
recommendations varies over time.

93
75

79

06 PERFORMANCE OF INTERNAL AUDIT

Compliance with professional
standards

Conflicts of interest
There have been no instances during the year
which have impacted on internal audit’s
independence that have led to any declarations
of interest.

We employ a risk-based approach in
planning and conducting our audit
assignments. Internal audit work has been
performed in accordance with PSIAS.

Page 278

Performance of
Internal Audit
Internal audit quality
assurance
To ensure the quality of the work
internal audit performs, there is a
programme of quality measures
which includes:
• Supervision of staff
conducting audit work.
• Review of files of working
papers and reports by
managers.
• Regular meetings of our
networking groups, which
issue technical and sector
updates.

Performance Measures
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Complete 90% of the audit plan - 80%
100% Draft reports issued within 6 weeks of
start date - 74%
100% Closure meetings conducted within 5
days of completion of audit work – 100%
100% draft reports to be issued within 10
working days of closure meeting – 75%
100% of all high priority actions are
implemented at follow up – 83%
All no and limited assurance reports have a
revised assurance rating of substantial or
reasonable on follow up – 100%
Achieve an average customer satisfaction
score of 4 or more – 4.75
Added value – Annual measure

Appendix 01: Summary of Internal Audit Work Undertaken

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Core
Financial
Systems

Assets and
Inventory

Risk based review covering the
adequacy and effectiveness of
controls regarding the Council’s
assets and inventory.
Risk based review of NNDR
including assurance over the
adequacy of controls around the
maintenance of systems recording
taxable properties and liable
persons, billing, discounts and
reliefs, collection, refunds and write
offs.

NNDR

Planned
Quarter
Q4

Q2-Q4

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

Draft report issued to management for comment.

Page 279

Controls were in place to mitigate against key risks. The
Academy System maintains a record for each account
of the total amount of income due to be received based
on the rateable value of the property and any
discounts/exemption if applicable. In addition it
maintains a record of all transactions relating to bills
issued, refunds made and income received, including if
any reminder letters have been sent or summons
issued.
Sample
testing
relating
to
discounts/exemptions, refunds and arrears was
conducted. In all cases appropriate documentation had
been maintained to support the transactions and, where
appropriate, action relating to arrears had occurred.
A reconciliation of daily NDR income received is
conducted between the Academy System and the Aims
System. A sample of 10 daily reconciliations were
reviewed. In all cases any discrepancy had been
investigated and the reason for the discrepancy noted.
In addition a monthly reconciliation of NDR Income
received is carried out between the Academy system
and the General Ledger. Four reconciliations were
reviewed and in all cases no differences had been noted
and all the reconciliations had been appropriately
completed and authorised.
In addition, reconciliations of the total Rateable Value
are carried out between the Academy system and
Valuation Office listings and reconciliation details are
appropriately maintained. For a sample of 5 VO lists
there were no discrepancies identified. A secondary
check had also been conducted for all cases where
there had been a change in the Rateable Value
compared to the previous list.

Substantial
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

As per the previous audit report five recommendations
had been made, out of which two were not agreed. For
the three that had been agreed, it was confirmed that
two had been actioned. However, one relating to
periodic reviews of discounts applied had not been
actioned and therefore the recommendation has been
reiterated.

Procurement

Page 280

Creditors

Risk based review of strategic
procurement including policy and
procedural review (including
changes arising from Exit from the
European Union), planning, high
level spend and compliance with
contract rules, contract
management.
Standard risk based review of
creditors, including controls
surrounding supplier set up,
ordering, goods receipting, payment
systems

Q3

Q2

It was also noted that no current year write offs had
been processed and an appropriate recommendation
has been made.
Draft report completed and currently in for
management review and comment.

The creditors system is designed with controls in place
to mitigate against the major risks. The Council’s
Financial Guidance provides a framework for
procurement activity and the Accountancy service
have internal policies and procedures in place, as an
example, for setting up new suppliers, invoice
matching routing and invoice payment runs. There is
clear segregation of duties through the ordering and
payment processes to mitigate against the risk of fraud
/ error.
Controls were found to be operating effectively. Audit
trails were retained for weekly payment runs, with
payments over £30,000 highlighted for Director of
Finance approval. Orders were raised and
independently approved. New suppliers were set up on
completion of a supplier request form. Credit card
usage forms were completed for all transactions
tested. The invoice register, which includes invoices

Reasonable
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

received that are on hold or haven’t been paid, is
available on E-financials and the register was issued to
all managers in December 2021, together with
information on unmatched/ unapproved orders. Spend
over £500 is published in accordance with the Local
Government Transparency code.

Strategic &
Operational
Risks

Pandemic Risks

Page 281

‘Flash’ audits of dynamic risks
arising from the Council’s pandemic
response. To include, for example,
thematic reviews over continuity and
recovery arrangements, business
grants, productivity and
performance.

Q1-Q4

Some minor weaknesses in the operation of controls
were identified which need to be addressed, payment
information for suppliers. A review of creditor related
guidance notes held on the intranet and providing
payment guidance for suppliers. Appropriate approval
of credit card transactions and reporting of payment
Performance Indicators.
Governance
Control measures to mitigate against the risk of
potential governance failings arising from the Covid-19
crisis a year on from the start of the pandemic, were
found to be adequate and effective. A number of good
practice areas were noted:
•

•
•

•

The system implemented by the Authority for
remote governance was in accordance with
the Local Authorities and Police and crime
Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local
authority and Police and Crime Panel
Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations
2020.
Remote meetings were set up quickly and
effectively using Microsoft Teams Live.
Internal and external training was provided to
staff and members providing an understanding
of the system e.g. logging on, microphones
etc. as well as etiquette during live meetings.
The first live remote meeting took place on 9th
June 2020 (Planning Committee).
Urgent decision arrangements are in place
managed in line with the Constitution with
further information provided on the Authorities

Substantial
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

•

•

•

Page 282

•

website. There have been no urgent decisions
between 1 April 2020 and 28 April 2021.
‘Remote Meetings Best Practice Procedures’
were created setting out meeting procedures
(before and during), exclusion of public and
press, technical failures, etc. Additionally,
reminder guidance is sent out to all Councillors
prior to a meeting.
From the 7th May 2021 traditional face to face
meetings will resume. This has been reflected
in the work currently been undertaken by
Health & Safety to ensure updated
Government guidance is being met. E.g. Risk
Assessments for all venues including space
requirements, desk layout, plastic screens etc.
The Authorities website makes reference to
‘provisional’ meetings earmarked after 7th May
with proposed venues e.g. Tamworth
Assembly Rooms and Council Chambers.
Hybrid meetings (live streaming of face to face
meetings) are not yet set up but members of
the public will be able to attend in person.
The Communications Team is on ‘stand by’ to
release a statement on the Authorities Website
and to Local Press once all details have been
confirmed. Guidance notes are also being
prepared for Councillors and Officers for the
new arrangements.

With the continuation of Council meetings occurring
albeit in a pre-Covid format the following areas are
suggested as a forward focus:
•

•

Covid specific risk assessments should be
regularly reviewed and amended where new
hazards are identified to ensure they are in line
with Government Legislation.
As the Government is encouraging local
authorities to provide remote access to the
public until 21st June 2021, further

Assurance
Opinion

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

investigation into the technology required to
implement Hybrid Meetings will help reduce
numbers attending meetings and ensure
members and the public’s safety.
Productivity

Page 283

Control measures to mitigate against the risk of
productivity being adversely impacted by the Covid-19
crisis were found to be adequate and effective. A
number of good practice areas were noted:
• Staff within Customer Services, Revenues and
Housing adapted to remote working, with
productivity being managed via 1-2-1’s and
weekly Teams meetings. Areas are informed
of changes and staff encouraged to develop
new ways of delivering their service. The
website and phone messages have been
updated, to provide customers with current
information.
• Performance monitoring has continued with
monthly meetings held between management
and higher management to discuss ‘Monthly
Performance Updates’. The introduction of
new work streams such as grant / support
payments, meant the Revenues Team were
tasked with additional pressures to ensure
businesses and the general public were
supported quickly. Covid-19 grant schemes
have been and continue to be administered
effectively. KPI’s are being monitored closely
and data will help determine the direction of
travel once the restrictions of the pandemic are
lifted.
• Where required, processes were amended i.e.
daily lists for sheltered accommodation to
ensure they were in line with Government
guidelines as well as setting up a ‘Tenant
Working Group’, which provided additional

Substantial
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

•

•

Page 284
•

support whilst Tenant Regulations were placed
on hold.
An ‘Activity App’ has been rolled out in
Customer Services which provides ‘real-time’
statistics and makes call handling simpler.
Additionally, the implementation of a ‘SelfService Portal’ is nearing completion, giving
customers the opportunity to access
information independently i.e. council tax
balances etc. with the aim to reduce telephone
traffic.
A suite of KPI’s for each service area is
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis by
managers and assistant directors. During the
peak of the first lockdown some KPI’s for
Revenues fell below target due to national
government restrictions. Recovery action was
placed on hold from March 20 resuming in
August 20 and despite the initial backlog,
target values are returning back to normal.
KPI’s for Customer Services and Housing
show no concern even though there has been
an increase in the demand for webchats,
emails and telephone calls.
As part of the Authorities ‘Reset and Recovery’
arrangements, service areas have
demonstrated the ability to deliver services
remotely and continue to adapt and monitor
their processes and procedures.

As the Covid Pandemic is still continuing, a forward
focus is suggested on lessons learned to ensure
service delivery is maintained with KPI’s continuing to
be reviewed. Additionally, 1-2-1’s and weekly Teams
meetings will ensure productivity is maintained and
staff have a good level of preparedness for additional
pressures following the Governments ‘Road Map out of
Lockdown’. Service delivery will be discussed at
Cabinet in July to ascertain the direction of travel.

Assurance
Opinion

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Recovery and
Reset

Programme assurance based review
of Recovery and Reset programme.
Programme assurance includes
programme planning, governance
structure and controls, delivery,
change management, RAIDD
management (Risk, Action, Issue,
Decision, Dependency), testing and
reporting.
Programme assurance review (as
recovery and rest above) of
progression towards transformation
of the town centre following the
£21.65m allocation of Future High
Street Funding.

Future High
Street

Planned
Quarter
Q4

Q4

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

Work ongoing to report during 2022/2023.

There are robust arrangements in place for the
governance, management and delivery of Future High
Street Fund and related projects.
There are robust contract management processes in
place and these included the maintenance of contract
registers and a formalised procurement process. This
was supported by management authorisation of
contracts.

Page 285

Conflicts of interest are also effectively managed
through the use of current council processes for
member and officer declarations of interest.
Business cases were fully developed and approved by
management. These were formally approved by
Council and kept under review through the Scrutiny
Committee processes. Funding agreements have
been retained and appropriate sign off carried out in
accordance with DLUHC requirements. The
respective grant offer letters have been fully retained.
There are fully developed terms of reference in place
which have been approved by scrutiny committee and
these are supported by quarterly reporting
arrangements. Financial oversight is maintained by
Accountancy and there are fully developed
management accountant processes in place.

Substantial
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Preparedness
for regulatory
compliance
arising from
Housing White
Paper

Scope

Risk based review of organisation
preparedness for new regulatory
inspection regime.

Planned
Quarter

Q4

Assurance Summary
Risk registers have been developed and are reviewed
on a regular basis by management. This is further
supported by reporting to scrutiny committee. In
addition, Audit & Governance Committee have set up a
specific sub-committee to review the FHSF risk
registers on a quarterly basis. Management oversight
of risks is carried out on a monthly basis and reported
to both Programme and Delivery Board meetings.
While the Council at this stage cannot demonstrate that
it meets the requirements of the White Paper,
assurance can be given that the design of controls is
adequate and demonstrates that preparations have
commenced to ensure that the requirements of the
paper will be considered, evaluated, monitored and
actioned.

Page 286

There is an awareness of the White Paper and revision
to the new regulatory inspection regime Council wide.
Presentations have been made to Cabinet, the
Corporate Management Team (CMT), the Housing and
Homeless Committee and the Tenant Consultative
Group.
A consultant has been appointed to oversee the
project with the aid of the Assistant Director of
Neighbourhoods and the Housing Manager.
External Consultants were invited to tender to
complete the self-assessment work. A budget of £20k
to fund the independent self-assessment and action
plan has been approved by Cabinet. Tender returns
are currently being evaluated. A high level project plan
is in place which includes key dates and leads for
determined outcomes such as commissioning of a
contractor, final report of self-assessment etc. This will
be detailed further to provide an end of project key
date once the self-assessment and action plan have
been completed by the appointed consultant. The
target date for the draft report being presented to
Cabinet along with the self-assessment and
improvement action plan is June 2022.

Assurance
Opinion

Substantial
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

The White Paper implementation will be a Corporate
Project and will be undertaken as a One Council
Approach, required teams will be identified. A project
initiation document will be developed and progress will
be monitored by the Project Board through monthly
meetings where a highlight report will be circulated.
Recipients of the progress report will also include the
CMT, the Housing and Homelessness Committee and
the Tenants Consultative Group.

Page 287

Climate Change

Partnerships

Risk based review looking at the
Council’s preparation to decarbonisation / climate change
agenda.
Risk based review of the Council’s
controls around strategic
partnerships.

Q4

Q2

At this stage in the project, there are no weaknesses
identified in the operation of the controls that need to
be addressed. The Council should continue to produce
a gap analysis and action plan. Actions should be
monitored against key timescales and addressed to
ensure the White Paper requirements are
implemented. This should be the forward focus during
2022/23. A further audit will be undertaken during
2022/23 to assess the progress of the preparations
and project plan.
Deferred to 2022/2023.

The system has some good controls in place to
mitigate against key risks. There is a Partnership
Coordination Group which is the accountable body for
the delivery of all key partnership plans, all responsible
bodies attend. For the partnerships reviewed as part of
the audit, Terms of Reference were in place, which
documented the roles and responsibilities of the
partners and the aims, objectives and purpose of the
partnerships. Regular meetings are held and adequate
records retained. The work of the partnerships is
reported to other groups/organisations for oversight.
The weaknesses found within the partnership system
include the lack of an up to date, central record of all
partnerships across the council and the partnership
policy being out of date.

Reasonable
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Shared Service

Risk based review of controls in
place for effective delivery of shared
services e.g. waste management,
CCTV, legal services, building
control, internal audit.

Planned
Quarter
Q2

Assurance Summary

Page 288

The system has some good controls in place to
mitigate against key risks.
The shared service system for both legal services and
joint waste is designed with controls in place to
mitigate the major risks and were found to be adequate
and effective.
Legal Services
A comprehensive formal agreement in place, which
sets out the scope of services, the cost and
contributions of each council, the Governance
Arrangements and the Terms of Reference of the
board. Board meetings are held regularly between the
3 members. Details of the service and instruction forms
are available to staff on the Infozone. Payments for the
services are in line with the agreement. A review of the
first year of the service has been completed and
reported to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee, areas
where changes are required have been identified.
Some weaknesses were noted in relation to the
counter signing of instruction forms and the
introduction of performance indicators to monitor the
timeliness of cases. Implementation of the
recommendations in the action plan will enhance
arrangements and address these risks.
Joint Waste Services
A Joint Waste Committee Constitution provides the
overarching agreement which sets out objectives, roles
and responsibilities, delegations and governance
arrangements for the joint waste service committee. A
business plan including actions, risks, staffing and
finances was produced in 2018/19. The Staffordshire
Waste Partnership (of which both Councils are part)
has a joint strategy covering all the districts, County
Council and Stoke.
LDC lead on the joint waste service however there are
relationships with staff at TBC including the Chief
Waste Office (Chief Executive), Accountants, PR
Officer and Customer Services.
The costs are proportioned by the number of
properties in each area. TBC pay LDC a quarterly

Assurance
Opinion

Reasonable
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Page 289
Assembly
Rooms

Risk based review looking at key
aspects of the Assembly Room’s
operations e.g. income, asset
management, marketing, stock and
inventory management,
procurement, security and agility of

Q4

Assurance Summary
charge for which an order is raised. Recycling credit
claims are claimed on behalf of TBC. A reconciliation
of income/ costs is completed at year end. Financial
information is provided and meetings are held between
the accountants at both authorities and budgets are
monitored and discussed with the General Manager
and the Chief Waste Officer.
Liaison is on-going between the Chief Waste Officer
and the General Manager and there is an awareness
of incidents in real time. Regular meetings are also
held with the Head of Service at Lichfield District
Council and for fundamental service changes, both
Councils are involved.
Feedback from users is received through both the Tell
Us scheme and direct to LDC. Complaints are
responded to by LDC however records are retained at
Tamworth recording the stage of complaint, the
complaint and response time. The Chief Waste Officer
will receive details of any complaints which require
escalation.
Some weaknesses were noted, although a Constitution
is in place the governance arrangements in terms of
the frequency of the joint waste service committee
meetings is not being followed. Additionally,
consideration should be given to publishing minutes of
these meetings on the Council’s website. It was also
noted that there is a reliance on one key officer at
TBC.
KPI’s, although calculated quarterly are not shared
widely within Tamworth Borough Council. A business
plan and rolling annual action plan has not been
produced since 2018/19 and there is no formal yearend review of performance against KPI’s, action status,
finances etc. Formal meetings are not minuted.
Ongoing work into 2022/23.

Assurance
Opinion

Assurance

Audit

Castle

Scope

operations on recovery. Audit carried
forward from 2020/21.
Risk based review looking at key
aspects of the Castle’s operations
e.g. income, asset management,
marketing, stock and inventory
management, procurement, security
and agility of operations on recovery.
Audit carried forward from 2020/21.

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Q3

The system has some good controls in place to
mitigate against key risks.
Income received through admissions is received
through the Gardiff till system. Testing noted that daily
cash up sheets were being completed and takings
agreed to the Z read. All cash up sheets had been
signed by two officers. Testing of banking confirmed
that the income collected had been received in the
bank and processed to the ledger. Income from room
hire could be agreed to booking forms and with the
exception of one booking, agreed to approved fees
and charges.

Page 290

A process is in place to receipt income received
through the on-line booking system (Spektrix) and
interface to the ledger.
Purchases are independently raised and are approved.
An update of the castle action plan noted that actions
are traffic light coded to monitor the progress of
implementation.
The weaknesses found within the castle processes
included the need for a full implementation of a stock
recording system, regular stock takes, a stock/income
reconciliation and enhanced security over the stock
currently held. In addition stock system procedure
notes are required once the stock system id fully
implemented.
Consideration should also be given to reviewing the
value of expenditure for key suppliers both
cumulatively and corporately to ensure best value is
achieved. Secondly management should consider
adopting a blanket ordering process with suppliers
where goods are required promptly.
Invoices should be raised more promptly.
Lastly The Castle action plan update December 2021
should be presented to Cabinet/ CMT to ensure

Assurance
Opinion

Reasonable
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Housing Repairs

Scope

Risk based review and follow up of
recommendations.

Planned
Quarter

Q3/Q4

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

transparency of the progress of delivery of the
approved actions.
The reactive repairs system is designed with controls
in place to mitigate the major risks and these were
extensively tested in February 2021 and reported to
management in May 2021 with an agreed action plan
highlighted in Appendix 2 of this report.
This report will review the processes in place and
those highlighted by both staff and management with
regards to the contract performance and the impact of
contractual monitoring.

Page 291

Jobs are recorded on both the Council’s Housing
Management System, Orchard and the contractors
system, Castleton. Post inspections are completed by
the Project Officers and payment on Orchard is
authorised by the Senior Project Officer. Currently the
system has invoice approvals automatically set for any
jobs to the value of £250 or above.
There are a number of areas for improvement
identified during the audit. These relate to the
following;
•
•
•
•
•

Incorrect SOR codes being used;
Errors being reported following post inspection
despite previous management intervention;
Rejected jobs;
Over claiming by the Engie; and
Overall management of the contract and
liaison with Engie.

Work has been completed to extrapolate between the
overall jobs allocated to Engie for the period 1st April to
31st October 2021 and then identify rejected claims
and estimate a potential liability if these claims had not
been rejected. This is information is detailed below in
the detailed findings.

Limited
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

As highlighted below the key risk evaluation remains
the same as during the previous audit. Management
processes in relation to procedural guidance and
repairs reporting is robust. There are however
concerns in relation to weaknesses around the
payments to the contractor and the levels of issues
arising from monitoring checks on the works
undertaken.
ICT

IT Back Up and
Recovery

Risk based review around new IT
system implementation and the failure
and/or unavailability of systems.

Q4

Corporate standards for the backup and recovery of
ICT systems and data are defined within a formal
backup policy and associated procedure document.
The two documents generally cover all relevant areas,
although we have suggested one improvement to the
procedure and the policy needs to be formally
approved following some recent changes.

Page 292

A new backup solution is being implemented and was
going through the final stages of setup and
configuration during the course of the audit. A number
of backup jobs are setup on the new solution and only
when a successful backup is taken of a server is it
removed from the old backup system. There are daily
backups of ICT systems and data, which was
confirmed by ensuring that a sample number of
servers were associated with a relevant backup job.
The frequency of backups is determined by the
criticality of the server and how often the data
changes. All backups are taken to digital media and
tapes are no longer used, which removes an element
of risk given they are inherently unreliable. The
successful completion of all backup jobs is monitored
on a daily basis and evidence of this is logged.
However, our testing identified that backup failures are
not always logged on the service desk for investigation
in accordance with the agreed procedure.
Backups are taken to a local appliance housed in the
server room and there is a daily replication to the cloud
for off-site and off-line storage. The cloud backup is in

Reasonable
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

accordance with the National Cyber Security Centre’s
recommendation for an “air-gap” between the
production and backup environments, to protect
against ransomware cyber-attacks. The 3-2-1 backup
rule is also followed to ensure there are resilient data
backups. The local appliance and cloud backups are
both encrypted to industry standards.

Page 293

Payment Card
Industry
Standard (PCI
DSS)

Risk based review of implementation
and ownership.

Q4

The Network Backup Policy states that a quarterly
recovery test should be performed. However, our
testing found that a recovery test was not performed in
the last quarter and a full annual recovery test has not
been performed for at least two years. Testing is
required to provide confirmation on the integrity and
reliability of backups, including the new cloud backups.
The council take card payments in a number of areas
and hence there is an obligation to comply with PCI
DSS requirements. Card payments are taken online
via the corporate website, over the telephone and in
person using Chip & Pin payment machines.
Our audit has identified a weak system of internal
control over PCI DSS and areas of non-compliance.
The council are currently paying a penalty charge of
£225 per month from the bank for being non-compliant
and this could increase should there be a data breach.
There is also the risk of reputational damage should
cardholder data be compromised.
There is no overall corporate lead for PCI compliance
and other roles and responsibilities are not formally
defined, leading to a piecemeal approach to
compliance activities. A PCI DSS Policy and
supporting procedure were drafted in 2019 but they
have never been finalised and agreed.
The scope of the PCI environment has not been
explicitly defined to ensure all relevant areas are
assessed for compliance. Staff who handle card
payments are not provided with any formal training on

Limited
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

their PCI responsibilities and a PCI Self-Assessment
Questionnaire (SAQ) is also not completed annually as
required under PCI DSS.

Disabled
Facilities Grant
Municipal
Charities
Counter Fraud

Page 294

Annual
Governance
Statement
Annual Audit
Opinion
Management
and Planning

Follow Up of
No and
Limited
Assurance
Opinion
Audits

Ad hoc /
Contingency /
Consultancy
Housing
Contracts

Property
Contracts - DFA

Assurance statements to Staffordshire
County Council / accounts preparation.

Q4

Q4

Copies of written agreements with third-party service
providers were not available to confirm that their
responsibilities for safeguarding cardholder data is
defined, and there are also no procedures in place to
check the PCI compliance status of third-parties on an
annual basis.
Assurance work completed during Q3 and assurance
statement signed off and submitted to Staffordshire
County Council
Ongoing work to be completed in 2022/2023

N/A
N/A

Work to support the mitigation of fraud
risk, the provision of fraud awareness
training, pro-active fraud exercises and
reactive investigations.
Production of the AGS.

Q1-Q4

Ongoing

N/A

Q1-Q2

Complete

N/A

Production of the Annual Audit Opinion

Q1-Q2

Complete

N/A

Management, planning and assurance
reporting to CMT and Audit &
Governance Committee
Contingency allocation to be utilised
upon agreement of the Chief Finance
Officer
Limited Assurance follow up.

Q1-Q4

Ongoing

N/A

Q1-Q4

Ongoing

N/A

Limited Assurance follow up.

Q1

Q1

Originally 8 recommendations were made, and agreed
to be implemented by management. The findings of
the follow up review show 7 of the recommendations
have been implemented and 1 has been superseded
by a recommendation made in the 20/21 audit review
of Planned Maintenance
Originally 11 recommendations were made, and
agreed to be implemented by management. The
findings of the follow up review show 3 of the

Reasonable
Assurance

Assurance

Audit

Scope

Planned
Quarter

Assurance Summary

Assurance
Opinion

recommendations have been implemented, 1 has not
been implemented and 7 are no longer applicable.

Reasonable
Assurance
Street Scene

Limited Assurance follow up.

Q3

Originally 8 recommendations were made, and agreed
to be implemented by management. The findings of
the follow up review show 7 recommendations have
been implemented and 1 is no longer applicable and
has been superseded due to system changes.

Reasonable
Assurance

Page 295

Appendix 02: Assurance and Recommendation Classifications

Page 296

Overall Assurance Opinion

Definition

Substantial

There is a sound system of internal control designed to achieve the organisation’s objectives. The control processes
tested are being consistently applied.

Reasonable

While there is a basically sound system of internal control, there are some weaknesses which may put the
organisation’s objectives in this area at risk. There is a low level of non-compliance with some of the control processes
applied.

Limited

Weaknesses in the system of internal controls are such as to put the organisation’s objectives in this area at risk.
There is a moderate level of non-compliance with some of the control processes applied.

No

Significant weakness in the design and application of controls mean that no assurance can be given that the
organisation will meet its objectives in this area.

Recommendation Priority

Definition

High

High priority recommendation representing a fundamental control weakness which exposes the organisation to a high
degree of unnecessary risk.

Medium

Medium priority recommendation representing a significant control weakness which exposes the organisation to a
moderate degree of unnecessary risk.

Low (Housekeeping)

Low priority (housekeeping) recommendation highlighted opportunities to implement a good or better practice, to add
value, improve efficiency of further reduce the organisation’s exposure to risk.

Agenda Item 14

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, 8 JUNE 2022

REPORT OF THE AUDIT MANAGER

PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS/QUALITY ASSURANCE AND
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME

EXEMPT INFORMATION
None.

PURPOSE
To report to the Audit & Governance Committee on Internal Audit’s compliance with the
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the Quality Assurance and Improvement
Programme (QAIP).

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee endorses:
1. Internal Audit’s compliance with the PSIAS (Appendix 1); and
2. the QAIP (Appendix 2).

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The PSIAS has been in place since April 2013. Internal Audit’s compliance with the PSIAS
is required under the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015. The PSIAS require that Internal
Audit comply with professional best practice and assess themselves against the
requirements on an annual basis and that an External Quality Assessment (EQA) should
be completed at least every 5 years.
An EQA was last completed in 2017 and was reported to this Committee. The next EQA is
scheduled to be completed during 2022/23. As part of this process, we will be required to
procure an external assessor, which will require the obtaining of quotes. Following this,
and appointment of the assessor, all relevant documents will be supplied and it is
envisaged that the assessor will complete an initial desk top exercise to assess our
compliance with PSIAS.
Following this review, the assessor may require conversations with Chair of Audit
Committee and senior management within the Council. At the conclusion of the review a
report will be produced and copies of which will be reported formally to this Committee with
any improvement plans/actions identified.

Page 297

The indicative timetable for this process is outlined below:
•
•
•
•

Invitation of external assessors to quote for the assessment work – summer 2022;
Appointment of Assessor – September 2022;
Assessment – October/November 2022; and
Report to Committee – January 2023.

An overview, carried out by Audit Manager, of compliance with the PSIAS is attached at
Appendix 1 which shows that Internal Audit operations have been self-assessed as being
compliant with this code. Confirmation has also been obtained on conformance against the
PSIAS from third parties who have delivered audit engagements on behalf of the Council.
Part of the requirement of the PSIAS is for the ‘Chief Audit Executive’ to develop a Quality
Assurance & Improvement Plan. Under the QAIP, quality should be assessed at both an
individual audit engagement level as well as a broader operational level. A well-developed
QAIP will ensure that quality is built in to, rather than on to, the way Internal Audit operates.
The QAIP should conclude on the quality of the Internal Audit activity and lead to
recommendations for appropriate improvements. It is an evaluation of:
• conformance with Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the
Standards;
• the adequacy of the Internal Audit activity’s charter, goals, objectives, policies
and procedures;
• the contribution to the organisation’s governance, risk management and control
processes;
• completeness of coverage of the entire audit universe;
• compliance with applicable laws, regulations and government or industry
standards to which the Internal Audit activity may be subject;
• the risks affecting the operation of the Internal Audit activity itself;
• the effectiveness of continuous improvement activities and adoption of best
practices; and
• whether the Internal Audit activity adds value, improves the organisation’s
operations, and contributes to the attainment of objectives.
Attached as Appendix 2 is the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP).
No actions have been carried forward from last year’s QAIP and no furtheractions have
been identified this year.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None.

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND
Non-compliance with the PSIAS means that an effective system of Internal Audit is not in
place and therefore we are not fully complying with the Accounts and Audit (England)
Regulations 2015.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATION
None.

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (INCLUDING CLIMATE
CHANGE)

Page 298

None.
BACKGROUND INFORMATION
None.

REPORT AUTHOR
Andrew Wood – Audit Manager
Andrew-wood@tamworth.gov.uk

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Public Internal Audit Standards Compliance Overview
Appendix 2: Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme

Page 299

This page is intentionally left blank

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards Compliance Overview

Mission Statement, Definition of Internal Auditing and Code of Ethics

Mission Statement & Definition of Internal Auditing
Integrity
Objectivity
Confidentiality

Page 301

Competency

Performance Standards

1000 - 1322 Attribute Standards

1000 - 1110 Purpose, Authority and responsibility

Purpose, Authority, and Responsibility
Recognising Mandatory Guidance in the Internal Audit Charter

1

1110 - 1130 Independence and Objectivity

Organisational Independence
Independence and Objectivity
Direct Interaction with the Board
Chief Audit Executive Roles Beyond Internal Auditing
Individual Objectivity
Impairment to Independence or Objectivity

Page 302

1210 - 1230 Proficiency and Due Professional Care

Proficiency
Due Professional Care
Continuing Professional Development

1300 - 1322 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP)

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP)
Requirements of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme
Internal Assessments

2

External Assessments
Reporting on the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme
Use of Conforms with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing
Disclosure of Non-conformance

2000 - 2600 Performance Standards

2000 - 2060 Managing the Internal Audit Activity

Page 303

Managing the Internal Audit Activity
Planning
Communication and Approval
Resource Management
Policies and Procedures
Coordination
Reporting to Senior Management and the Board

2070 External Service Provider and Organisational Responsibility for Internal Audit

External Service Provider and Organisational Responsibility for Internal Audit

3

2100 - 2130 Nature of Work

Nature of Work
Governance
Risk Management
Control

2200 - 2240 Engagement Planning

Page 304

Engagement Planning
Planning Considerations
Engagement Objectives
Engagement Scope
Engagement Resource Allocation
Engagement Work Programme

2300 - 2340 Performing the Engagement

Performing the Engagement
Identifying Information

4

Analysis and Evaluation
Documenting Information
Engagement Supervision

2400 - 2440 Communicating Results

Communicating the Results
Criteria for Communicating
Qualities of Communications

Page 305

Errors and Omissions
Use of "Conducted in Conformance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing"
Engagement Disclosure of Non-conformance
Disseminating Results

2450 Overall Opinions

Overall Opinions

2500 Monitoirng Progress

5

Monitoring Progress

2600 Communicating the Acceptance of Risks

Commuinicating the Acceptance of Risks

Page 306
6

Appendix 2

Internal Audit
Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
1

Introduction
Internal Audit’s Quality Assurance Improvement Programme (QAIP) is designed to provide
reasonable assurance to the various stakeholders (the Board, Senior Management, the
External Auditor and Operational Managers etc) that Internal Audit:
•

conforms with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the
Standards;

•

has an adequate Internal Audit Activity’s Charter, Goals, Objectives, Policies and
Procedures;

•

contributes to the organisations governance, risk management and control
processes;

•

has complete coverage of the audit universe;

•

complies with applicable laws, regulations and other standards that the internal
audit activity may be subject to;

•

has identified the risks affecting the operation of the internal audit activity itself;

•

has an effective continuous improvement activity in place and adopts best practice;
and

•

adds value to improve the organisations operations and contributes the attainment
of the organisations objectives.

The Chief Audit Executive (CAE), who at the Council is the Audit Manager, is ultimately
responsible for the QAIP, which covers all types of Internal Audit activities, including
consultancy and those engagements delivered by a third party. The QAIP must include
both internal and external assessments. Internal assessments are both ongoing and
periodical and external assessments must be undertaken at least once every five years.
The QAIP is reviewed on an annual basis.
2

Internal Assessments
Internal Assessments are made up of both ongoing reviews and periodic reviews.
Ongoing reviews
Ongoing reviews provide assurance that the processes in place are working effectively to
ensure that quality is delivered on an audit by audit basis. This includes continuous
monitoring of:
▪

Engagement planning and supervision (preapproval of the audit scope, innovative
best practices, budgeted hours, and assigned staff).

▪

Standard working practices (including working paper procedures, sign off, report
review, checklists to ensure that the audit process has been followed).

▪

Feedback from other clients and stakeholders.

▪

Analysing performance metrics to measure audit plan completion and stakeholder
value.

Periodic reviews
Periodic assessments are designed to assess conformance with Internal Audit’s Charter,
the Standards, Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, the quality of the audit
work and supervision, policies and procedures supporting the internal audit activity, the
added value to the organisation and the achievement of performance standards.

Page 307

Periodic assessments will be conducted through:
▪

Working paper reviews for conformance to the definition of Internal Auditing, the
Code of Ethics, the Standards, and internal audit policies and procedures

▪

Self-assessment of the internal audit activity with objectives established as part of
the QAIP components – Governance, Professional Practice and Communication

▪

Review of internal audit performance measure and benchmarking of best
practices. Periodic activity and performance reporting to the board and other
stakeholders as deemed necessary.

▪

Annual self-review of conformance to the PSIAS.

The periodic self assessment should identify the quality of ongoing performance and
opportunities for improvement and to check and validate the objectives and criteria used in
the QAIP. The self assessment will be completed on an annual basis and the results
reported to the Board and Senior Management.
3

External Assessment
The External Assessment will consist of a broad scope of coverage that includes the
following .
▪

Conformance with the Standards, Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of
Ethics, and internal audit’s Charter, plans, policies, procedures, practices, and any
applicable legislative and regulatory requirements.

▪

Expectations of Internal Audit as expressed by the Board and Senior Management.

▪

Integration of the Internal Audit activity into the governance process.

▪

The mix of staff knowledge, experiences, and disciplines, including use of tools
and techniques, and process improvements.

▪

A determination whether Internal Audit adds value and improves the Council’s
operations.

An external assessment will be conducted every five years by a qualified, independent
assessor from outside the Council. The assessment will be in the form of a full external
assessment, or a self-assessment with independent external validation. The format of the
external assessment will be agreed with the Board.
4

Assessment scale
The scale to assess the level of conformance of the Internal Audit activity with the
standards is as follows:
Generally Conforms/Partially Conforms/Does Not Conform
(IIA Quality Assessment Manual Scale)

5

Reporting on the Quality Programme
Internal Assessments – reported to the Board and Senior Management on an annual
basis. The internal assessment report will be accompanied by a written action plan in
response to significant findings and recommendation contained in the report.
External Assessments – reported to the Board and Senior Management. The external
assessment report will be accompanied by a written action plan in response to significant
findings and recommendations contained in the report.
Follow up – The CAE will implement appropriate follow up actions to ensure that
recommendations made in the reports and action plans developed are implemented in a
reasonable timeframe.

Page 308

Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
Ongoing Monitoring of Performance
Activity

Frequency

Responsibility

Reporting

Review of the audit
universe to ensure
complete

Annual

Audit Manager

N/A

Identification of risks
affecting the operation
of the Internal Audit
Service

Quarterly

Audit Manager

N/A

Review of audit
engagements

Each engagement

Audit Manager /
Where audit
engagements are
delivered by a third
party, their Quality
Review processes will
be used, with all final
reports requiring CAE
sign off.

N/A

Progress against the
audit plan

Quarterly

Audit Manager

Quarterly report to
Audit & Governance
Committee

Progress against Key
Performance
Indicators

Quarterly

Audit Manager

Quarterly report to
Audit & Governance
Committee

Discuss performance
of internal audit
activity

Monthly

Audit Manager and
Chief Executive

Annual report to Audit
& Governance
Committee

Customer
survey/questionnaire

For each engagement

Audit Manager

Annual report to Audit
& Governance
Committee

Review of Internal
Audit Charter, goals,
policies & procedures

Annual

Audit Manager

Annual report to Audit
& Governance
Committee

Personal
Development Review

Annual

Appropriate line
manager

Documentation to HR

Continuous
improvement activity
and adoption of best
practice

Continuous

Audit Manager

Annual report to the
Audit & Governance
Committee

Page 309

Identification of added
value to the authority’s
operations

Continuous

Audit Manager

Annual report to the
Audit & Governance
Committee

Periodic Self Assessments
Self assessment
against the Public
Sector Internal Audit
Standards (PSIAS)

Annual

Audit Manager

Annual report to the
Audit & Governance
Committee

Compliance with
applicable laws,
regulations and other
standards that the
Internal Audit activity
may be subject to

Continuous review

Audit Manager

Report to Audit &
Governance
Committee when
applicable

Benchmarking review
of Internal Audit
Services

When practical

Audit Manager

Report to Audit &
Governance
Committee

Every 5 years

Audit Manager and
external reviewer

Report to the Audit &
Governance
Committee

External Assessments
Assessment against
the PSIAS

Page 310

PLANNED REPORTS TO AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2022-2023

Report

Committee Date

Report Of

Role of the Audit Committee

June

Grant Thornton

2

Audit Plan

June

Grant Thornton

3

Fee Increase Letter

June

Grant Thornton

4

Review of the Treasury Management
Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue
Provision Policy Statement and Annual
Investment Statement and the Treasury
Management Strategy Statement and
Annual Investment Strategy Mid-Year
Review Report

Page 311

1

Comments
Presentation/training

Executive Director
Finance
June

RIPA Annual Report & Review of the
RIPA Policy

June

Assistant Director Partnerships

6

Internal Audit Annual Report and
Quarterly Update

June

Audit Manager

7

Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards/Quality Assurance and
Improvement Programme

June

Audit Manager

Agenda Item 16

5

Report

Committee Date

Report Of

8

Annual Governance Statement and Code
of Corporate Governance

June

9

Risk Management Quarterly Update

June

Assistant Director –
Finance

10

Councillor Code of Conduct – following
finalisation of LGA new Model Code

June

Monitoring Officer

Page 312

June

Verbal update in June

11

Independent Member update

1

Risk Management Quarterly Update

August

Assistant Director –
Finance

2

Internal Audit Quarterly Update

August

Audit Manager

3

Review of the Constitution and Scheme of
Delegation for Officers

August /
September (tbc)

Monitoring Officer

Private meeting of Internal and External
Auditors and Committee members

August

Audit Findings

September

1

Comments

Audit Manager

Grant Thornton

Moved from June meeting

Report

Committee Date

Report Of

Management Representation Letter

September

Grant Thornton

3

Annual Statement of Accounts

September

Executive Director
Finance

4

Annual Treasury Outturn

September

Executive Director
Finance

5

Review of Financial Guidance

September

Assistant Director
Finance

6

Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual
Review and Report 2021/22

7

Page 313

2

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement

September

September

Comments

Moved from June meeting

Assistant Director –
People
Assistant Director –
Partnerships

October
1

Internal Audit Quarterly Update

2

Risk Management Quarterly Update

3

Counter Fraud Update

Audit Manager
October

Assistant Director –
Finance

October
Audit Manager
October
Private meeting of Internal and External
Auditors and Committee members

Annual report in October

Report

Committee Date

Report Of

1

Auditor’s Annual Report

February

Grant Thornton

2

Audit & Governance Committee update

February

Grant Thornton

3

Fee Increase Letter

February
February

Grant Thornton

4

Internal Audit Quarterly Update

6

Page 314

5

Audit Manager
February

Risk Management Quarterly Update

Assistant Director –
Finance

February
Audit Committee Effectiveness

Audit Manager

1

Audit and Governance Committee update

March
March

Grant Thornton

2

Audit Plan

3

Informing the Audit Risk Assessment

Grant Thornton

4

Review of the Treasury Management
Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue
Provision Policy Statement and Annual

Executive Director
Finance

Grant Thornton
March

March

Comments

Committee Date

5

Final Accounts – Accounting Policies and
Action Plan

March

Assistant Director of
Finance

6

Internal Audit Charter and Audit Plan

March

Audit Manager

7

Councillor Code of Conduct – following
finalisation of LGA new Model Code

March

Monitoring Officer

Review of the Constitution and Scheme of
Delegation for Officers

March

Monitoring Officer

Review of Financial Guidance

March

Assistant Director
Finance

Annual Report of the Chair of A&G

March

Audit Manager /
Chair

Private meeting of Internal and External
Auditors and Committee members

March

8

9

Page 315

Report
Investment Statement and the Treasury
Management Strategy Statement and
Annual Investment Strategy Mid-Year
Review Report

10

The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Risk and Customer Services

Report Of

Comments

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 18

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 317

This page is intentionally left blank

